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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
"STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks
of investing in such companies and should make
the decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally
small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to
high market volatility than securities traded on the Main
Board and no assurance is given that there will be a
liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness
and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss
howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any
part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of
Sino-Life Group Limited (the “Company”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given
in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for
the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company.

The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm
that, to the best of their knowledge and belief the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material
respects and not misleading, and there are no other matters
the omission of which would make any statement herein or in
this report misleading.
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Chairman’s Statement

During the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Year”), the
world economy has experienced a slowdown, with complex
and evolving international landscape, frequent geopolitical
conflicts, and increased complexity, severity and uncertainty
of the external environment. China faced problems such as
insufficient effective demand, overcapacity in certain industries,
weak social expectations, and high risks and hidden dangers.
The Chinese government insisted on seeking progress while
maintaining stability, strengthened the adjustment of macro
policies and balanced effective improvement in quality with
reasonable growth in quantity to push the economy to gain
continuous advantages in structural adjustment, transformation
and upgrading, promote high-quality and sustainable economic
development, and maintain stable development of overall
economic and social situation. The Chinese economy has
withstood external pressure and overcome internal difficulties.
In 2023, China's Gross Domestics Product (“GDP") reached
Renminbi (“"RMB") 126.06 trillion, representing a year-on-year
increase of 5.2% at constant prices.

Sino-Life Group Limited (the “Company”), and its subsidiaries
(together, the “Group”) have formed a business pattern
focusing on traditional funeral services and emerging
biotechnology. At present, the traditional funeral services
business accounts for a large proportion of the Group's
business. The Group’s overall operating results declined due
to a slight decrease in revenue from funeral services in China
during the Year. The revenue for the Year was approximately
RMB72,570,000, as compared with approximately
RMB77,969,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the
“Prior Year"), representing a year-on-year decrease of 6.9%.

During the Year, revenue from the People’s Republic of
China (the "PRC") and Taiwan market were approximately
RMB65,838,000 (the Prior Year: RMB74,468,000) and
RMB2,014,000 (the Prior Year: RMB1,531,000), representing
a year-on-year decrease of 11.6% and increase of 31.5%
respectively. Due to the high-base effect in the first quarter
of 2022, the revenue from funeral arrangement and related
consultancy services in Hong Kong recorded a 14.8% year on
year decrease to approximately RMB1,089,000 (the Prior Year:
RMB1,278,000) during the Year.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEME

Biotechnology is the Group’s long-term focus for its business
development. With the development of related businesses
gradually on track, the advanced biotechnical machineries
distributed by the Group have been gradually delivered,
installed and accepted during the Year. Revenue amounted
to approximately RMB3,069,000 was recognised for the
Year (the Prior Year: RMB Nil). In order to further promote
the rapid development of the biotechnology business,
the Group established a specialized and comprehensive
investment platform in December 2021, mainly focusing on
the biotechnology industry and emerging industries with
development prospects for equity and securities investment,
including but not limited to, biomedicine, medical healthcare,
life science instruments etc., as well as those emerging
industries which could create synergy effect.

Looking ahead, the world is undergoing major changes unseen
in a century. Geopolitical risks are intensifying, and the external
environment remains complex and severe. China is also facing
the triple pressure of “shrinking demand, supply shock and
expected weakening”, and there are still certain difficulties and
challenges to overcome in promoting high-quality economic
development. However, China’s strategic goals of continuously
deepening innovation-driven development, supporting the
rapid development of emerging industries and promoting high-
quality economic development remain unchanged. Therefore,
the Group will continue to adhere to diversified development.
While consolidating the traditional funeral services business,
the Group will actively seize the strategic opportunities arising
from the booming development of the biotechnology industry,
allocate more resources to support the development of the
Group’s biotechnology business. In order to diversify the
Group’s income sources, promote the high-quality development
of the Group’s business, and improve and enhance the Group’s
operating results, the Group will also actively seek suitable
investment goals and opportunities from time to time.

Finally, on behalf the Board, | would like to thank the Group's
entire management and staff for their efforts and contributions.
I would also like to take this opportunity to express heartfelt
thanks to the Company’s shareholders and business partners
for their longtime support and trust.

Chairman
Xu Jianchun

27 March 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B

The COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on
China‘’s consumer market and service companies in 2022.
However, with the relaxation of COVID-19 pandemic control
measures in the third quarter of 2022, product demand
picked up and exceeded expectations, leading to higher-than-
anticipated revenue during the second half of the year ended
31 December 2022 (the “Prior Year”). During the year ended
31 December 2023 (the “Year”), the demand for the products
of Sino-life Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the "Group”) returned to normal levels, resulting in a single-
digit percentage decrease in revenue from funeral services
and cremation services provided in funeral parlous and funeral
services centres due to the high base effect in 2022.

On geographical basis, the Group’s revenue from the operation
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"”) and Socialist
Republic of Vietnam (“Vietnam”), have recorded a decrease
during the Year, as compared with the Prior Year.

On the contrary, performance in Taiwan and Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region, the PRC (“Hong Kong”) were improved
mainly due to the fully relaxation of the sanitary restrictions in
Taiwan and Hong Kong.

The Group has been actively seeking diversified sources of
income in order to enhance returns to the shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholders”). The Group has formed
a business system focusing on traditional funeral services
and emerging biotechnology. While, the traditional funeral
services business currently accounts for a large proportion of
the Group's business and the revenue of the Group is mainly
derived from the PRC, biotechnology is also the Group’s long-
term focus for its business development. The Group has also
formed a professional investment team, including but not
limited to, (i) expert consultants in the biotechnology industry;
(i) investment and research professionals with solid experience
in investment in biotechnology related industry; and (iii)
professionals in management, finance, legal, etc.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B E S W AT

With the gradual elimination of the impact of the COVID-19
pandemic, the advanced biotechnical machineries distributed
by the Group were gradually be delivered and installed during
the Year. In order to further promote the rapid development
of the biotechnology business, the Group also established a
specialized and comprehensive investment platform which
mainly focuses on investment in the development direction
of biotechnology, including but not limited to, biomedicine,
medical healthcare, life science instruments etc., as well as
those emerging industries which could create synergy effect
with the Group’s businesses and create additional return on the
Group’s capital.

During the Year and the Prior Year, the amount and percentage
of the revenue derived from respective geographical segments
were as follow:

BEZECOVID- 19 B EZ T BHR A&
EoEmmmEYERESNAFER S
RS RLZFE - BE—THBEYR R ES
MRREE - AEEBNEY TEEL FE
MHREFG TEHEXTREMREER
FEHNEE BEETRRRNEY SR E. BF
RE EoRl 2G2S UREREE
BEEDRREN BAREEE AR EFEIN
B3R Ay T ELE % o

RAFERBEFE REBEMLED B
MRS ESBE BT

2023 2022
—8s=-= —ET=-=

RMB’000 % RMB'000 %
AREFR BOlE AR®T ERalsd
The PRC EP 65,838 90.7 74,468 955
Taiwan =9 2,014 2.8 1,531 2.0
Hong Kong BB 4,158 5.7 1,278 1.6
Vietnam gl 560 0.8 692 0.9
72,570 100.0 77,969 100.0

The PRC i

Business in the PRC continues to be the major source of income
of the operations of the Group during the Year.

The Group's revenue that was derived from the PRC market
recorded a year-on-year decrease of 11.6% to approximately
Renminbi ("RMB") 65,838,000 to the Group for the Year from
approximately RMB74,468,000 of the Prior Year.

In the PRC, the Group is principally engaged in provision of
funeral, cremation and cemetery services in funeral parlours
and funeral service centres under the Group’s management in
Chongging. The Group also carried out the advisory service
on stem cells and immunocytes under an agency agreement in
Guangzhou city, Guangdong province.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B

In the first half of the Year, the Group’s provision of funeral,
cremation and cemetery services business remained relatively
stable as compared with the same period of the Prior
Year. However, during the second half of the Prior Year,
the Group’s funeral arrangement and related consultancy
services experienced an unexpected surge in demand in the
PRC, and the demand for these services returned to normal
levels during the same period of the Year. Consequently,
the revenue generated from funeral business of the Group
in the PRC market for the Year amounted to approximately
RMB65,838,000, which represented a year-on-year decrease of
approximately 11.6% as compared to the Prior Year's revenue
of approximately RMB74,468,000 due to the high base effect
from the Prior Year.

On the other hand, with respect to the advisory services
on stem cells and immunocytes of the Group, the Group is
mainly responsible for customising health consulting solutions
for customers, and entrusts suppliers to provide stem cell or
immune cell services for the customers of the Group. During
the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group’s sales plan could not be
effectively implemented due to social distancing restrictions
which the Group could not effectively approach its customers.
Since May 2022, the Company has not received orders from
customers. In order to avoid further incurring losses, the
Company has temporarily suspended its sales activities and will
closely monitor market conditions to resume the sales activities
when any opportunities arise.

Taiwan and Hong Kong

Business in Taiwan strongly bounced back and recorded
revenue of approximately RMB2,014,000 for the Year (the Prior
Year: RMB1,531,000), representing a year-on-year increase of
approximately 31.5% from the Prior Year, after the relaxation
of sanitary restrictions in Taiwan since the end of 2022.

On the other hand, during the Year, business in Hong Kong
recorded revenue of approximately RMB4,158,000 (the Prior
Year: RMB1,278,000), of which approximately RMB3,069,000
(the Prior Year: RMB Nil) and approximately RMB1,089,000
(the Prior Year: RMB1,278,000) were derived from the Group’s
stem cells and immunocytes and other businesses and funeral
services respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B E S W AT

During the Prior Year, particularly in February and March 2022,
the Group's funeral arrangement and related consultancy
services experienced an unexpected surge in demand
in Hong Kong. However, the demand for these services
returned to normal levels during the Year. Consequently, the
revenue generated from funeral business of the Group in
Hong Kong market for the Year amounted to approximately
RMB1,089,000, which represents a year-on-year decrease of
approximately 14.8% as compared to the Prior Year's revenue
of approximately RMB1,278,000.

Meanwhile, with the easing of the COVID-19 sanitary
restrictions, an advance biotechnical machinery has successfully
installed and fulfilled the revenue recognition criteria, revenue
amounted to approximately RMB3,069,000 was recognized
in respect of the Group’s sales of biotechnical machineries
and other electronics products business in Hong Kong during
the Year. As at 31 December 2023, the Group recorded
approximately RMB6,946,000 unearned revenue in connection
to its sales of biotechnical machineries and other electronics
products in Hong Kong.

Vietnam

The COVID-19 pandemic control measures were relaxed in the
first quarter of 2022 in Vietnam and hence the operation of
the Group in Vietnam gradually resumed to normal. During
the Year, the Group recorded revenue of approximately
RMB560,000 (the Prior Year: RMB692,000) from the sales of
burial plots in Vietnam.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

RBEFE (LERR-_ZE-_—_F_AK
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MERKRAFEREZESEKFE AL
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By Uk 25 40 A A R #51,089,0007T » B 1F F
EHUREHARKE1,278,000T B LR A4
14.8% °
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Revenue i 2=
2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-C-fF

Segment Segment Segment Segment
operating operating operating operating
Revenue profit profit margin Revenue profit/(loss)  profit margin
NREE NREE D EEEEN DEEE
Wy 25 i it # % W /(E#) A=
RMB'000 RMB'000 % RMB'000 RMB'000 %
AREFRT ARBTR Bt ARBTT ARETR B
Funeral services BERY 69,501 3,873 5.6% 77,969 16,697 21.4%
Stem cells and immunocytes B R e R N/A
and other business RE %7 3,069 819 26.7% - (301) TEA
72,570 4,692 6.5% 77,969 16,396 21.0%
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B 12 2 &7

The Group generated its revenue from its:

(i) funeral services, which manly involve provision of
funeral related service, including arrangement services
and related consultancy services, provision of funeral
and cremation services and sale of burial plots and
tombstones;

(i) provision of advisory service on stem cells and
immunocytes; and

(iiiy  sales of biotechnical machineries and other electronic
products.

For the Year, the Group's revenue was approximately
RMB72,570,000 (The Prior Year: RMB77,969,000), representing
a decrease of approximately 6.9% as compared with the Prior
Year. The decrease was mainly contributed by the decrease in
revenue from the provision of funeral, cremation and cemetery
services business of the Group in Chongqing, the PRC since the
demand for these services normalised in Chongging compared
with the Prior Year.

Cost of sales

For the Group's funeral services, the cost of sales primarily
consists of costs directly attributable to the provision of its
services, which mainly include:

(i) direct labour and staff cost for the funeral services
provided by individuals during the funeral ceremony held
in a funeral parlour or a funeral service centre managed
by the Group;

(i)  subcontracting charges for services provided by the
subcontractors in Taiwan;

(iii)  commission expenses from the recognition of commission
paid to sales agents for funeral services deeds at the
point when the services of the funeral services deeds are
provided;

(iv)  the management fee and operating lease charges for hire
of funeral parlours and funeral service centres; and

(v)  materials used for funeral ceremonies and cremation
services such as fresh flowers, fuel for the cremation
furnace and cost of the goods sold in the funeral
parlour and funeral service centres under the Group’s
management in the PRC.
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On the other hand, the cost of sales of the Group’s business
in provision of advisory service on stem cells and immunocytes
and sales of biotechnical machineries and other electronic
products businesses primarily consist of the costs of provision of
advisory services on stem cells and immunocytes and the costs
of the biotechnical machineries and other electronic products.

Cost of sales for the Year was approximately RMB39,089,000
(the Prior Year: RMB38,169,000), increased by approximately
2.4% as compared with the Prior Year. The increase in cost
of sales for the Year was mainly due to (i) the increased cost
of services for the Group’s funeral, cremation, and cemetery
services due to the inflationary pressure; and (ii) the increase
in cost of machineries as the result of the fulfillment of the
revenue recognition criteria of the Group’s sales of an advanced
biotechnical machinery in Hong Kong.

Gross profit

Gross profit for the Year was approximately RMB33,481,000
(the Prior Year: RMB39,800,000), and representing a year-
on-year decrease of 15.9%. The decrease in gross profit was
mainly contributed by the funeral services in the PRC.

The gross profit margin for the Year was approximately
46.1%, which dropped by 4.9% as compared with that of
approximately 51.0% for the Prior Year. The compression of
gross profit margin was mainly attributable to the increase
in contribution of revenue from sale of advance biotechnical
machineries and other electronics products, which generally
lower margin and the decrease in the profit margin of the
Group's funeral business due to the inflationary pressure and
the decrease in the sales volume.

Other income and other net gains

The Group recorded other income and other net gains of
approximately RMB2,571,000 for the Year (the Prior Year:
RMB3,007,000) representing a decrease of approximately
14.5% during the year. The decrease in the other income and
other net gains was mainly contributed by the decrease in
written back of provision for cost of service of approximately
RMB776,000 while offset by the increase in the bank interest
income.
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Selling and administrative expenses

Compared with the Prior Year, selling expenses for the
Year increased by approximately 9.3% to approximately
RMB2,122,000 as the result of increase in marketing activities.

Administrative expenses, which accounted for approximately
56.6% (the Prior Year: 41.0%) of revenue, increased by
approximately 28.3% to approximately RMB41,044,000 (The
Prior Year: RMB31,991,000) during the Year. The increase in
the administrative expenses were mainly contributed by the
general increase in the salary level across different geographical
segments, repair and maintenance costs, travelling expenses
and legal and professional expenses during the Year.

Finance costs

Finance costs of the Group mainly consisted of the interest
expenses on the bank borrowings, lease liabilities under HKFRS
16 and convertible bonds. The finance costs decreased to
approximately RMB1,681,000 from that of the Prior Year of
approximately RMB1,861,000 as the result of the decrease in
interest on lease liabilities of approximately RMB251,000 while
offset by the interest on the newly issued convertible bonds of
approximately RMB67,000 during the Year.

Income tax expense

Income tax expense was mainly incurred by operations in
the PRC, which was approximately RMB2,143,000 (the Prior
Year: RMB7,262,000) for the Year, representing a decrease
of approximately RMB5,119,000 as compared with the
Prior Year. The decrease in the tax expenses was mainly due
to the decrease in enterprise income tax of approximately
RMB5,272,000 as the result of the decrease in the taxable
profit in the PRC and the under-provision of tax expenses for
the prior years.

Loss for the Year attributable to the owners of the
Company

As the result of the cumulative effect from the above-
mentioned factors, the loss attributable to the owners of the
Company for the Year was approximately RMB7,173,000, as
compared with that of approximately RMB847,000 for the Prior
Year. Loss per share for the Year was approximately RMB0.90
cents (the Prior Year: RMBO0.11 cents).
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group maintains a stable financial position. As at 31
December 2023, the Group had time deposits with original
maturity over three months and cash and bank balances of
approximately RMB125,019,000 (2022: RMB121,811,000)
while current and non-current bank borrowings were
approximately RMB1,275,000 and approximately
RMB2,484,000 respectively (2022: RMB1,198,000 and
RMB3,590,000 respectively). All bank borrowings were
denominated in New Taiwan Dollars (“NTD"), at prevailing
market interest rate.

The Company issued the convertible bonds in the principal
amount of Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") 18,160,000 (the
“Convertible Bonds”) to Shenzhen Nanyue Crown Block Bio
Intelligent Equipment Investment Co., Ltd. or its nominee(s).
The Convertible Bonds were denominated in HK$ which
entitled the holder of the Convertible Bonds to convert them
in ordinary shares of the Company at any time commencing
from the date of issue of the Convertible Bonds up the sixth
anniversary of the date of issue of the Convertible Bonds
(the “Maturity Date”), at a conversion price of HK$0.126 per
Convertible Bond (subject to anti-dilutive adjustments). The
Convertible Bonds carry interests at 1% per annum and payable
in arrears on the Maturity Date. The issuance of the Convertible
Bonds was completed on 11 August 2023. For details, please
refer to the section headed “Significant acquisitions and
disposal of investments” in this annual report.

The holder of the Convertible Bonds had the right at any time
during the conversion period to convert the whole or part of
the outstanding principal amount of the Convertible Bonds
registered in its name into conversion shares provided further
that any conversion shall be made in amounts of not less than
a whole multiple of HK$1,000,000 on each conversion save
that if at any time the aggregate outstanding principal amount
of the Convertible Bonds is less than HK$1,000,000, the whole
(but not part only) of the outstanding principal amount of the
Convertible Bonds may be converted.
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The holder of the Convertible Bonds may require the Company
to redeem all or part of the Convertible Bonds in the multiples
of HK$1,000,000 by given a notice of redemption at any
time before the Maturity Date only in event that any holder
of the Convertible Bonds had given a notice in respect of
the occurrence of an event of default at the redemption
price equal to 100% of the principal amount of all or part of
the Convertible Bonds to be redeemed. During the Year, no
convertible bonds were converted by the holder of Convertible
Bonds, and the Company did not redeem any part of the
Convertible Bonds.

During the Year, the Group did not use any financial
instruments for hedging purposes.

It is the Group’s policy to adopt a prudent financial
management strategy and maintain a suitable level of liquidity
facilities to meet operation requirements and acquisition
opportunities.

The Group remained in a healthy and sound liquidity position
as at 31 December 2023. Looking ahead, there are still
uncertainties on the road of the society’s return to normal.
Further changes in economic conditions for the Group arising
thereof may have impact on the financial results of the Group,
the extent of which could not be estimated as at the date of
this report. The Group will keep continuous attention on the
situation and react actively if any circumstances arose that may
impact on the financial position and operating results of the
Group.

Treasury investments and significant investments
held

As at 31 December 2023, the Group also invested
approximately RMB14,532,000 (2022: RMB26,006,000) in
certain equity and debt securities, and exchange trade fund
("ETF") listed outside Hong Kong for trading purpose. These
listed equity and debt investments are denominated in RMB
and were classified as financial assets measured at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL"). The directors of the Company
considered that the closing price of those listed equity and
debt securities and ETF as at 31 December 2023 was the fair
value of those investments. As at 31 December 2023, the fair
value of the Group's investment portfolio was approximately
RMB 14,532,000 (2022: RMB26,006,000).
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The movements in the investment portfolio held by AEBRAFEIFEREHSE

the Group during the Year

% of Fair value

% of Group’s change
Number of  the Group’s  investment 1 January Disposal/ i profit 31 December
securities  total assets portfolio 2023 Addition redemption or loss 2023

t4%E E4%E
a5 h&Es -%-zZ% RiiRZ k- i
E548 Bilt ZEAL  -A-H FE LE/BE ATEE®H +-A=+-8
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARBTR
Financial assets measured at FVTPL BAF W\?Eﬁﬁzzﬁﬁwﬁ

- Equity securities listed outside Hong Kong S F’f@z/\\tﬂzﬁxt 7 45% 85.7% 15,729 17,664 (17,285) (3,660) 12,448
- ETF listed outside Hong Kong 6 0.8% 14.3% 5,745 180,201 (183,352) (510) 2,084
— Debt instruments listed outside Hong Kong ~~ — & ’é’ 9&712157?13 - - - 4,532 1 (4,575) I} =
Total 4% 13 53%  100.00% 26006 197,866  (205212) (4,128 14,532
The aggregate value of the investment portfolio decreased by RAFE KELAGBERLHDARE

approximately RMB11,474,000 during the Year.

Additions to investment portfolio during the Year totalled
approximately RMB197,866,000, including investments in 21
equity securities or ETFs listed outside Hong Kong amounted
to approximately RMB197,865,000 and 1 debt instrument
listed outside Hong Kong amounted to approximately
RMB1,000, whereas disposals in investment portfolio during
the Year totalled approximately RMB205,212,000, including
divestments of 18 equity securities or ETFs listed outside Hong
Kong amounted to approximately RMB200,637,000 and 4
debt instruments listed outside Hong Kong amounted to
approximately RMB4,575,000.

Other movements of the investment portfolio during the Year
included net fair value loss on financial assets measured at
FVTPL of approximately RMB4,128,000.

With the aim of broadening the Group's source of income
and maximizing the return of the invested capital of the
Group, and in turn bringing value to the Shareholders, the
Group invested in various equity securities with different
focuses on industries, sectors, regions, and asset types, in
order to achieve investment objectives of reducing investment
concentration risk, utilising the valuable idle financial resources
of the Group and enhancing returns for its Shareholders. The
Group has partnered with an investment company, which has
solid principally engaged in venture capital and investment
consultation which focuses on investment in emerging
industries, and has a professional investment team with
extensive investment experience.
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During the Year, while the Group strived to seek for investment
opportunities that can benefit the Group’s long term business
strategy, the Group also exploited every opportunity to capture
any short-term potential to fully utilise the valuable idle
financial resources of the Group through investing in various
kind of securities investment for capital appreciation purpose.

Equity securities or ETFs held by the Group at 31 December
2023 comprised a total of 13 listed equity securities or ETFs
with an aggregate fair value of RMB14,532,000 (accounting
for 5.3% of the Group’s total assets) covering various industry
sectors including optical optoelectronics, industrial products
and consumables and index fund.

Listed debt instruments held by the Group at 31 December
2023 did not comprise any listed bond. The listed bonds which
were disposed of by the Group during the Year carried coupon
rates ranging from 0.3% to 1.0% per annum, and they are
issued by PRC listed companies or its subsidiary primarily
operating in industrial and medical sectors in the PRC.

The Group's investment objective is to increase the value of
its treasury management business so as to enhance returns
for its Shareholders. While the Group continues to seek for
investment opportunities that can benefit the Group’s long
term business strategy and strengthen the competitive edges
of the Group, through a prudent investment strategy of
maintaining a balanced portfolio that an appropriate mix of
investment instruments and level of risks in its portfolio , the
Group also strives for maximising the return of the idle capital
of the Group by taking appropriate level of risk exposure but
without impairing the liquidity of the Group. This is achieved
by utilising various kind of securities instruments, including
but not limited to equity securities and debt instruments,
for potential capital appreciation purpose. Together with the
investment expertise that the Group partners with, the Group’s
investment team reviews the Group’s portfolio from time to
time to ensure no excessive risk is taken. The Group seeks not
only to enhance its source of revenue in order to mitigate the
risks of losing income from any one particular source, but also
to achieve consistent risk adjusted returns in its investment
portfolio. As at 31 December 2023, the Group's investment
portfolio only constituted 5.3% of the Group’s total assets, and
the largest exposure of a single securities was only 4.6% of the
Group’s total assets.
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The future prospects of the Group's equity securities will be
subject to various factors, including but not limited to political,
economic, technology, financial and risk factors that are
specific to individual industry sectors of the investments and
will therefore vary from one investment to another depending
on the overall capital and investment markets conditions,
macroeconomic conditions as well as the prospects of the
relevant industry. The future prospects of the Group’s debt
securities are exposed to interest rate risk through the impact
of rate change on their fair values, and other factors, including
but not limited to political, economic, technology, financial and
risk factors that are specific to individual industry sectors of the
investments. However, the Group will benefit from a portfolio
constructed of different kinds of investments aiming to, on
average, yield higher returns and lower the risk associated with
any individual investment.

Treasury policy

The Group continues to adopt a conservative treasury policy
in liquidity and financial management. The Group conducted
its continuing operational business transactions mainly in RMB
and HKS$. Surplus cash is generally placed in fixed deposits and
high-quality debt securities mostly denominated in HK$, United
States dollar (“USD") or RMB. During the Year, the Group did
not use any financial instruments for hedging purposes.

Gearing ratio

As at 31 December 2023, the gearing ratio representing
the ratio of total liabilities to total assets of the Group was
approximately 60.06% (2022: 54.07 %).
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURE EXEX

For the Year, the Group incurred approximately RMB443,000 RAFEE AEENYE WMEMRBEL
(the Prior Year: RMB2,474,000) of capital expenditure & ARBF X% AR#443,0000T (BEFE:
on property, plant and equipment and approximately AR#¥2474,0000) FREEEEEEAL
RMB1,155,000 (the Prior Year: RMB412,000) on right-of- X% AR%1,155,000C (BEFE: AR
use assets. There were approximately RMB3,000 (the Prior  #412,0007T) - AFEEHENWE - BE &
Year: RMB59,000) of property, plant and equipment that were R %) A A R ¥3,000t (BAFE: AR
disposed during the Year. #59,0007T ) °

CAPITAL COMMITMENT AND CONTINGENT ZBAKRIERFZARER
LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, capital expenditure R-ZE-_=FEK T - —F+ - F=+—
contracted for but not provided for in the consolidated B Z2il&MERAARATIGE MIEREEE

financial statements of the Company are as follows: ZEARZMAT:
2023 2022
—B== —F-
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARBTT
Capital expenditure contracted EENERERE
but not provided for: =N
— Investment in an associate —%E—HEE R A 2,460 2,460
— Investment in a joint venture —-R—HEELEZERE - 6,500
— Intangible assets —BEEE 225 =

2,685 8,960

The Group did not have any contingent liabilities as at 31 RZZE_=FR_T__F+-H=+1—
December 2023 and 2022. B AEEBECHAKAREE-

Save as disclosed above and in note 38 to these consolidated — [& | XX K R #% 55 47 & B 7% 58 3% Bt sE38F7 #
financial statements, the Group had no other material capital FEHIN AEB W EEME KEREE &
commitments, material contracts, contingent liabilities or K& 4 KA BEHEARLEE -
significant investment plans.

PRINCIPAL RISKS = E 6 @

The Group's activities are exposed to a variety of risks. Further ZAEBEREHEESERR - BEAEEE
details of the Group's inherent risk exposures are set out at & R EE —FFBHNREGE P RE W
note 35 the consolidated financial statements. FE35 °
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Za il

S E T

Foreign exchange exposure

The Group’s operations are geographically based in the PRC,
Taiwan, Hong Kong and Vietnam. These consolidated financial
statements of the Group are presented in RMB, except for
certain incomes and expenses which are denominated in USD,
NTD, HK$ and Vietnamese Dong (“VTD").

It is possible that the value of RMB may fluctuate against that
of USD, NTD, HK$ and VTD. The Group's operating results and
financial condition may be affected by changes in the exchange
rates of RMB against USD, NTD, HK$ and VTD in which the
Group’s revenue and expenses are denominated.

As at 31 December 2023, The Group currently does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy. However, the directors of the
Company monitor the Group’s foreign currency exposures and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposures
should the need arises.

Credit risk exposure

The Group’'s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
receivables, other receivables and deposits paid, debt
instruments measured at FVTPL, time deposits with original
maturity over three months and cash and cash equivalents.
Management has a credit policy in place and the exposure to
this credit risk is monitored on an ongoing basis.

Except for debt securities measured at FVTPL, the Group
performed impairment assessment for financial assets and other
items under expected credit loss ("ECL") model. Besides, the
Group's exposure to credit risk arising from refundable rental
deposits is considered to be low, taking into account (i) the
landlords’ credit rating and (i) the remaining lease term and
the period covered by the rental deposits.
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The Group has established a credit risk management policy
under which individual credit evaluations are performed on
all customers requiring credit over a certain amount. These
evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay, and take
into account information specific to the customer as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which the customer
operates. In respect of trade receivables from funeral services,
the Group generally offer credit period of 45 days (2022: 45
days) to customers, whereas no credit period is granted to
customers for other services rendered by the Group. Normally,
the Group does not hold any collateral over trade receivables.
The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk. The
maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of
any collateral held is represented by the carrying amount of
each financial asset in the consolidated statement of financial
position after deducting any impairment allowance. The Group
does not provide any guarantees which would expose the
Group to credit risk.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using
a provision matrix. The Group segments its trade receivables
based on geographic regions, due to different loss patterns
experienced in the different regions. Expected loss rates are
based on actual loss experience over the past 12 months. These
rates are adjusted to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the period over which the historic data has
been collected, current conditions and the Group’s view of
economic conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.
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SIGNIFICANT ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL
OF INVESTMENTS

On 26 April 2023, the Company and Zhongke Xunda
Biotechnology (Shenzhen) Company Limited* (& &l &l & 4
R CRINDBR QTR (“Zhongke Xunda®”), a company
established in the PRC, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into a sale and purchase agreement
(the “SPA 1") with Shenzhen Nanyue Crown Block Bio
Intelligent Equipment Investment Co., Ltd.* (R YI ™ m@ %K
BEYEREEHEIREBR QA ("Nanyue CB”), a company
established in the PRC. Pursuant to the SPA |, Zhongke Xunda
(as purchasers) agreed to acquire from Nanyue CB (as vendor)
the RMB16,200,000 paid-up capital of Zhongke Zhenhui
(Guangdong) Medical Technology Company Limited* (& &}
ZE2(BER)BHEBEBARAQRF) ("Zhongke Zhenhui”), a
company established in the PRC contributed by Nanyue CB,
which is equivalent to 20.25% of the equity interest in Zhongke
Zhenhui at a consideration of RMB15,930,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$18,160,000), which shall be satisfied by
way of issue of the Convertible Bonds in the principal amount
of HK$18,160,000 to Nanyue CB or its nominee(s) under the
specific mandate (the “Specific Mandate 1”) to be granted by
the Independent Shareholders (being defined as “Shareholder(s)
other than those who are required under the GEM Listing Rules
to abstain from voting on the resolution(s) to be proposed
at the EGM (as defined below) to approve the SPA |, the
SPA Il (as defined below) and the transactions contemplated
thereunder”) to the Board at the EGM for the allotment and
issue of 187,000,000 shares of the Company (the “Conversion
Shares”) (based on the maximum number of Conversion
Shares to be issued as a result of any adjustments in the initial
conversion price of HK$0.126 per Conversion Share (the
“Conversion Price”) pursuant to the terms of the Convertible
Bonds) to the holders of the Convertible Bonds upon exercise
of the conversion rights attaching to the Convertible Bonds at
the Conversion Price.
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As at the date of the SPA I, Nanyue CB is controlled as to
approximately 71.25% by Mr. Xu Jianchun (together with his
associates), the chairman and an executive Director of the
Company, and therefore a connected person of the Company.
Upon completion of the SPA I, Zhongke Zhenhui will be held as
to 71.25% by Zhongke Xunda and 28.75% by Nanyue CB. The
financial information of Zhongke Zhenhui will continue to be
consolidated into the consolidated financial statements of the
Group.

On 26 April 2023, the Company and Zhongke Xunda entered

into a sale and purchase agreement (the “SPA 11”) with
Shenzhen Huaxin Times Investment Co., Ltd.* (;F3II| =

ERNREZEEBRAA) (“Shenzhen Huaxin”), a company
established in the PRC. Pursuant to the SPA I, Zhongke Xunda
(as purchasers) agreed to acquire from Shenzhen Huaxin (as
vendor) the RMB15,000,000 paid-up capital of Guangdong
Zhenyuan Investment Company Limited (“Guangdong
Zhenyuan")* (BERERIEEBREMEAF), a company
established in the PRC, contributed by Shenzhen Huaxin, which
is equivalent to approximately 21.43% of the equity interest in
Guangdong Zhenyuan at a consideration of RMB15,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$17,100,000), which shall be
satisfied by way of the issue of the Consideration Shares to
Shenzhen Huaxin or its nominee(s) under the specific mandate
(the "Specific Mandate 1I”) to be granted by the Independent
Shareholders to the Board at the EGM (as defined below) for
the allotment and issue of 142,500,000 shares of the Company
(the “Consideration Shares”).

As at the date of the SPA Il, Guangdong Zhenyuan, is
controlled as to approximately 42.86% by Shenzhen Huaxin
and approximately 57.14% by Zhongke Zhenhui, an indirect
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, and therefore,
Shenzhen Huaxin is a connected person of the Company.
Upon completion of the SPA Il, Guangdong Zhenyuan will
be held as to approximately 21.43% by Zhongke Xunda,
approximately 57.14% by Zhongke Zhenhui and approximately
21.43% by Shenzhen Huaxin. The financial information of
Guangdong Zhenyuan will continue to be consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

For details of the SPA | and the SPA Il, please refer to the
Company’s announcements dated 26 April 2023, 5 June 2023
and 15 June 2023 and the circular of the Company dated 23
June 2023. An extraordinary general meeting of the Company
(the "EGM") has been held on 12 July 2023, and the SPA I, the
SPA Il and the transactions contemplated thereunder have been
approved by the Independent Shareholders. Up to the date of
this annual report, the transactions stipulated in the SPA | and
the SPA Il have been completed.
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CHARGE ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of property,
plant and equipment pledged as security for the Group’s
bank borrowings was approximately RMB24,377,000 (2022:
RMB22,578,000).

DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any final
dividend in respect of the Year (the Prior Year: nil). There is no
arrangement under which a Shareholder has waived or agreed
to waive any dividend.

THE NUMBER AND REMUNERATION OF
EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed 202
employees (2022: 218 employees). The Group determines
staff remuneration in accordance with prevailing market salary
scales, individual qualifications and performance. Remuneration
packages including performance bonuses and entitlements to
share options are reviewed on regular basis.

Apart from regular on-the-job training, the Group encourages
its employees to attend external job-related training and
provides training to new employees including an introduction
to relevant regulations and general safety awareness and a
workshop specific training to the work area and the role of
individual within the workshop. Directors and employees,
among others, are entitled to participate in the share option
scheme at the discretion of the Board. During the Year, no
share option was granted and exercised and 7,424,000 share
option was lapsed. As at 31 December 2023, 18,532,000 share
options were outstanding. Further details of the share option
scheme of the Company currently in effect are set out in the
sub-section headed “Share Option Scheme” in the section
headed “Directors’ Report” in this annual report.

PROSPECTS

Externally, the global economy may experience a soft landing,
which is beneficial to the stabilization of exports. As the
interest rate hike by the Federal Reserve comes to an end,
the pressure on the RMB exchange rate and RMB assets are
expected to decrease. In addition, the presidents of China and
the United States have met for the first time in nearly a year,
bringing some hope to prevent the further deterioration in
Sino-US relations.
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In terms of fundamentals, China’s unemployment rate in the
consumer sector shows a trend of marginal decline without
further deterioration. The overall consumption propensity in
the household sector is showing a rebound trend. While the
scarring effect in the household sector was obvious during
the pandemic, it is now gradually diminishing. In terms of
investment, if there is positive growth in exports in 2024,
related in investment in the manufacturing industry will be
driven. In addition, as the central government increased
leverage, the funding of infrastructure investment was also
secured. The real estate sector is still complex. While there
may still be a process of inertia decline, the decline is expected
to narrow. Therefore, in many respects, China’s economy will
experience a marginal improvement.

As one of China’s strategic emerging industries, biotechnology
industry has great development potentials as the degree of
population aging in China continues to deepen, medical
expenses rise and public health awareness continues to
increase. In addition, with the improvement in technology
and the continuous progress of research and development
equipment, technology innovation and drug research
and development for biotechnology continue to make
breakthroughs. The application of digital technologies such
as Al, big data and blockchain has efficiently integrated and
analyzed massive amounts of clinical and bioinformatics
data and further reduced the costs of medical services,
thereby contributing to the sustainable development of the
biotechnology industry.

The Group has made a presence in the biotechnology business
since early 2019. After several years of development, the
life science instrument sales business has made a substantial
progress. The Group has positioned one of the Company’s
subsidiaries, Zhongke Zhenhui, as a specialized and
comprehensive investment platform to mainly focus on the
investment in biotechnology industry and emerging industries
with development prospects, including but not limited to,
biomedicine, medical healthcare, life science instruments
etc., as well as those emerging industries which could create
synergy effect.
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On 26 April 2023, the Group further entered into the SPA | with
Nanyue CB to acquire from Nanyue CB the RMB16,200,000
paid-up capital of Zhongke Zhenhui contributed by Nanyue
CB, which is equivalent to 20.25% of the equity interest in
Zhongke Zhenhui, and the SPA Il with Shenzhen Huaxin to
acquire from Shenzhen Huaxin the RMB15,000,000 paid-
up capital of Guangdong Zhenyuan contributed by Shenzhen
Huaxin, which is equivalent to approximately 21.43% of the
equity interest in Guangdong Zhenyuan.

Through the SPA | and the SPA II, the Group will further
increase its shareholding in Zhongke Zhenhui and Guangdong
Zhenyuan, and further enhance the Group's controlling position
in such companies. Not only can it improve the efficiency of
the operation and decision-making of Zhongke Zhenhui and
Guangdong Zhenyuan, but also enhance the cooperation
confidence of business partners, which in turn accelerate the
development of Zhongke Zhenhui and Guangdong Zhenyuan's
investment business, so as to achieve the goal of strengthening
and expanding the investment business of the Group.

Looking ahead, the world is undergoing major changes unseen
in a century. Geopolitical risks are intensifying, and the external
environment remains complex and severe. China is also facing
the triple pressure of “shrinking demand, supply shock and
expected weakening”, and there are still certain difficulties and
challenges to overcome in promoting high-quality economic
development. However, China’s strategic goals of continuously
deepening innovation-driven development, supporting the
rapid development of emerging industries and promoting high-
quality economic development remain unchanged. Therefore,
the Group will continue to adhere to diversified development.
While consolidating the traditional funeral services business,
the Group will actively seize the strategic opportunities arising
from the booming development of the biotechnology industry,
allocate more resources to support the development of the
Group’s biotechnology business. In order to diversify the
Group's income sources, promote the high-quality development
of the Group's business, and improve and enhance the Group's
operating results, the Group will also actively seek suitable
investment goals and opportunities from time to time.
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The corporate governance practices of Sino-Life Group Limited
(the “Company”) are based on the principles and the code
provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the
“Code") as set out in Appendix 15 (currently referred to as
Appendix C1) to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”). The
principles adopted by the Company emphasis a quality board,
transparency and accountability to shareholders. In the opinion
of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of
the Company, the Company has complied with the Code for
the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Year”) except for Rule
5.05(1) and Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules as explained in
this Corporate Governance Report.

The Company will continue to enhance its corporate
governance practices appropriate to the conduct and growth
of its business and to review its corporate governance
practices from time to time to ensure they comply with the
statutory requirements and the Code and align with the latest
developments.

NON-COMPLIANCE WITH PROVISIONS OF
THE GEM LISTING RULES

Following the resignation of Mr. Sun Fei on 3 April 2023,
the Company only had two independent non-executive
Directors. The number and composition of independent
non-executive Directors failed to meet the requirements
under (i) Rule 5.05(1) of the GEM Listing Rules which
requires the board of directors must include at least 3
independent non-executive directors; and (ii) Rule 5.28 of
the GEM Listing Rules which requires the audit committee
to comprise a minimum of three members.

Following the appointment of Ms. Hu Zhaohui as an
independent non-executive Director and an Audit
Committee member on 7 June 2023, the Board comprises
three independent non-executive Directors. As a result, the
Company has complied with Rules 5.05(1) and 5.28 of the
GEM Listing Rules.
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AMENDMENTS TO THE ARTICLES OF
ASSOCIATION AND ADOPTION OF NEW
ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

#&m

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on
31 May 2023, a special resolution was passed to amend the
existing articles of association of the Company, and to adopt
the second amended and restated memorandum and articles
of association of the Company (the "M&A"). The M&A
consolidated all the amendments to bring the constitution of
the Company in line with the amendments to the GEM Listing
Rules, relating to, among others, the new Appendix 3 to the
GEM Listing Rules with effect from 1 January 2022 for which
listed issuers are required to make necessary amendments
to the constitutional documents to bring the constitutional
documents to conformation. The M&A were amended to
(i) bringing the M&A in line with the amendments made to
Appendix 3 to the GEM Listing Rules which became effective
on 1 January 2022 and the applicable laws of the Cayman
Islands; (ii) providing flexibility to the Company in relation to
the conduct of general meetings by way of physical meeting,
virtual meeting or hybrid meeting; and (iii) incorporating
certain housekeeping amendments as set out in Appendix
Il to the circular of the Company dated 18 April 2023. The
M&A are available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange. For further details of the amendments to
the existing M&A of the Company and adoption of the M&A,
please refer to Company’s announcements dated 13 April 2023
and 31 May 2023, and the circular of the Company dated 18
April 2023.
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CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting than
the required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67
of the GEM Listing Rules. Specific enquiry has been made of all
the Directors and the Directors have confirmed that they have
complied with such code of conduct throughout the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

A) Board Composition
For the Year and until the date of this report, the Board
comprises members as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Xu Jianchun (Chairman)
Mr. Liu Tien-Tsai (Chief executive officer)
Dr. Xu Qiang
(Resigned on 31 August 2023)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Chai Chung Wai
Mr. Sun Fei
(Resigned on 3 April 2023)
Dr. Yang Jingjing
Ms. Hu Zhaohui
(Appointed on 7 June 2023)
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The composition of the Board is well balanced with each
Director having sound industry knowledge, extensive
corporate and strategic planning experience and/or
expertise relevant to the business of the Group. Pursuant
to the Code, the Board adopted a board diversity policy
(the “Board Diversity Policy”, and further elaborate
below). The Company recognises and embraces the
benefits of diversity of Board members. While all Board’s
appointments will continue to be made on a merit basis,
the Company will ensure that the Board has a balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate
to the needs of the Company's business. Selection
of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, experience
(professional or otherwise), skills and knowledge. There
were changes in members of the Board during the Year
and up to the date of this annual report, as required

EESENNEZSEAR MEBRES
HRASEMREEBHAEERS
TENS LENCERIBRRIL
Bk UES -RBRETH EETEK
MEEEXELTLEBRR([ESE
KEZ b K] R TE— 4
i) ARBBEEREISEETEHK
BZ Tt E FEESHMELD
AU 1B 2 77T A ME S A TR B A9 ) B
KRB RERESSENAALARF
E¥BENREE £%H TRERS
HEBFE-hEREABERSZRE
TRER - BIFEERERER -« Fit -
NERHBEES FEIHMER .
Rk - BIEGEM EM A BIE
1750AMMEBTIHENEEENE
RAFERBEEAFRAEHEH
PulNE

to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM
Listing Rules, as below:

Name of Directors Details of Changes

EEnE HHFSE

Mr. SUN Fei o Resigned as an independent non-executive Director, the chairman

BRREAE and a member of audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) and
a member of each of nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) and remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) of the Company on 3 April 2023.

. REZBZ="FHA=ABFEEIINTES ARAEZZEE ([F
RZEg)EREKEURREZES ([REZES])RFWE
Bg([FMEEg])ELZ8agKE -

Mr. CHAI Chung Wai o Appointed as the chairman of Audit Committee on 3 April 2023.
= EE S E . RZEZ=FOH=-HEZERBTZEESEF-

. Retired as the chairman of Remuneration Committee but remained a
member of the Remuneration Committee on 7 June 2023.

. RZEZ=FNAtHBREIFHEES TR HEERTFMHEZE
gKE-

o Appointed as an independent non-executive director, the chairman of
the audit committee and a member of the nomination committee and
the remuneration committee of ShiFang Holding Limited (a company
listed in Hong Kong, stock code: 1831) on 30 June 2023.

o RZZEZ=FANA=THEZEATHFERERAR (—EESL
MARRHNRF: 1831 NBUIFRNITES BEXZEEEIRUR
RELZEGRFMNEZEGKE-

o Appointed as an independent non-executive director, the chairman of
each of the audit committee and the remuneration committee and a
member of the nomination committee of Kingkey Intelligence Culture
Holdings Limited (a company listed in Hong Kong, stock code: 550)
on 24 September 2023.

. RIZE_=FAA-_+TOREZERRELZERAR DA (—
MEE LT ARR RONKK S50 NBUERITES FEREEGR
FHEEeREEEIRUARREEEGKE -
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Name of Directors Details of Changes

EERE LB
Ms. HU Zhaohui J Appointed as an independent non-executive Director, the chairman
tAEAE 22+ and a member of Remuneration Committee and a member of each of
Nomination Committee and Audit Committee on 7 June 2023.
. RZB_=FNA+HEZEARBIUINTEST FTMEESER
EKBEURREEEEREREEGREREGNKE -
Dr. XU Qiang o Resigned as an executive Director and chief executive officer of the
RoRiE LT Company on 31 August 2023.

B)

. RIBE-_=ZF N \A=+-HBEEARARTEERERENTE

The biographical details of the Directors and the
relationship among the members of the Board, if any, are
set out in the “Biographical Details of the Directors and
Senior Management” on pages from 57 to 59 of this
annual report.

To the best knowledge of the Board, there is no financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship(s)
between the members of the Board. Every Director has
sufficient time and attention to deal with the affairs of
the Group.

Role and Function

The Board is responsible for formulating the strategic
business development, reviewing and monitoring
the business performance of the Group, with the
goal of maximising long-term shareholder’s value,
while balancing broader stakeholder interests. The
Directors, collectively and individually, are aware of their
responsibilities to the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholder(s)”), for the manner in which the affairs of
the Group are managed and operated.

The Board has the following main duties:
° determine all the corporate matters;

o be responsible for the management, direction and
supervision of the businesses of the Group; and

o be responsible to ensure the effectiveness on
Group’s financial reporting and compliance.

As and when necessary, the Directors can access to the
advice and services of the Company Secretary, and in
the appropriate circumstances, seeking of independent
professional advice at the Group's expense to ensure
that the Board’s procedures, and all applicable rules and
regulations are followed.
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The Board gives clear directions as to the powers
delegated to the management for the day-to-day
management and administration functions of the
Group, in particular, with respect to the circumstances
where management should report back and obtain
prior approval from the Board before making decisions
or entering into any commitments on behalf of the
Group. The Board fully supports the senior management
to discharge its duties and responsibilities in all
circumstances. The Board will review those arrangements
on a periodic basis to ensure that they remain
appropriate to the needs of the Group.

#&m

The independent non-executive Directors have brought
in a wide range of business and financial expertise,
experiences and independent judgment to the Board.
Through active participation in the Board meetings and
serving on various Board committees, all independent
non-executive Directors will make various contributions
to the Company.

Mechanisms to ensure Independent Views
from Directors

The Board has implemented different ways to ensure
independent views and input are available to the Board.
The implementation and effectiveness of such mechanism
was reviewed on an annual basis. The Board considers
that such mechanism has been implemented properly
and effectively.

The mechanism is disclosed below:

(i)  Composition
The Board ensures the appointment of at least
three independent non-executive Directors
and at least one-third of its members being
independent non-executive Directors with at
least one independent non-executive Director
possessing appropriate professional qualifications,
or accounting or related financial management
expertise. Currently, over 50% of the Board
members are independent non-executive Directors,
which exceeds the requirement of the GEM
Listing Rules. Further, independent non-executive
Directors will be appointed to Board Committees
as required under the GEM Listing Rules and as
far as practicable to ensure independent views are
available.
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(iv)
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Independence Assessment

The Nomination Committee strictly adheres to
the board nomination policy of the Company
(the "Board Nomination Policy” and further
elaborate below) with regard to the nomination
and appointment of independent non-executive
Directors, and is mandated to assess annually
the independence of independent non-executive
Directors to ensure that they can continually
exercise independent judgement.

Directors’ Time and Directorship
Commitments

The Directors, independent non-executive
Directors in particular, have demonstrated a strong
commitment to the Board affairs and they are well
aware that they are expected to have a sufficient
time commitment to the Board. Directors have
given certain confirmations and made disclosures
about their other commitments.

Directors disclose to the Company twice a year
the number, identity and nature of offices held in
Hong Kong or overseas listed public companies and
organizations and other significant commitments,
together with an indication of the time involved.

Currently, none of the Directors, individually, held
directorships in more than two public companies
(including the Company) as at 31 December 2023.
The executive Directors do not hold directorship
in other public companies, however, they are
encouraged to participate in professional, public
and community organizations.

Board Decision Making

The Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors), upon reasonable request, may seek
independent professional advice at the Company’s
expense, to assist the performance of their duties.

(if)

(iii)

(iv)
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To safeguard the interests of the Group, all
Directors are required to declare their direct/indirect
interests, if any, in any business proposals to be
considered at the meetings and, where appropriate,
they are required to abstain from voting on any
Board resolution concerned. If a substantial
shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest
in a matter to be considered by the Board which
the Board has determined to be material, the
matter would be dealt with by a physical Board
meeting rather than a written resolution.

Board Evaluation

The Board assesses and reviews the time
contributed by every independent non-executive
Director and their attendance to meetings of the
Board and the Board committees so as to ensure
that every independent non-executive Director has
devoted sufficient time to the Board to discharge
his/her responsibilities as a Director.

Independent Views and Inputs Treasured and
Valued

During the Board and Board committee meetings,
the independent non-executive Directors are
encouraged to express freely their independent
views and inputs in an open and candid manner.
The Chairman also encourages questions
and challenges from Directors, in particular
independent non-executive Directors and their
comments and concerns are closely followed up by
the management. In addition to Board meetings,
the Chairman schedules a meeting annually with
independent non-executive Directors without the
presence of other Directors to discuss the affairs of
the Group.

The implementation and effectiveness of the above
mechanisms have been reviewed by the Board
on an annual basis and the Board believes these
measures would allow Directors to contribute
effectively and independent views and input are
available to the Board and Board committees.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND BOARD PRACTICES

The Board normally should schedule four regular meetings a
year at quarterly intervals and meets as and when required to
discuss the overall business, development strategy, operations
and financial reporting of the Company. For the Year, the
Board held 5 meetings within which 4 were regular meetings.
In addition to regular Board meetings, the chairman of the
Board had met with the independent non-executive Directors
without the presence of other executive Directors during the
Year. The attendance records of individual Directors at these
Board meetings are set out in the table on page 36 of this
annual report. The Directors can attend meetings in person
or through other means of electronic communication in
accordance with the Company’'s articles of association (the
“Articles of Association”). All minutes of the meetings are kept
by the Company Secretary and are open for inspection by the
Directors at any time. The meetings are structured to allow
open discussion. All Directors participate in discussing the
strategy, operational and financial performance and internal
control of the Group.

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) assists the chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”)
to prepare the agenda of the meeting and each Director may
request to include any matters in the agenda. At least 14 days’
notice is given to the Directors for the regular meetings by the
Company. All substantive agenda items have comprehensive
briefing papers, which are distributed by the Company
Secretary to the Directors within reasonable time before the
Board meetings so as to ensure that the Directors may receive
accurate, timely and clear information to make informed
decisions regarding the matters discussed in the meetings.
Directors who are considered to have conflict of interests or
material interests in the proposed transactions or issues to be
discussed will not be counted in the quorum of meeting and
will abstain from voting on the relevant resolutions.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary who regularly updates the Board on
governance and regulatory matters. The Company Secretary
is also responsible for ensuring the procedures of the Board
meetings are observed and providing the Board opinions on
matters in relation to the compliance with the procedures of
the Board meetings.
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The Board is regularly provided with brief reports containing
balanced and comprehensive evaluation on the Group’s
performance, status and prospects to keep it abreast of the
Group's affairs and to facilitate the Directors’ performance of
their obligations under the relevant requirements of the GEM

EEer RSP EYAEBEEE
&m%ﬁﬁmﬂwﬁzﬁ%ﬁm%%ﬁ
L UBMALEENER TEFESR
BGEMEMRAMNBER ETETER-

Listing Rules.
2023 AGM EGM
Board held on held on
meetings 31 May 2023 12 July 2023
R-B-=%
ER=+—-HEfT R-BZ=&
Z-¥-Zf tRAT-HEf
EZEEn BREAFXE ZEEHIXE
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Xu Jianchun (Chairman) FRERE(ZE) 5/5 11 1/1
Mr. Liu Tien-Tsai AL E
(Chief executive officer) (7TB#E%) 5/5 17 i
Dr. Xu Qiang Rt
(Resigned on 31 August 2023) (RZBZ=FN\A=1+—HEFE) 1/4 17 01
Independent non-executive BIkHTES
Directors
Mr. Chai Chung Wai ERELE 5/5 1/1 1/1
Mr. Sun Fei BR%E
(Resigned on 3 April 2023) (RZZEZ=FWA=HET) 1/1 N/A i N/A i F
Dr. Yang Jingjing BEEET 5/5 1/1 11
Ms. Hu Zhaohui TRBIE 2T
(Appointed on 7 June 2023) (RZZ-_ZF AtHEZMT) 22 N/A i 01
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER ¥ & R T B4 #%

REBETRFEC2IGETREN TFEARR
ATBAR ([TRAEAR] ) NAERAER

Pursuant to the code provision C.2.1 of the Code, the roles
of Chairman and chief executive officer (the “CEO(s)”) of the
Company should be segregated and should not be performed % T~ H— AR EFET - T FHETHA
by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between ZHZEBEMN D TEBEE AT AEZ @S
the Chairman and CEOs should be clearly established and set &

out in writing.
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The positions of Chairman and CEOs of the Company for the
Year are held separately by Mr. Xu Jianchun as Chairman, and
Mr. Liu Tien-Tsai as CEO and Dr. Xu Qiang, who resigned on
31 August 2023, as CEO. The Chairman is responsible for
the Group’s strategic planning and the management of the
operations of the Board, while the CEOs take the lead in the
Group's operations and business development. There is a clear
division of responsibilities between the Chairman and CEOs of
the Company which provides a balance of power and authority.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

During the Year, following the resignation of Mr. Sun Fei
on 3 April 2023, the Company only had two independent
non-executive Directors. The number and composition of
independent non-executive Directors failed to meet the
requirements under (i) Rule 5.05(1) of the GEM Listing Rules
which requires the board of directors must include at least
3 independent non-executive directors; and (ii) Rule 5.28 of
the GEM Listing Rules which requires the audit committee to
comprise a minimum of three members.

Following the appointment of Ms. Hu Zhaohui as an
independent non-executive Director and an Audit Committee
member on 7 June 2023, the Board again includes three
independent non-executive Directors. As a result, the Company
has complied with Rules 5.05(1) and 5.28 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

Apart for the above, the Board complied at all times with the
requirement of the GEM Listing Rules during the Year relating
to the appointment of at least 3 independent non-executive
Directors presenting at least one-third of the Board with at
least one of them has appropriate professional qualifications
of accounting or related financial management expertise. The
Company has received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his/her independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the
Company considers all the independent non-executive Directors
to be independent for the Year.
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TRAINING AND CONTINUING DEVELOPMENT
FOR DIRECTORS

According to the code provision C.1.4 of the Code, all Directors
should participate in a programme of continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
to ensure that their contribution to the board remains informed
and relevant. The Company should be responsible for arranging
and funding training, placing an appropriate emphasis on the
roles, functions and duties of the Directors.

During the Year and up to the date of this annual report,
all Directors have confirmed that they have participated in
continuous professional development by attending training
course or reading relevant materials on the topics related to
roles, functions and duties of a director of a listed company.
In order to ensure every newly appointed Director, if any,
have a proper understanding on the operations and business
of the Group and fully aware of his/her responsibilities under
the relevant applicable legal and regulatory requirements,
every newly appointed Director before his/her appointment
will be given relevant guideline materials regarding the duties
and responsibilities of being a Director, the relevant laws and
regulations applicable to the Directors, duty of disclosure of
interest and business of the Group. All Directors have been
updated on the latest developments regarding the GEM Listing
Rules and other applicable regulatory requirement to ensure
compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate
governance practices.
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Attending
expert briefings/ Reading
seminars/ materials
conferences relevant to
relevant to the the Group'’s
Group'’s business, business,
the GEM Listing the GEM Listing
Rules and Rules and
directors’ duties directors’ duties
HEHRA
AEEERE-
GEM_E i #3 8I & FEAE
ESHEN AEEERE-
BERWHE - GEMLHHRAR
Name of Directors EENE HE g% EERENEHR
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Xu Jianchun RERE - v
Mr. Liu Tien-Tsai 2N - 4
Dr. Xu Qiang et 1R o8 18 o (WD) N/A & A N/A & A
Independent non-executive Directors MHILIEFITES
Mr. Chai Chung Wai BRELE v 4
Mr. Sun Fej Nete 2 Rk 4 e N/A i A N/A 73 A
Dr. Yang Jingjing BESEELT v
Ms. Hu Zhaohui Mete AR 4 + (W) _ v

Notes:

1. Dr. Xu Qiang resigned on 31 August 2023.

2. Mr. Sun Fei resigned on 3 April 2023.

3. Ms. Hui Zhaohui was appointed on 7 June 2023.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has also established the following committees with

defined terms of reference:

. Audit Committee

° Remuneration Committee

. Nomination Committee

B 3

1. HBREIN-_ZT—

=FN\A=+—HEHE-

2. BREENR-_FT_=FM B =HFE-

3. HHEBLXTRN T _=F A+ BEZE-

EEZER

EEeNCKLNIZES TRTRBE

Each Board committee makes decisions on matters within its
terms of reference and applicable limits of authority. The terms
of reference as well as the structure and membership of each
committee will be reviewed from time to time.

#E:

s EXRZE®

e ¥MZERE

e REZEE
FEEZRSYHEMBRESE FE A%

RAZEEMEHLIRE AR B AR
BRBegBREE RERKE-
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Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rules
5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules which consists of
three independent non-executive Directors. The terms of
reference setting out the Audit Committee’s authority,
duties and responsibilities are available on both the Stock
Exchange's website and the Company’s website.

#&m

Composition and Meeting Record of the Audit
Committee

For the Year, 5 meetings were held. The following table
shows the attendance of individual Directors at the
meetings held during the Year:

Number of
Meetings

Name of Committee Members Attended/Held

Mr. Sun Fei (Resigned on 172
3 April 2023)

Mr. Chai Chung Wai (Appointed as 5/5
chairman on 3 April 2023)

Dr. Yang Jingjing 5/5

Ms. Hu Zhaohui (Appointed on 2/2

7 June 2023)

Role and Function
The major responsibilities of the Audit Committee
include, among others, the followings:

i. making recommendation to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and removal of
external auditor of the Company (the "External
Auditor”);

i. reviewing and monitoring the External Auditor’s
independence and objectivity and the effectiveness
of the audit process in accordance with applicable
accounting standard;

iii.  reviewing the policy on engaging the External
Auditor in the provision of non-audit services;

iv. monitoring the integrity of the Group's
consolidated financial statements, annual reports
and accounts, half-yearly reports and quarterly
reports;

V. liaising with the Board and the senior management
and to meet with the External Auditor;

vi.  overviewing the Group’s financial controls, internal
control and risk management systems; and

vii.  reviewing the financial and accounting policies and
practices of the Group.
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During the Year, the Audit Committee has reviewed the
quarterly reports, half-yearly report and annual report
before submission to the Board. The Audit Committee
focused not only on the impact of the changes in
accounting policies and practices but also on the
compliance with accounting standards, the GEM Listing
Rules and the legal requirements in the review of the
Group's quarterly reports, half-yearly report and annual
report. The Audit Committee has also reviewed the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems, considered the re-election of External Auditor,
discussed with the External Auditor about the audit plan
and discussed and reviewed the major and connected
transactions of the Company.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the Remuneration
Committee according to the relevant provision of the
GEM Listing Rules with written terms of reference which
consists of three independent non-executive Directors.
The terms of reference setting out the Remuneration
Committee’s authority, duties and responsibilities are
available on both the Stock Exchange's website and the
Company’s website. The Remuneration Committee makes
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management.

Composition and Meeting Record of the
Remuneration Committee
For the Year, 1 meeting was held. The following table
shows the attendance of individual Directors at the
meetings held during the Year:

Number of
Meetings

Name of Committee Members Attended/Held

Mr. Chai Chung Wai (Retired as 1/1
chairman on 7 June 2023)

Mr. Sun Fei (Resigned on 11
3 April 2023)

Dr. Yang Jingjing 11

Ms. Hu Zhaohui (Chairman) N/A

(Appointed on 7 June 2023)

B)
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Role and Function
The major responsibilities of the Remuneration
Committee include, among others, the followings:

making recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all remuneration
of Directors and senior management and on
the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing remuneration policy;

ii. assessing the performance and determining the
specific remuneration packages of all executive
Directors and senior management;

iii. reviewing and approving performance-based
remuneration by reference to corporate goals and
objectives resolved by the Board from time to time;

iv. reviewing and approving matters related to share
option schemes of the Company; and

V. reviewing and approving the compensation payable
to executive Directors and senior management
in connection with any loss or termination of
their office or appointment to ensure that such
compensation is determined in accordance
with relevant contractual terms and that such
compensation is otherwise fair and not excessive
for the Company.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee has
reviewed the remuneration package of the Board
members and the senior management of the Company
and determining the remuneration package of Ms. Hu
Zhaohui, a new Director. No Director was involved in
deciding his/her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the operation
model where it performs an advisory role to the Board,
with the Board retaining the final authority to approve
the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management.

Particulars of the Directors’ emoluments for the Year are
set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.
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TXRERAME

Remuneration of Senior Management by Band REEE D NS REEEH M
Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 the Code, details of BRSSP RIEENSESTRIEN & &
the annual remuneration of the members of the senior ERERERAFENFEFTMNF
management by band for the Year were as follows: BiREEES 0T :
Number of
employee(s)
EE&H
Nil to HK$1,000,000 (equivalent to £ %1,000,000/% 7T
approximately RMB904,732 (FBERHARM904,7327T
(2022: RMB858,795)) —T__%F: AR¥858,7957T) ) 0
HK$1,000,000 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,0007% 7T £2,000,0007% 7T
(equivalent to approximately (FHERHARMI04,7327TE
RMB904,732 to RMB1,809,464 AR¥1,809,4640 (ZE ==
(2022: RMB858,795 to RMB1,717,591)) AR #858,795;t & AR¥1,717,59171) ) 3
Nomination Committee Q) REZES
The Company has established the Nomination Committee RARBKILIREE B G IR IR
with written terms of reference in accordance with RFRERIGTHEABRESE  Eh
requirements of the Stock Exchange which consists of = BB EITERMAK KBRS
three independent non-executive Directors. The terms ZESHE BERETNRESE
of reference setting out the Nomination Committee's A B B 32 P AR S Jo AR R R Ak E T
authority, duties and responsibilities are available on &R -
both the Stock Exchange's website and the Company’s
website.
Composition and Meeting Record of the REZESHRERSERLHE
Nomination Committee
For the Year, 1 meeting was held. The following table RAFE BERIT-REHE - TERH
shows the attendance of individual Directors at the NERESERAFELREEZRZIB
meetings held during the Year: i
Number of HE
Meetings BITEER
Name of Committee Members Attended/Held ZEEREHS RE
Dr. Yang lJingjing (Chairman) 1/1 S EsET (FE) 1/1
Mr. Sun Fei (Resigned on 1/1 BERaxE (RZZEZ= 1/1
3 April 2023) A =HEHME)
Mr. Chai Chung Wai 1/1 BRELE 1/1
Ms. Hu Zhaohui (Appointed on N/A HHEAEZ T (RZE==F TEH
7 June 2023) NATHEZEE)

HEEGEEERART —TZZFFR 43
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and Function

The major responsibilities of the Nomination Committee
include, among others, the followings:

Vi.

reviewing the structure, size, composition and
diversify for consistency (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
annually and making recommendations to the
Board regarding any proposed changes;

identifying individuals suitably qualified to become
Board members and making recommendations to
the Board on the selection of individuals nominated
for directorships;

assessing the independence of independent
non-executive Directors;

making recommendations to the Board on
relevant matters relating to the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for Directors, in particular the Chairman
and the CEQ;

making recommendations to the Board on the
policy concerning the diversity of Board members;
and

reviewing and giving full consideration to the
Board Diversity Policy adopted from time to time.

The summary of work performed by the Nomination
Committee during the Year is as follows:

Reviewed the existing Board's structure, size,
composition and diversity;

Reviewed the Board Diversity Policy;

Reviewed the nomination policy of the Board
(“Board Nomination Policy” and further elaborate
below);

Reviewed and assessed the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors;

Made recommendations on the retiring Directors at
the 2023 AGM of the Company; and

Considered and made recommendation on the
appointment of Ms. Hu Zhaohui as independent
non-executive Director.
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Board Nomination Policy

The Company adopted the Board Nomination Policy, which
establishes written guidelines to the Nomination Committee to
identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and make recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorships with reference to the
formulated criteria. The Board is ultimately responsible for
selection and appointment of new Directors.

The Board, through the delegation of its authority to the
Nomination Committee, has used its best efforts to ensure
that Directors appointed to the Board possess the relevant
background, experience and knowledge in business, finance
and management skills critical to the Group's business to
enable the Board to make sound and well considered decisions.
Collectively, they have competencies in areas which are relevant
and valuable to the Group.

Nomination Process

The Nomination Committee shall assess whether any vacancy
on the Board has been created or is expected on a regular basis
or as required.

The Nomination Committee utilises various methods for
identifying candidates, including recommendations from Board
members, management, and professional search firms. All
candidates, including incumbents and candidates nominated
by Shareholders are evaluated by the Nomination Committee
based upon the Director’s qualifications. While candidates will
be evaluated on the same criteria through review of resume,
personal interview and performance of background checks.
The Nomination Committee retains the discretion to establish
the relative weighting of such criteria, which may vary based
on the composition, skill sets, age, gender and experiences of
the collective Board rather than on the individual candidate
for the purpose of diversity perspectives appropriate to the
requirement of the Company’s businesses.
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Selection Criteria

The Nomination Committee will take into account a variety of
factors including without limitation to whether a candidate has
the qualifications, skills, experience and gender diversity that
add to and complement the range of skills, experience and
background of existing Directors by considering the highest
personal and professional ethics and integrity of the candidates,
proven achievement and competence in the nominee’s field
and the ability to exercise sound business judgment, skills
that are complementary to those of the existing Board, the
ability to assist and support management and make significant
contributions to the Company’s success and such other factors
as it may deem are in the best interests of the Company and
the Shareholders.

During the Year, Ms. Hu Zhaohui was appointed as a new
independent non-executive Director on 7 June 2023 by going
through the nomination process in accordance with the
Company’'s Board Diversity Policy and the Board Nomination
Policy.

The Company shall review and reassess the Board Nomination
Policy and its effectiveness on a regular basis or as required.

Board Diversity Policy

The composition of the Board is reviewed on an annual basis
by the Nomination Committee to ensure that the Board has the
appropriate mix of expertise and experience, and collectively
possesses the necessary core competence for informed
decision-making and effective functioning. The Company
adopted the Board Diversity Policy and recognises the benefits
of having diversity in the composition of the Board.

Measurable Objectives

The Company noted that people from different background
and with different professional and life experience are likely
to approach problems in different ways and accordingly,
members of the Board with diverse background will bring
different concerns and questions to the table, and allow the
Board to consider a wider range of options and solutions when
deciding on corporate issues and formulating policies for the
Group. In determining the Board’s composition and selection
of candidates to the Board, the Nomination Committee will
consider factors including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, industry knowledge and length of service.
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All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against the selection criteria,
having regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board, the
business model and specific needs of the Group. The ultimate
decision will be based on merit and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board.

Composition of the Diversified Board

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises five
Directors. The following table further illustrate the composition
and diversity of the Board in terms of age, length of service
with the Group, educational background and professional
experience as of the date of this annual report:

TxRERRS

Fﬁﬁ%%Aéﬁcﬂﬁﬁﬁ/\Fﬁ/\ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁll
BBREREZEBREAN MQJA%FEi%
@ﬁfc,%\ 713“2?‘?—:6:1 AEEEBEARA
BER - RBRREBRFEEMREAZE
BEREREZETRNAERME

EZntREZESE2HEMK
RAFRAH EEEhmAUEFTHEK-
TRE-FPHARAERAH EFSH
Fik RAKEZRGFEH BEEEER
EXERTEZAKRNMKEZTTERE

Age Group Length of Service Educational Background Professional Experience
FHE REEH 2E% SR8
lessthan ~ more than Accounting
Name of Directors 3510 50 over 50 5 years 5 years Science  Accountancy  Others Science  and Finance  Management
1.3 BHEE0E  SOEMLE  SEHNT  SEME Hg &it £ Mg EitRen EB
Mr. Xu Jianchun / / / / /
Mr. Liu Tien-Tsai / / / /
Elpk
Mr. Chai Chung Wai / / / / /
ERRAE
Dr. Yang Jingjing / / / /
BEERL
Ms. Hu Zhaohui (Note 1) v/ v/ / / /
HBEELL (W)
Note: P EE -
1. Ms. Hui Zhaohui was appointed as an independent non- 1. HEBLTR T _=F A tHEZ

executive Director on 7 June 2023.

The Nomination Committee believes that the current
composition of the Board demonstrates a thorough
consideration of the measurable objectives for achieving board
diversity.
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Currently, Board members have 4 male and 1 female. The
Board has achieved its goals to appoint Ms. Hu Zhaohui as
Board member as part of its effort to achieve diversity on the
Board level during the Year. The Nomination Committee will
continue to monitor and actively consider different aspects of
diversity in the boardroom, and recommend further actions or
plan to the Board when necessary.

For details of gender diversity at the workforce level, please
refer to the Group's published “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report 2023".

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL
OF DIRECTORS

Each of Mr. Chai Chung Wai, Mr. Sun Fei (resigned on 3 April
2023), Dr. Yang lJingjing and Ms. Hui Zhaohui (appointed on
7 June 2023), the independent non-executive Directors, have
been appointed for a specific term of three years.

According to the requirements of article 16.18 of the Articles
of Association, at every annual general meeting of the
Company one-third of the Directors for the time being, or,
if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the
number nearest to, but not less than, one-third, shall retire
from office by rotation provided that every Director (including
those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

All members of the Board are responsible for performing the
corporate governance functions set out in code provision
A.2.1 of the Code, which include reviewing the Company’s
corporate governance policies and practices, training and
continuous professional development of the Directors and
senior management, the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, and the
Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance Code
and disclosure in its Corporate Governance Report.

During the Year, the Board has reviewed and performed the
above corporate governance functions.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited was appointed as the External Auditor
of the Company. The External Auditor is primarily responsible
for providing audit services in connection with the annual
consolidated financial statements. During the Year, an analysis
of the total remuneration in respect of services provided by the
External Auditor, Crowe (HK) CPA Limited, is as follows:

A A S/
TEERMRE

% ST BN &

BELE(ZRB)QAMELEMERAR
EEZERAREZINEZEED - SMNE X
EMTIEAERHAMFEGSYBTERER
ZEBFTRY - NFE AR B INES 2 A B
BEEE(EB)STMEBMER QAR
HZREANZHESRBEIITAT :

RMB’000

ARSTR

Audit services FETR® 1,040
Other non-audit services including but E b IER AT AR

not limited to agree-upon-producers (BIEETENREERT) 253

DIRECTORS® AND AUDITOR'S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements for each financial period
which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Group and of the results and cash flows for the period. In
preparing the consolidated financial statements for the Year,
the Directors have selected appropriate accounting policies and
applied them consistently, made judgements and estimates
that are prudent, fair and reasonable and on a going concern
basis. The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for
preparing the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
Having made appropriate enquiries, the Board is not aware any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions which
may cast significant doubt over the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. It is the External Auditor’s responsibility to
form an independent opinion, based on their audit, on those
consolidated financial statements and to report their opinion
solely to the Shareholders, as a body, and for no other purpose.
They do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of the independent
auditor’s report. The statement of the External Auditor about
their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor's Report on
pages 85 to 95 of this annual report.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

#&L:

Mr. Chu Kin Ming (“Mr. Chu") was appointed as the Company
Secretary on 11 June 2019. Mr. Chu has taken no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training during the Year.

Biographical detail of Mr. Chu is set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of the Directors and Senior Management”
in this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CONTROL

INTERNAL

The Company has established the framework of risk
management and internal control below with a view to
adopting the Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the GEM
Listing Rules:

(a) The process used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks

The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks by the Group are summarised as follows:

Risk Identification — Identifies risks that may potentially
affect the Group’s business and operations.

Risk Assessment — (i) Assesses the risks identified by using
the assessment criteria developed by the management;
and (ii) Considers the impacts and consequences on the
business and the likelihood of their occurrence.

Risk Response — (i) Prioritises the risks by comparing the
results of the risk assessment; and (ii) Determines the risk
management strategies and internal control processes to
prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting — (i) Performs ongoing
and periodic monitoring of the risk and ensures that
appropriate internal control processes are in place; (ii)
Revises the risk management strategies and internal
control processes in case of any significant change of
situation; and (iii) Reports the results of risk monitoring
to the management and the Board regularly.
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(b)

(c)

(d)

Corporate Governance Report

The main features of the risk management and internal
control systems

Control procedures have been designed to: (i) safeguard
assets against misappropriation and disposition; (ii)
ensure compliance with relevant laws, rules and
regulations; (iii) ensure proper maintenance of accounting
records for provision of reliable financial information used
within the business or for publication; and (iv) to provide
reasonable assurance against material misstatement, loss
or fraud.

An acknowledgement by the Board that it is responsible
for the risk management and internal control systems
and reviewing their effectiveness. It should also explain
that such systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatements or losses

The Board is responsible for establishing and maintaining
the sound risk management and internal control
systems of the Company on an ongoing basis, as well as
reviewing and evaluating their design and effectiveness
at least annually. The Board oversees the overall risk
management of the Group, endeavours to identify
respective risks of major business segments, analyse
control impact of the identified risks and facilitate
implementation of coordinated mitigating measures. The
risk management and internal control systems of the
Company are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failures to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatements or losses.

The process used to review the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems and to resolve
material internal control defects

The Company has engaged an external internal
control adviser (the “Adviser”) with a view to facilitate
maintenance of the internal audit function carried out by
the Company. The Company has reviewed the prevailing
internal audit charter to ascertain the scope, duties,
responsibilities and reporting protocol of the internal
audit function.
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(d)
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The Adviser has assisted the Company in conducting
an annual risk assessment to identify significant risks
by strategic risks, operational risks, financial risks and
compliance risks of its major business segments. A three-
year internal audit plan was determined based upon
the results of risk assessment under the risk-based audit
approach.

#&L:

The Adviser has also assisted the Board and the Audit
Committee in performing an independent annual
review of the effectiveness and adequacy of the risk
management and internal control systems for the Year.
Such review is conducted annually according to the
three-year internal audit plan approved by the Audit
Committee. Findings and areas for improvement of
the review were reported by the management to the
Board and the Audit Committee. The Board and the
Audit Committee are of the view that there were no
material internal control defects noted for the Year. All
recommendations from the Adviser would be properly
followed up by the Group to ensure that they would be
implemented within a reasonable period of time. The
Board therefore considered that the risk management
and internal control systems are effective and adequate
for the Year.

The procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information

An information disclosure policy is in place to ensure
potential inside information being captured and
confidentiality of such information being maintained until
consistent and timely disclosure are made in accordance
with the GEM Listing Rules. The policy regulates the
handling and dissemination of inside information, which
includes: (i) designated reporting channels from different
operations informing any potential inside information
to designated departments; (ii) designated persons
and departments to determine further escalation and
disclosure as required; and (iii) designated persons
authorised to act as spokespersons and respond to
external enquiries.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to article 12.3 of the Articles of Association,
extraordinary general meetings of the Company (the “EGM(s)")
shall also be convened on the requisition of any two or
more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the
requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company having the right of voting at general meetings.
Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Directors or
the Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring an EGM
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition. If within twenty-one days of
such deposit the Directors fail to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) representing
more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them
may do so in the same manner, provided that such meeting
shall be held within three months from the date of deposit of
such requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s), as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for Shareholders to nominate a person
for election as a Director

Pursuant to article 16.4 of the Articles of Association, no
person shall, unless recommended by the Board, be eligible
for election to the office of Director at any general meeting
unless during the period, which shall be at least seven days,
commencing no earlier than the day after the despatch of
the notice of the meeting appointed for such election and
ending no later than seven days prior to the date of such
meeting, there has been given to the Company Secretary
notice in writing by a Shareholder (not being the person to
be proposed), entitled to attend and vote at the meeting for
which such notice is given, of his intention to propose such
person for election and also notice in writing signed by the
person to be proposed of his willingness to be elected.

The details of the Company’s procedures for Shareholders to
propose a person for election as a Director are set out in the
“Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election
as a Director” which is available on the Company’s website at
www.sinolifegroup.com.
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Procedures for Shareholders to put enquiries to the
Board

Shareholders may at any time make a request for the
Company’s information to the extent such information is
publicly available. Any such questions shall be first directed
to the Company Secretary at the Company’s head office and
principal place of business in Hong Kong or the Company’s
Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office.

Shareholders or investors can raise questions or provide
comments and suggestions to the Company through the
following means:

By post: 18/F, Ovest
77 Wing Lok Street
Sheung Wan
Hong Kong

By email: ir@sinolifegroup.com

Procedures for Shareholders to put forward
proposals at Shareholders’ meeting

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to make
proposals or move resolutions at the general meetings
under the memorandum of the Company and the Articles
of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands. However,
Shareholders are welcomed to put forward proposals relating
to the operations and management of the Group to be
discussed at Shareholders’ meetings. The proposals shall be
sent to the Company Secretary at the contact details as set
out in the paragraph headed “Procedures for Shareholders to
put enquiries to the Board” above by a written requisition.
Shareholders who wish to put forward a proposal should
convene an EGM by following the procedures set out in the
paragraphs headed “Procedures for Shareholders to convene
an extraordinary general meeting” above.
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DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS INSURANCE

Appropriate insurance covers on Directors’ and officers’
liabilities have been in force to protect the Directors and
officers of the Group from their risk exposure arising from the
business of the Group.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year, the Company proposed to amend the
existing memorandum and articles of association of Company
by adopting the M&A and such amendments were set out
in the circular of the Company dated 18 April 2023. Such
amendments to the M&A were approved by the Shareholders
at the annual general meeting held on 31 May 2023. The new
M&A is available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company.

VOTING BY POLL

Pursuant to Rule 17.47(4) of the GEM Listing Rules, any vote
of shareholders at a general meeting must be taken by poll
except where the Chairman, in good faith, decides to allow a
resolution which relates purely to a procedural or administrative
matter to be voted on by a show of hands.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION
WITH SHAREHOLDERS

To ensure effective communication between the Board and
the Shareholders, the Company has adopted a Shareholders’
communication policy (the “Communication Policy”). Under
the Communication Policy, the Company's information
shall be communicated to the Shareholders mainly through
general meetings, including annual general meetings, the
Group's financial reports (quarterly reports, half-yearly report
and annual report), its corporate communications and other
corporate publications on the Company's website and the
Stock Exchange’s website and meetings with investors and
analysts.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopted a policy on payment of dividends
(the “Dividend Policy”) in March 2019, which establishes an
appropriate procedure on declaring and recommending the
dividend payment of the Company.

The Company will declare and/or recommend the payment of
dividends to the Shareholders after considering the Company’s
ability to pay dividends, which will depend on a number of
factors, including but not limited to:

(i) the Group's actual and expected financial performance;

(i)  the Group’s expected working capital requirements,
capital expenditure requirements and future expansion
plans;

(iii) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Company and each of the members of the Group;

(iv)  the Group’s liquidity position;

(v)  the general economic conditions and other internal or
external factors that may have an impact on the business
or financial performance and position of the Group; and

(vi)  any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The Board has complete discretion on whether to pay a
dividend, subject to Shareholders’ approval, where applicable.
Even if the Board decides to recommend and pay dividends, the
form, frequency and amount will depend upon the operations
and earnings, capital requirements and surplus, general
financial condition, contractual restrictions and other factors
of and affecting the Group. The Board may also consider
declaring interim dividends from time to time.

The Company shall review and reassess the Dividend Policy and
its effectiveness on a regular basis or as required.
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Biographical Detalls of the Directors and Senior Management
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As the date of this annual report, the biographical information
of the Group’s Directors and senior management are as
follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Xu Jianchun (8¥8%F), aged 45, was appointed on
22 December 2017 as the Chairman of the Board. Mr. Xu
holds a doctorate degree in economics from Renmin University
of China. Mr. Xu has many years of investment experience in
the biotechnology sector. He has extensive experience in the
biotechnology investment and operation field.

Mr. Liu Tien-Tsai (2I#581), aged 66, was appointed on
24 February 2005. Mr. Liu is responsible for the overall
corporate strategies, planning, overall operational management
and business development of the Group. Mr. Liu is a director
of all subsidiaries of the Group (including Bau Shan Life
Science Technology Co., Ltd (BILAGRIERHBER A
al) (“Bau Shan”). Mr. Liu founded Bau Shan and became
its controlling shareholder in 1998, and has since then been
continuously expanding its management team. Mr. Liu is also
the team head of the funeral services deed team. Since the
Group’s establishment, Mr. Liu has played an active role in
training its team. Mr. Liu obtained certificates in Non-Profit
Making Organisation Management and Mortuary Science and
Funeral Service Management from Nanhua University (5%
AKE)in 2000 and 2001 respectively. Having over 10 years of
managerial, corporate and business experience, Mr. Liu began
his career in funeral business since 1998. Mr. Liu has been a
member of Japan Environmental Zhai Yuan Association ( B
KRIRZEFS0WE ), the National Funeral Director Association
of the United States and the FIAT-IFTA of Holland, and a
council member of Society of Chinese Funeral Education (#f
EREBZHEHEZLE) and Chinese Society of Life and Death
Studies (AR EAILEE) . Mr. Liu had also been a lecturer
holding seminars on the skills of being a ceremonial master
and cosmetology at the Continuing Education Centre, Ling
Tung College (£ R 1T 2Pt E(EEHEHE F0) in Taiwan.
Mr. Liu is currently an honorary member of the China Funeral
Association (FREI7EZE# & ) in the PRC.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chai Chung Wai (BB &), aged 57, was appointed
on 16 February 2009. Mr. Chai obtained his master degree
of Accounting from Jinan University on 6 January 2004 and
of business administration from the University of Manchester
in December 2006. Mr. Chai is a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, a fellow of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a Fellow
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales
and a Fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors. Mr. Chai
has extensive experience of over 20 years in the accounting
and financial field. Mr. Chai has been the company secretary of
Ping Shan Tea Group Limited. He is currently an independent
non-executive director of two companies listed on the Stock
Exchange, namely Kingkey Intelligence Culture Holdings Limited
(stock code: 550) and Shifang Holding Limited (stock code:
1831) and he was an independent non-executive director of
Sino Energy International Holdings Group Limited (a company
formerly listed in Hong Kong, stock code: 1096 and cancelled
listing on 15 December 2022) from February 2019 to August
2022. The Company has received an annual confirmation from
Mr. Chai of his independence pursuant to the Rule 5.09 of
GEM Listing Rules and is of the view that Mr. Chai remains
independent.
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Dr. YANG lJingjing (#5& %) , aged 41, was appointed on 4
March 2022. He obtained a master’s degree in finance from
University of Technology Sydney in Australia and a doctorate
degree in finance from Massey University in New Zealand. He
worked as a visiting researcher at City University of Hong Kong.
He is a professor, doctoral tutor, and deputy dean of the School
of Finance, Guangdong University of Foreign Studies, and has
been selected as a high-level financial specialist in Guangzhou.
Currently, he is mainly engaged in teaching and scientific
research in corporate finance and corporate governance. The
Company has received an annual confirmation from Dr. Yang
of his independence pursuant to the Rule 5.09 of GEM Listing
Rules and is of the view that Dr. Yang remains independent.

Ms. Hu Zhaohui, aged 56, graduated from Yangtze University
(formerly known as Jianghan Petroleum Institute (T & 7 h £
BT ) ) in the PRC in 1986 and obtained a bachelor’s degree in
engineering in 1990 with a major in geophysics, and graduated
from Huazhong University of Science and Technology in the
PRC in 1998 and obtained a master's degree in engineering
in 2002 with a major in mechanical engineering. She also
graduated from Wuhan University in the PRC in 2000 and
obtained a master’s degree in finance in 2003. She was an
engineer of Jianghan Machinery Research Institute of China
National Petroleum Corporation. She served as a teacher,
deputy director of the Department of Finance and an associate
professor of Guangdong University of Finance. She also
served as the deputy director of the postgraduate division
of Guangdong University of Finance. She also served as the
director of the Teaching Quality Monitoring and Evaluation
Center of Guangdong University of Finance. The Company
has received an annual confirmation from Ms. Hu of her
independence pursuant to the Rule 5.09 of GEM Listing Rules
and is of the view that Ms. Hu remains independent.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chu Kin Ming, aged 43, was appointed as the company
secretary of the Company on 1 June 2019. He is a fellow
member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
He is also a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, The Chartered Governance Institute and
The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute. Mr. Chu holds
a Bachelor of Arts degree in Accountancy from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University and he has extensive experiences in the
field of accounting and financial management.
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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of
Sino-Life Group Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries as the “Group”) is here to present the annual
report and the audited consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and the activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 40 to
the consolidated financial statements. There were no significant
changes in nature of Group’s principal activities during the
Year.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including
a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing
the Group and an indication of likely future developments
in the group’s business, can be found in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” set out on pages 7 to
26 of this annual report. This discussion forms part of this
report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

There are various risks and uncertainties including business
risks, operational risks, and financial risks that may have
different levels of impact on the Group’s financial performance,
operations, business as well as future prospects.

As the death care industry in the PRC, Taiwan and Vietnam
is originated from a long cultural history, it features a
geographically distinctive and traditional operation model.
The conventions of such industry are now facing challenging
innovation and the maturity of relevant regulations remains to
be seen while the world keeps progressing and updating. The
Group is adhered to the modernization reform of the death
care business across different geographical locations that the
Group has operations in so as to reduce the risk arising from
outdated regulations for the industry.

The death care industry, subject to the strict requirement of
relevant regulations imposed by the government, is a highly
regulated industry. There are strict restrictions on licenses and
land supply which pose risks and uncertainties on the Group's
business expansion.
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Requirements and restrictions still exist in the PRC on fund flow
under capital accounts, which may affect the Group’s flexibility
to make use of global funds to implement business expansion
and our ability to distribute dividends to foreign investors.

The Group is also exposed to certain financial risk, including
market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk, equity
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. Details of financial
risks are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements and the section headed “Principal Risks” under the
“Management Discussion and Analysis” to this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it operates.

In accordance with Rule 17.103 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange
(the "GEM Listing Rules”), the Company will publish an
environmental, social and governance report (“Environmental,
Social and Governance Report 2023") separately at the same
time as the publication of this annual report on the Stock
Exchange's website and the Company’s website in compliance
with the provisions set out in the ESG Reporting Guide in
Appendix 20 (currently referred to as Appendix C2) to the GEM
Listing Rules which was effective during the Year.

In compliance with the Rule 17.103 of the GEM Listing Rules,
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report 2023 will not
be provided in printed form. For Shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholder(s)”) who wish to receive a printed version of
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report 2023, please
send your request in writing to the principal place of business
of 18/F, Ovest, No. 77 Wing Lok Street, Sheung Wan, Hong
Kong.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

Save as disclosed in the section “Non-Compliance with
Provisions of the GEM Listing Rules” in the Corporate
Governance Report of this annual report, as far as the Board
is aware, the Group has complied in material respects with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the business and operation of the Group. During the Year,
there was no material breach of or non-compliance with the
applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

Directors’ Report
C RS S

PEHEARFHNESRBNATERE
LES AEFZELAKENBE2REDE
TEBBRENEGZERRMAMIEREE
DRI EEBES ©

AEETHESE THVHRR S8HEH5RE
R (BREREBRR MEXER BmERR
B) FEERREEBDESRAR - FHKER
HIFEN RS M RRMEISRAFR[E
BESmAOMIATEZRR] —&-

IRIEB R R R

AEBHENRBERESEMELENK
M HEER-

BRI ZFTGEM ET 48 Bl ([GEM E TR
BII1) 217,103 AR 7] #5 7 1 B 2 BT 48
Uh AR B E B AR F R AR R
BRAEEZGMAHGEM TR B &% — +
(RBANEC2) CGRE -HERERRE
Bol) BB XBITHERE CERE
BHE ([ ZE_=ZFRE L hERR
&)

REFGEMEM R BIE17.103{& » XA A
BrEeRH(CE_=FRE Hte ks
RERE) WEIRIAS o R A EI AR (AR 3R ])
MARER(CE_=ZFRE -ESKEAR
WE) WA BFHREDERTRAR
AIETELEMWE (BB LR KEHITR
Ovest 181&)

HTHERAZEERER

BRAFREFREORE [REEETGEMLE
MR G| —HAEEEN BEES
il AEBEREATEETHAEE X
BREEBEATENHBERIER R
REERN AEBEWEERERIKREET
ERARRIER

TEEGEEERAR —EZI=FEH

61



62

Directors’ Report
EE S e

RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS,
CUSTOMERS AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a
good relationship with its suppliers, customers and other
stakeholders to meet its immediate and long-term goals.

During the Year, there were no material and significant dispute
between the Group and its suppliers, customers and/or other
stakeholders. For details, please refer to the Group’s published
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report 2023".

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group’s loss for the Year is set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
on pages 96 and 97 and the state of affairs of the Group at
that date are set out in the consolidated statement of financial
position on pages 98 and 99.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend
for the Year (2022: Nil).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the aggregate amount
of turnover attributable to the Group’s five largest customers
represented less than 5% of the Group’s total turnover;
and the aggregate amount of purchases (not including the
purchases of items which are of a capital nature) attributable
to the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for 56% of the
purchases for the year and purchases from the largest supplier
included therein amounted to 20%.
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At no time during the Year, none of the Directors of the
Company or any of their associates or any shareholders (which,
to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of
the Company'’s issued share capital) had any material beneficial
interest in the Group's five largest customers and suppliers.

SEGMENT REPORTING

Details of segment reporting for the Year are set out in note
4 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the Year are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in investment properties of the Group
during the Year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company's share capital are set
out in note 32 to these consolidated financial statements.

142,500,000 ordinary shares of the Company were allotted
and issued on 11 August 2023. For details, please refer to “SPA
1" in the section headed “Connected Transactions” in this
annual report.
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Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and
of the Group during the Year are set out in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 100, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE

At 31 December 2023, the Company did not have distributable
reserve to shareholders.

DONATIONS

Charitable donations of approximately RMB148,000 (2022:
RMB38,000) was made by the Group during the Year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Xu Jianchun

Mr. Liu Tien-Tsai

Dr. Xu Qiang (Resigned on 31 August 2023)

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Chai Chung Wai

Mr. Sun Fei (Resigned on 3 April 2023)

Dr. Yang Jingjing

Ms. Hu Zhaohui (Appointed on 7 June 2023)

According to the requirements of article 16.2 of the articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”), the
Board shall have power from time to time and at any time to
appoint any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy
or as an addition to the Board. Any Director so appointed shall
hold office only until the next following annual general meeting
of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at
that meeting. Ms. Hu Zhaohui will retire in accordance with
article 16.2 of the Articles of Association, and, being eligible,
offer herself for re-election in the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company (the "AGM").
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According to the requirements of article 16.18 of the Articles
of Association, at each annual general meeting, one-third of
the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a
multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than
one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general
meeting at least once every three years. Mr. Xu Jianchun and
Mr. Chai Chung Wai will retire by rotation in accordance with
article 16.18 of the Article of Association, and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election in the forthcoming AGM.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

As at the date of this report, biographical details of the
Directors and senior management of the Group are set out on
pages from 57 to 59 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENT

Mr. Xu Jianchun (“Mr. Xu"), an executive Director, has entered
into a service agreement with the Company for a term of three
years commencing from 22 December 2017, which continues
thereafter until terminated by either party giving not less than
two months’ notice in writing to the other party.

Mr. Liu Tien-Tsai, an executive Director, has entered into a
service agreement with the Company for a term of three
years commencing from 9 September 2009, which continues
thereafter until terminated by either party giving not less than
three months’ notice in writing to the other party.

Mr. Chai Chung Wai, an independent non-executive Director,
has renewed his letter of appointment with the Company for
a term of three years commencing from 9 September 2021,
which can be terminated by either party giving not less than
one month’s notice in writing to the other party.

Dr. Yang Jingjing, an independent non-executive Director,
has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company
for a term of three years from 4 March 2022, which can be
terminated by either party giving not less than one month’s
notice in writing to the other party.

Ms. Hu Zhaohui, an independent non-executive Director, has
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a
term of three years from 7 June 2023, which can be terminated
by either party giving not less than one month's notice in
writing to the other party.
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None of the Directors, including those to be re-elected at
the forthcoming AGM, has a service agreement which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without the
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

EMOLUMENT POLICY

A remuneration committee is set up for reviewing the Group's
emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of the
Directors and senior management of the Group, having regard
to the Group’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market practices.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) to attract and retain the best available
personnel, to provide additional incentive to employees (full-
time and part-time), directors, advisors, consultants, service
providers, agents, customers, partners or joint-venture partners
of the of the Group and to promote the success of the business
of the Group.

For details of the Share Option Scheme, please refer to the
sub-section headed “Share Option Scheme” in the section
headed “Directors’ Report” below.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
EMPLOYEES WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five employees
with highest emoluments for the Year are set out in note 8 and
note 9 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

Sino-Life Group Limited Annual Report 2023

MECAEF(BEREEN TEBRRBEF A
E2NEENER ) RAAEEENN
BECEERERINBBERLT AR —
FAKIEORF -

it BN B 3R

ARRAERUFTHEZEE EHEERASR
B ERE @A RRE LA LR TS
BHR® RIAEENFHBRRAEH
EREENSNEEENFTHERE-

ARBIERABAEERT S ([FEREE])
DRRSIRGEZEBAR RAKELZ
BE (2B MERR) EF BR ZHA
RiGRERE KB TP AEBHAAE
CEBHRHBIRB LD AEEER
2RI e

ERBEREIFE B2HTXIES
WS AN [BREE D

ggﬁﬁﬁ%EﬁMﬁémm

RAFEEERAUGSHFHEEHE N
B RN AR A B SRR M 8 R MY &
9o



DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions
held by the Directors or chief executives of the Company had
any interests or short positions in the shares (the “Shares”),
underlying shares (the “Underlying Shares”) and debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO")), which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including any interests or short positions which they have
taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the
SFO), or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which
were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange, were as follows:

Aggregated long positions in the Shares and
Underlying Shares
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Mr. XU Jianchun (“Mr. Xu") - 220,475,000 144,126,984 364,601,984 41.20%
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1. Mr. Xu is interested in 220,475,000 Shares through his
controlling interests in Hong Kong Gaogqi Biological Technology
Company Limited (“HK Gaogqi”). Mr. Xu is interested in HK
Gaogi through his 25.55% direct beneficial interests and 9.78%
through Houp Bio-Technology Limited (“HBT Limited”), a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. HBT Limited
has two classes of shares, namely class A and class B, in which
shareholders of class A and class B have 30 votes and 1 vote
per share in the shareholders’ meeting respectively. Mr. Xu
holds 94.07% class A interests and Ms. Qiu Qi (EBE), the
spouse of Mr. Xu, holds 5.93% class A interests and 10.74%
class B interests in HBT Limited. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Xu is
taken to be interested in all the shares held by Ms. Qiu Qi, so
Mr. Xu collectively holds 86.78% of the total voting rights of
HBT Limited, and in turn is interested in 9.78% of HK Gaoqi.
Accordingly, Mr. Xu is deemed to be interested in all the Shares
held by HK Gaogi by virtue of SFO.

2. 144,126,984 conversion shares have been allotted and issued by
the Company to Shenzhen Nanyue Crown Block Bio Intelligent
Equipment Investment Co., Ltd.* CGRIITT R B RE AW E gL
HIREBRAF) (“"Nanyue CB") of the convertible bonds of
HK$18,160,000 upon exercise of the conversion rights attaching
to the Convertible Bonds at HK$0.126 per conversion share on
11 August 2023. Mr. Xu is interested in 144,126,984 conversion
shares through his controlling interests in Nanyue CB. Mr. Xu is
interested in Nanyue CB through his 71.25% direct beneficial
interests. Accordingly, Mr. Xu is deemed to be interested in all
the conversion shares held by Nanyue CB by virtue of SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the
Directors, chief executive of the Company or their respective
associates had any interests or short positions in the Shares,
Underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which will be required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests and short position which they are
taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the
SFO), or which will be required to be entered into the register
kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
minimum standards of dealing by directors of the Company as
referred to in Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

So far as the Directors are aware, as at 31 December 2023,
other than the Directors or chief executives of the Company
whose interests or short positions are disclosed under the
paragraph headed “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests
and Short Positions in the Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures of the Company or its Associated Corporations”
above, the following persons and corporations have interests or
short position in the Shares or Underlying Shares which has to
be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO, and who
were expected, directly or indirectly, to be interested in 5% or
more of the Shares is listed as follows:

Aggregate long positions in the Shares
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Number of pursuant to the share capital
Name of Shareholders Capacity/Nature of Interest Shares held  convertible bonds Total  of the Company
REBITRRES EAATERT
REEH 5/ EEHE FiRHBE FAHEEFERGEE @ REBHED
HK Gaoqi Beneficial Owner (Note 1) 220,475,000 - 220,475,000 24.91%
FEBE EnflEB A (1)
Ms. QIU Qi Interests of controlled corporation (Note 2) 220,475,000 = 220,475,000 24.91%
15y G REEEER (M2)
Mr. OU Yafei Beneficial Owner 147,864,000 - 147,864,000 16.71%
RGeS EmnlEBA
Nanyue CB Beneficial Owner - 144,126,984 144,126,984 16.29%
BHRAE ExBEEA (Note 3)
(Bt 7E3)
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Mr. Xu is the director of HK Gaogqi, which holds 24.91%
Shares, and the director of HBT Limited, which holds 9.78%
of equity interests in HK Gaogi. Mr. Xu is interested in HK
Gaogi through his 25.55% direct beneficial interests and
9.78% through HBT Limited. HBT Limited has two classes of
shares, namely class A and class B, in which shareholders of
class A and class B have 30 votes and 1 vote per share in the
shareholders’ meeting respectively, and Mr. Xu holds 94.07%
class A interests in HBT Limited and Ms. Qiu Qi, the spouse
of Mr. Xu, holds 5.93% class A interests and 10.74% class B
interests in HBT Limited. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Xu is taken
to be interested in all the shares held by Ms. Qiu Qi, so Mr.
Xu collectively holds 86.78% of the total voting rights of HBT
Limited, and in turn is interested in 9.78% of HK Gaoqi.

2. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Qiu Qi, the spouse of Mr. Xu, is
taken to be interested in all the shares held by Mr. Xu.

3. 144,126,984 conversion shares have been allotted and issued
by the Company to Nanyue CB of the convertible bonds
of HK$18,160,000 upon exercise of the conversion rights
attaching to the Convertible Bonds at HK$0.126 per conversion
share on 11 August 2023. Mr. Xu is interested in 144,126,984
conversion shares through his controlling interests in Nanyue
CB. Mr. Xu is interested in Nanyue CB through his 71.25%
direct beneficial interests. Accordingly, Mr. Xu is deemed to be
interested in all the conversion shares held by Nanyue CB by
virtue of SFO.

Save as disclosed above and the Directors’ interests as
disclosed in “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests in and
Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures
of the Company or its Associated Corporations”, no person
had interests in shares or short positions in the shares of
the Company or underlying shares which are required to be
recorded in the register to be kept by the Company pursuant
to section 336 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance as at
31 December 2023.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

As disclosed in the announcement (the “Announcement”)
dated 26 April 2023 and the circular (the “Circular”) dated
23 June 2023 of the Company with respect to the major
and connected transactions in relation to (i) acquisition of
20.25% equity interest in Zhongke Zhenhui involving issue of
convertible bonds under specific mandate; (ii) acquisition of
approximately 21.43% equity interest in Guangdong Zhenyuan
involving issue of consideration shares under specific mandate,
the Company has entered into the SPA | and the SPA Il on 26
April 2023. Capitalised terms used in this report shall bear the
same meanings as those defined in the Announcement and the
Circular unless the context requires otherwise.

On 26 April 2023, the Company and Zhongke Xunda, a
company established in the PRC, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into the SPA | with
Nanyue CB, a company established in the PRC. Pursuant to
the SPA |, Zhongke Xunda (as purchasers) agreed to acquire
from Nanyue CB (as vendor) the RMB16,200,000 paid-up
capital of Zhongke Zhenhui, a company established in the PRC
contributed by Nanyue CB, which is equivalent to 20.25%
of the equity interest in Zhongke Zhenhui at a consideration
of RMB15,930,000 (equivalent to HK$18,160,000), which
shall be satisfied by way of issue of the Convertible Bonds
in the principal amount of HK$18,160,000 to Nanyue CB or
its nominee(s) under the Specific Mandate | granted to the
Board at the EGM held on 12 July 2023 for the allotment and
issue of 187,000,000 Conversion Shares to the holders of
the Convertible Bonds upon exercise of the conversion rights
attaching to the Convertible Bonds at the Conversion Price.

As at the date of the SPA I, Nanyue CB is controlled as to
approximately 71.25% by Mr. Xu (together with his associates),
the chairman and an executive Director of the Company.
For more details, please refer to the Announcement and the
Circular.
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Save as the transactions disclosed in note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements, no transaction, arrangement
or contract that is significant in relation to the Group’s business
to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries, fellow
subsidiaries or parent company was a party and in which a
Director or his connected entity had, directly or indirectly, a
material interest subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time
during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Apart from the details as disclosed under the heading
“Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions
in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company
or its Associated Corporation” above, at no time during the
Year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries, or any of its
fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors or chief executives of the Company or their respective
associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) to have any
right to subscribe for securities of the Company or any of its
associated corporations as defined in the SFO or to acquire
benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Major and Connected Transactions in relation to (1) acquisition
of 20.25% Equity Interest in Zhongke Zhenhui (Guangdong)
Medical Technology Company Limited* (FRRIZZ (E R )&
BERIF AR A F]) involving Issue of Convertible Bonds under
Specific Mandate; and (2) acquisition of approximately 21.43%
Equity Interest in Guangdong Zhenyuan Investment Company
Limited* (ERZFRE&EBREFEAQF) involving Issue of
Consideration Shares under Specific Mandate.
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SPA |

On 26 April 2023, the Company and Zhongke Xunda
Biotechnology (Shenzhen) Company Limited* (F &l & 2 4
B ORI AR A E]) (“Zhongke Xunda”), a company
established in the PRC, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into a sale and purchase agreement
(the “SPA 1”) with Nanyue CB. Pursuant to the SPA I, Zhongke
Xunda (as purchasers) agreed to acquire from Nanyue CB
(as vendor) the RMB16,200,000 paid-up capital of Zhongke
Zhenhui (Guangdong) Medical Technology Company Limited*
(FRIZHZE (ER)EBEREARZAR) (“Zhongke Zhenhui”),
a company established in the PRC contributed by Nanyue
CB, which is equivalent to 20.25% of the equity interest
in Zhongke Zhenhui at a consideration of RMB15,930,000
(equivalent to HK$18,160,000), which shall be satisfied by
way of issue of the convertible bonds in the principal amount
of HK$18,160,000 (the “Convertible Bonds”) to Nanyue CB
or its nominee(s) under the specific mandate (the “Specific
Mandate 1”) to be granted by the independent shareholders
(being defined as “Shareholder(s) other than those who are
required under the GEM Listing Rules to abstain from voting
on the resolution(s) to be proposed at the EGM (as defined
below) to approve the SPA I, the SPA Il (as defined below) and
the transactions contemplated thereunder”) to the Board at
the EGM for the allotment and issue of 187,000,000 shares
of the Company (the “Conversion Shares”) (based on the
maximum number of Conversion Shares to be issued as a result
of any adjustments in the initial conversion price of HK$0.126
per Conversion Share (the “Conversion Price”) pursuant to
the terms of the Convertible Bonds) to the holders of the
Convertible Bonds upon exercise of the conversion rights
attaching to the Convertible Bonds at the Conversion Price.

Upon completion of the SPA I, Zhongke Zhenhui will be held as
to 71.25% by Zhongke Xunda and 28.75% by Nanyue CB. The
financial information of Zhongke Zhenhui will continue to be
consolidated into the consolidated financial statements of the
Group.

As at the date of the SPA I, Nanyue CB is controlled as to
approximately 71.25% by Mr. Xu (together with his associates),
the chairman and an executive Director of the Company, and
therefore a connected person of the Company. Accordingly,
pursuant to Rule 20.10 of the GEM Listing Rules, Nanyue CB
is an associate of a connected person of the Company and the
entering into of the SPA | constitutes a connected transaction
of the Company under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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SPA 1
On 26 April 2023, the Company and Zhongke Xunda entered

into a sale and purchase agreement (the “SPA I11”) with
Shenzhen Huaxin Times Investment Co., Ltd.* (VR

ERREEBRAQAF) ("Shenzhen Huaxin”), a company
established in the PRC. Pursuant to the SPA Il, Zhongke Xunda
(as purchasers) agreed to acquire from Shenzhen Huaxin (as
vendor) the RMB15,000,000 paid-up capital of Guangdong
Zhenyuan Investment Company Limited* (ERZERITEER
E{EA7]) ("Guangdong Zhenyuan”), a company established
in the PRC, contributed by Shenzhen Huaxin, which is
equivalent to approximately 21.43% of the equity interest in
Guangdong Zhenyuan at a consideration of RMB15,000,000
(equivalent to HK$17,100,000), which shall be satisfied by
way of the allotment and issue of 142,500,000 shares of the
Company (the “Consideration Shares”) to Shenzhen Huaxin
or its nominee(s) under the specific mandate (the "Specific
Mandate 1I”) to be granted by the Independent Shareholders
to the Board at the EGM for the allotment and issue of the
Consideration Shares.

As at the date of the SPA Il, Guangdong Zhenyuan, is
controlled as to approximately 42.86% by Shenzhen Huaxin
and approximately 57.14% by Zhongke Zhenhui, an indirect
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, and therefore,
Shenzhen Huaxin is a connected person of the Company.

Upon completion of the SPA Il, Guangdong Zhenyuan will
be held as to approximately 21.43% by Zhongke Xunda,
approximately 57.14% by Zhongke Zhenhui and approximately
21.43% by Shenzhen Huaxin. The financial information of
Guangdong Zhenyuan will continue to be consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

As at the date of the SPA Il, Guangdong Zhenyuan, is
controlled as to approximately 42.86% by Shenzhen Huaxin
and approximately 57.14% by Zhongke Zhenhui, an indirect
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. Accordingly,
pursuant to Rule 20.07 of the GEM Listing Rules, Shenzhen
Huaxin is a connected person of the Company and the entering
into of the SPA Il constitutes a connected transaction of the
Company under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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For details of the SPA | and the SPA Il, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 26 April 2023, 5 June
2023 and 15 June 2023 and the circular of the Company
dated 23 June 2023. An extraordinary general meeting of the
Company (the “EGM") has been held on 12 July 2023, and the
SPA I, the SPA Il and the transactions contemplated thereunder
have been approved by the Independent Shareholders. Up to
the date of this report, both the SPA | and the SPA Il have been
completed.

Details of related party transactions undertaken in the normal
course of business of the Group during the Year are set out in
note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, all other related party transactions
and balances did not constitute connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions of the Company under
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules which are required
to comply with any of the reporting, announcement or
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under the
GEM Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF THE
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company was entered into or existed during the Year.

Directors’ Report

L s
Eg?iggﬂim
EHEEDS - RERGE - OHE B

2UARFAAHAZT_=FWMA=-+<
A - —ZE-_=F~AAEE=-_ZT=_=ZFx
A+HEHEHMAEURARAGIBHRA T
ZEFARAZT=HMBER ARTER
ZEI=FEtATZHRTREENARE
(IRREFARg]) EEH=z— EEH
FEIREETRETCRZIEEBLIRRE
HE-BEAREBH EEHE—KE
EaE BT

AEBRAFELEREBBRETETNH
BARXRGZABHR G BB HRERM T
36 °

BEXFEEEIN RIBEGEM LM R AIE
“tTE-MBEREMBETRS REKH T
BRABTGEMEMARRMETHER A
=S R AL E R R A R A A BE R
SRGERERS -

i

E-HEREELHES

\\\\\\

m]ﬁ 4>+
><¥
ih\i
E
> m
U5y
_l
4>F
_m
© i
]
oy
R

X Hj%jﬁ%ﬁ@ﬂi Tfi’rﬂiﬁ”‘

\

EHEEW

RAFE BRARFBBREMEKRIT D
ERTERET LR GFEERERITHAA

]

TEEGEEERAR —EZI=FEH

75



76

Directors’ Report
EE S e

DIRECTORS' INTEREST IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

As disclosed in the announcement (the “Announcement”)
dated 13 September 2021 and the circular (the “Circular”)
dated 29 October 2021 of the Company with respect to (i)
the major and connected transaction in relation to the capital
increase in Zhongke Zhenhui; and (ii) the major transaction in
relation to the formation of the JV Company, the Company
has entered into the Capital Increase Agreement and the JV
Agreement on 13 September 2021. Capitalised terms used in
this report shall bear the same meanings as those defined in
the Announcement and the Circular unless the context requires
otherwise.

If the Capital Increase and the Formation of the JV Company
are crystalised, the Group through (i) the JV Company will
engage in equity and/or securities investment business; and
(ii) Zhongke Zhenhui engaged in technical development
and consultation services, investment activities and business
management consultation. The businesses of Nanyue AM
are mainly engaged in asset management, investment
management, equity investment and investment consulting
services through its private equity funds. Mr. Xu is a director
of Nanyue AM and, together with his associates, ultimately
owned as to approximately 71.25% equity interests of Nanyue
AM, therefore, Mr. Xu may be regarded as being interested in
the competing business with the business of the Group.

As the Company’s management and administrative structure
are independent to that of Nanyue AM, and coupled with the
diligence of the independent non-executive Directors and the
audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”), the
Group is capable of carrying its businesses independently on an
arm’s length basis.

For more details, please refer to the Announcement, the

Circular and the announcement dated 22 November 2021 of
the Company.
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Save as disclosed above, during the Year and up to the date
of this annual report, none of the Directors, the controlling
shareholders of the Company, or any of their respective close
associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) is interested in
a business apart from the Group’s business which competes or
is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with the businesses
of the Group, and is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
11.04 of the GEM Listing Rules.

BANK BORROWINGS AND CONVERTIBLE
BONDS

Particulars of bank borrowings and convertible bonds of the
Group as at 31 December 2023 are set out in note 28 and
note 29 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Particulars of the retirement schemes of the Group are set out
in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors a written annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules
and considers all the independent non-executive Directors are
independent.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING DIRECTORS’
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting than
the required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67
of the GEM Listing Rules. Specific enquiry has been made of all
the Directors and the Directors have confirmed that they had
complied with such code of conduct throughout the Year.

Specific employees who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished inside information of the Group are also subject to
compliance with the same code. No incident of non-compliance
was noted by the Company for the Year.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The old share option scheme, which was adopted by the
Company on 24 August 2009, was expired and there was no
outstanding share option. A new share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”) was adopted by the shareholders
of the Company at the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on 22 April 2021. The Share Option Scheme will
remain in force for a period of 10 years commencing from the
date of adoption of the Share Option Scheme from 22 April
2021 (the "Date of Adoption”) (that is from 22 April 2021 to
21 April 2031). The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is
to attract and retain the best available personnel, to provide
additional incentive to the participants and to promote the
success of the business of the Group. The participants include
any director, employee (full-time and part-time), advisor,
consultant, supplier, agent, customer, partner or joint-venture
partner of the Company or any subsidiary of the Company,
who, in the absolute discretion of the Board, has contributed
or may contribute to the Group so as to promote the success
of the business of the Group.

The Company may grant to eligible participants (including
any director, employee, advisor, consultant, supplier, agent,
customer, partner or joint-venture partner of the Company or
any subsidiary of the Company whom the Board considers, in
its sole discretion, have contributed or will contribute to the
Group) options to subscribe shares in the Company, subject
to a maximum of 10% of the total number of shares of the
Company in issue as at the Date of Adoption and as at the
approval date of refreshment from time to time, excluding for
this purpose shares issued on the exercise of options.

The subscription price for Shares under the Share Option
Scheme shall be determined at the absolute discretion of the
Directors but in any event will not be less than the highest of
(a) the closing price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange as
shown in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange
on the offer date of the particular option, which must be a
business day; (b) the average of the closing prices of the Shares
as shown in the daily quotations sheets of the Stock Exchange
for the five consecutive business days immediately preceding
the offer date of that particular option; and (c) the nominal
value of a Share on the offer date of the particular option.
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Upon acceptance of the options, the grantee of the Share
Option Scheme shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company as
consideration for the grant. The acceptance of an offer of the
grant of the option must be made within 10 days from the
date of offer. The exercise period of any option granted under
the Share Option Scheme is determined by the Board upon
granting the options but in any event must not be more than
10 years commencing on the date of grant. Unless determined
by the Directors otherwise, there is no minimum holding period
before the options can be exercised.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company shall not, in the absence of shareholders’ approval,
in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of shares
of the Company in issue as at the date of approval of the
Share Option Scheme. The Board may seek approval by the
shareholders of the Company at general meeting to refresh the
10% limit. However, the total number of shares available for
issue under exercise of options which may be granted under
the Share Option Scheme in these circumstances must not
exceed 10% of the total number of shares of the Company in
issue as at the date of approval of the refreshment of the 10%
limit.

The number of options available for grant under the Share
Option Scheme as at 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023
were both 48,294,000.

The total number of shares available for issue under the
Share Option Scheme is 74,250,000 Shares, representing
approximately 10% of the total number of Shares in issue
as at the date of passing of an ordinary resolution by the
Shareholders at the AGM to approve the adoption of the Share
Option Scheme. As at 31 December 2023, 48,294,000 Shares
were available for issue under the Share Option Scheme,
representing 6.50% of the Shares in issue as at the date of the
AGM passing of an ordinary resolution by the Shareholders to
approve the adoption of the Share Option Scheme, 5.46% of
the Shares in issue as at 31 December 2023 and as at the date
of this annual report.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company shall not exceed 30%
of the total number of shares of the Company in issue from
time to time and the maximum number of shares in respect of
which options may be granted to each eligible participant shall
not exceed 1% of the total number of shares of the Company
in issue for the time being in any 12-month period up to and
including the date of offer of the grant.

Directors’ Report
ERERE

RS &8 2 AR AR AR BRERA
[AARRAXH1.008 TERELRE -KH
BREZZHBANKEBHRI0A AR
A ERRBEBREFSRD < BREZTT
FEHREEFENREBRERETE HERME
AER T A ERER RS AMEF10F-
BRIESHAERE & RBREAETEA
Y EREFHA IR -

RERRRZ - RIEIERER S XA R FME
fa] B fth B AR T 8178 T 4% A 2 3P B8 AR 4
BITHERATRERITHRMDBEAE XTEB
BREREE 2 EBHAQRE ET
BN AEBENI0% EFS N EAS
MARARRESKFAZE10% LR T UE
Forim RxFEBRT  BIEEREE
AR B RERITERA TRITHRK
DU EBAENEETHRI0%LEEB
AKRNRBEITRMDBENI0% °

R-ZE-_=F—HA—BR-ZE-_=F+=
AR=+—H RIEERETS T HEHE TR
fi% ¥ 21 B 15 548,294,00017 ©

BIEERETI AT HBETHORMDEEE
74,250,000/ % 15 + #8 & AR R AR R A F
AE @B ERNERET SN L BER
FRAHEETRMALENN10% R =
E_=F+-A=+—8 REERESZ
A B 1T A B (D 8RB &48,294,0000% © 16 A%
RAERREF RS ERBHEFRMNERE
ATEM T EAZRAHE ETRMA6.50%
WE =+ _-_A=+—HRAFER
BHIE &7 (KD H5.46% °

AR 5 BB IR A 5T B I AN A BT ] H A BE %
BETEAIRENBEREZRODHEEZRZT
BHBETHBZARNABBETRDESH Z
30% AptAlMERAERLEERLD
BREZBROBERZITSHBEHRREEZR
AR (BEZB) 2 E 1288 SEA
NAIEREBITROHBE 21% °

TEEGEEERAR —EZI=FEH




Directors’ Report
EE S e

The Share Option Scheme does not set out any performance
targets that must be achieved before the share options may be
exercised. However, the Board may at its sole discretion specify,
as part of the terms and conditions of any share option, such
performance conditions that must be satisfied before the share
option can be exercised.

The period during which a share option may be exercised is
determined and notified by the Board to each grantee at the
time of making an offer for the grant of the share option and
such period shall not expire later than ten years from the date
of grant of the share option.

Details of the share options movements during the Year under
the Share Option Scheme are as follows:

Bt B EE DI BEAAER TITEA L
BEBRNEMNKRREBZ AWM EREM
BREGRLGHAN MO EFE02
REBRIRITEBRENBAEERNRE
{1 ©

BREN TTREZHARHETSMNMELER
HEREZENREERMAGSARA
BB A EENR L BRER LS+
FEime

WS HER BB TR A F 2B 2 3
BT

Number of share options

BREHE
Closing price
immediately
preceding the
Date of Exercise date of grant Balance Lapsed Balance
Name or category of grant of Price Exercise Vesting (Note 1) as at during as at
grantees share options  (HKS) Period Period (HKS) 1/1/2023 the Year 31/12/2023
FRIEH B M6 I I
ZkHE Z¥==f ot ¥
RibERE TEE (Mz1) —A—BH R&EE +=A=+-8
REAEZHER B (Ex)  {TEHE EEHRE (#7) < KH ke
Directors:
BE:
Dr. XU Qiang (resigned on 19/5/2022 0.137 19/5/2022-18/5/2032 N/A 0.137 3,712,000 (3,712,000) -
31 August 2023)
BuBL(R-FB-=F -—B--F ZZ-_FRAthE  TEA
NAZ+—HEHE) RATHE ZZZ=-FRATNH
Mr. SUN Fei (resigned on 19/5/2022 0.137 19/5/2022-18/5/2032 N/A 0.137 3,712,000 (3,712,000) -
3 April 2023)
BREE(R-T-=F =—T-=f “E-ZfRAATAE THA
mAZHET) EA+NAB Z-Z=_FRATNR
Other eligible participants:
Ht&E®EEE:
Employee 19/5/2022 0.137 19/5/2022-18/5/2032 N/A 0.137 3,700,000 - 3,700,000
E& St “E-ZfREATAE  THA
TA+NRB Z-Z-_FRATNR
Business partners (Note 2) 19/5/2022 0.137 19/5/2022-18/5/2032 N/A 0.137 14,832,000 - 14,832,000
EBAEBH (M52) —E-CF ZZ-_FRA+HRA  TEA
TA+IE E-Z=-4RATNH
Total 25,956,000 (7,424,000) 18,532,000
it
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Notes:

1. Being the higher of the closing price of the Shares quoted on
the Stock Exchange on the trading day immediately prior to the
date of grant of the share options; and the average closing price
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of
grant.

2. The share options have been granted to 2 business partners on
19 May 2022 and each of them holds 7,416,000 share options.

During the Year, 7,424,000 share options were lapsed and no
share options were granted, exercised or cancelled during the
Year.

Further details of Share Options Scheme were set out in note
42 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public as
at the date of this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles of Association and the laws of Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata
basis to existing Shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Particulars of the Company's corporate governance practices
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages
27 to 56 of this annual report.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM for 2024 will be held on 21 June 2024 (the “2024
AGM"). A notice of meeting together with the circular for
the 2024 AGM will be despatched to the shareholders of the
Company according to the Articles of Association and the GEM
Listing Rules.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
18 June 2024, to 21 June 2024, (both days inclusive), during
which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In
order to qualify for attending at the 2024 AGM, all transfer
documents, accompanied by the relevant share certificates,
must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and
transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited at
17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong
for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 17 June 2024.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the Year, a permitted indemnity provision that meets
the requirements specified in section 469(2) of the Companies
Ordinance for the benefit of the Directors is in force.

The Articles of Association provides that the Directors shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits
of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which they shall or may incur
or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or
omitted in or about the execution of their duty; provided that
this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of any
fraud or dishonesty by any of the Directors.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of legal action against its Directors and officers during
the Year and the indemnity provision and Directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance remains in force as of the date of
this annual report.
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CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS EEEHEH

The changes in Directors’ information during the Year and up RAFEREBEAFHRBH EFERH
to the date of this annual report, as required to be disclosed 2 ®) (1215 GEM £ #8 B 5 17.50A1) 1§ BT
pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules, are set ZESRK#FE ) H a0k :

out below:

Name of Directors

ESHS

Details of Changes

Mr. SUN Fei
EmEE

Mr. CHAI Chung Wai
)=1/LA1 %E

Ms. HU Zhaohui
HABARE 22 +

Dr. XU Qiang
Rt

Resigned as an independent non-executive Director, the chairman and
a member of Audit Committee and a member of each of nomination
committee (the “Nomination Committee”) and remuneration
committee of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) on 3
April 2023.

RZEZ=FHNA=-HBEBLINTES ERZESETREKE
UEARFIREZES ([BERZEE] ) RFMEZEES ([FWEEE])

BELZEBGKE-

Appointed as the chairman of Audit Committee on 3 April 2023.
RIE_=FNA=REZERERZEGIF-

Retired as the chairman of Remuneration Committee but remained a
member of the Remuneration Committee on 7 June 2023.
RZB_=FRALBEREFMHNEE SR HEBETIFHEES
Appointed as an independent non-executive director, the chairman
of the audit committee and a member of each of the nomination
committee and the remuneration committee of ShiFang Holding
Limited (a company listed in Hong Kong, stock code: 1831) on 30 June
2023.
EA_7 —=FRNA=ZTHEZERTHERABRAR (—REFBE LT
RE RO 1831 MBI IERITES BEREEG LI EARRES
ZEEGRFMEEEREEGKE -
Appointed as an independent non-executive director, the chairman of
each of the audit committee and the remuneration committee and a
member of the nomination committee of Kingkey Intelligence Culture
Holdings Limited (a company listed in Hong Kong, stock code: 550) on
24 September 2023.
RIB_=ZFAA-_THRABEZERAREEELERERA A (—
MEELTRR ROAKRE S50 MNBUNTES EREES
FMEEEREEGFRURREBEEEKE

Appointed as an independent non-executive Director, the chairman
and a member of Remuneration Committee and a member of each of
Nomination Committee and Audit Committee on 7 June 2023.
RZEZ=FAA+LtREZAERBIFANITES FTHNEESEERK
MENRRELZE SR ERLZEESEZEGKE -

Resigned as an executive Director and chief executive officer of the
Company on 31 August 2023.
RIBEZ=F ) \A=+—H#HEARRAPTEETRERHRITE

~

TEEGEBARARN —FES=FFRH

83



Directors’ Report
EE S e

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of
the Group for the past five financial years, as extracted from
the audited consolidated financial statements, is set out on
page 272 of this annual report. This summary does not form
part of the audited financial statements.

REVIEW BY AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the Year have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.
The Audit Committee is of the opinion that the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the Year comply with
applicable reporting standards, GEM Listing Rules, and that
adequate disclosures have been made.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Year have been
audited by Crowe (HK) CPA Limited, who will retire at the end
of the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of
Crowe (HK) CPA Limited as auditor of the Company is to be
proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Xu Jianchun
Chairman and Executive Director

27 March 2024
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Independent Auditor's Report

A\ Crowe

To the shareholders of
Sino-Life Group Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Sino-Life Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
96 to 271, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2023, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting information and other explanatory
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

T8 N A% BLAD 3 &

BEEEE (B8) SEtMEBMERAS
Crowe (HK) CPA Limited

& RS ISRET7R 1SER 08
9/F Leighton Centre,

77 Leighton Road,

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

BPEEGRERRAE
Rz 3R

(REJEEBZMA L HRAA)
BR

RZHEMD BT F6R27EME T E A
HEBEERAR([EARA)EKENB AR
Al(EIEEE]) ZHRAMBRER I
REVBRREER_ZT_=F+_A
St -HNRAMBARER BEZA L
FENGFABaEMEZEKER HE
BRaZ2PHRNGERTRER UNRZKF
RAMBBRNOME BREASHER
K E AR IE A FY o

AZBMAR ZEEAVBERRERE
ARG AG([EESMA®])RR
MM EBTBEREER ([FEHBR
SEADEEMAFHRR SEER -
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T8 N A% BLAD R
BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis of our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.
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Key audit matter

PSS EIE

T8 N A% BLAD 3 &

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BT RS FIRETRE

Valuation of freehold land and buildings and investment properties

KAXELIHREFURREVENEE

We identified the valuation of freehold land and
buildings and investment properties as a key audit
matter due to the inherent level of subjective
judgements and estimates required in determining the
fair values.

BMERKAERLI M REFURKRENENEES
BRESFTHEENEECLATER I RESN ZH M
i N Al 5t e

As disclosed in Notes 14 and 16 to the consolidated
financial statements, the carrying amounts of freehold
land and buildings and investment properties were
approximately RMB28,958,000 and RMB5,245,000
as at 31 December 2023 respectively. During the
year ended 31 December 2023, a revaluation surplus
on freehold land and buildings of approximately
RMB1,430,000 was recognised in other comprehensive
income, and a fair value loss on investment properties
of approximately RMB1,081,000 was recognised in
profit or loss.

BB EHBREMFI4RIHTERE KT ==
FTZA=+—RH kAXEIHEBFURKEY
EWEREED AN AAKR28,958,0007T & A K&
5,245,000 - HE-_Z-_=F+-_A=+—HLF
B KAZELIHWERBFIEFHERKOARK
1,430,0007C A H At 2 H W s FERR - MIREWMEZ A F
BEEELH ARM1,081,0007T R B ER

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of
freehold land and buildings and investment
properties included:
BPAEBIEKARELIHREBTRRENEZE
FrEfE:

o Obtaining an understanding of the
management’s valuation processes and
significant assumptions to assess if these
approaches are in compliance with the
requirements of HKFRSs and industry norms;

. THREEENMEERFREARRK  AFHE
ZENAEARBNEBBYBRELERMITE
R ERK

o Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the Valuer and obtaining an
understanding of the Valuer's scope of work
and their terms of engagement;

o FMEEEMZER BEHORFTEHIE AT HEMG
BERME TIEHE KRB HK:

o Obtaining the detailed work of the Valuer to
evaluate the accuracy and relevance of key
inputs used in the valuation;

e EREEMMNII{EFE ATEGKEMRBE
ABIE 2 WM R AR M

o Evaluating and challenging the reasonableness
and the appropriateness of the valuation
methods used and the key assumptions
applied based on our knowledge of the
property markets; and

. REEEHMETISH T HERFTERE R
ERANEETERMERNEIERKNEGE
MRa@EE: &

o Assessing the reasonableness of the key inputs
and assumptions, including property-specific
adjusting rate and unit sale rate, by comparing
these estimates to entity-specific information
and market data based on our knowledge of
the property markets.

e REEFHYUETSNTH FBAKREFM
STEERBETEMRTISEEMEL Ui
BREABBERBRR(BEMERETHEX
REBUEB)NAEME-

TEEGEEERAR —EZI=FEH
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Y& ST iz B AN ¥R

Key audit matter (Continued) How our audit addressed the key audit matter
(Continued)
FAREEIE(E) FMeEt iU HFARESEEETEE (8§)

Valuation of freehold land and buildings and investment properties (Continued)

KAKELIHRIEFLURBEMENEE (K)

As disclosed in Notes 2(g) and 2(f) to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group's freehold land and
buildings and investment properties are stated at
fair value based on the valuations performed by
an independent qualified professional valuer (the
“Valuer”). Details of the valuation techniques and
key inputs used in the valuations of freehold land and
buildings, and investment properties are disclosed
in Notes 14 and 16 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

MansrRE M mE M 20 R2(PREE - EEREKA
XL REFRREMETIRBE LS ERMEERD
([MEEE])ETHEERQTEINR B KA ERE
T REFREEMEGEMANGETERARE
ABIEZ HBEDRRERGE M BERERMT14516 -

The valuations have been arrived at using direct
comparison method, which are dependent on certain
key inputs and assumptions in respect of prevailing
market conditions such as property-specific adjusting
rate and unit sale rate.
ZEMENEAEEZELBURER AEUAR AT
MRZETEAREABIERRER (NYERTHEE
REARAEE) -
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Key audit matter (Continued)
FAEENEIE (F)

Valuation of convertible bonds

o] #f iz fR 55 80 5 B

We identified the valuation of the convertible bonds
issued by the Group, which was designated as at fair
value through profit or loss, as a key audit matter
because the valuation model is sensitive to changes in
certain key inputs including volatility of share prices
that require significant management estimates.
HPHER EEEZETARERRATFEFFARSE
ZHBMRESNEER/SBRBETEFERE WHIHHRNME
EEAHERERIFHERERMGicE THREA
ABE (BEREKE) 228K

As disclosed in Note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements, the carrying amount of convertible
bonds was approximately RMB14,313,000 as at 31
December 2023. During the year ended 31 December
2023, a gain on fair value change of approximately
RMB3,519,000 was recognised in profit or loss and
a loss on fair value change attributable to change in
credit risk of approximately RMB27,000 was recognised
in other comprehensive income.
HMGEMBREMA29MBRE - TR RESFR
R C=FFTZAZT—BZEREENRARE
14,313,000t REBEE =T -_=F+=-A=+—H
HFEE A FEZEHWHELHARK3519,000T R B
AAERLREERREHER I A TEEHERLY
AR¥27,000c R EM 2 E U ARER
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
(Continued)
BRI BT HFARE EHETRE (§)

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of
convertible bonds included:

BHERFAARRESZEFERE:

o Obtaining an understanding of the
management’s valuation processes and
significant assumptions to assess if these
approaches are in compliance with the
requirements of HKFRSs and industry norms;

. THREEENGHERFRERRR  AFHE
ZENEREBNEERVBREERMITE
ERIEKR:

o Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the Valuer and obtaining an
understanding of the Valuer's scope of work
and their terms of engagement;

. THEEMCER BEIRTHME X TH
EERT A TIEEEE R R R

o Obtaining the detailed work of the Valuer to
evaluate the accuracy and relevancy of key
inputs used in the valuation;

. EREERMS TEFE U EEEMHE@
ANBIE 2 R R AEAMN

o Evaluating and challenging the reasonableness
and the appropriateness of the valuation
methods used and the key assumptions
applied based on our knowledge; and

e BEEFNTERIGENEAMERNMGE
TERMEANEZERRNGEMEREEE
P54

o Assessing the reasonableness of the key inputs
and assumptions, including volatility of share
price based on our knowledge.

e WREEZNTH HHEREASERRR
(BERERE)NESEME-

]
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N2 SR ¥R S
Key audit matter (Continued)

FAgETEIE (&)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets
attributable to the cash-generating unit (the
"CGU") of funeral services in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC")

pEANRLHME ([PE])BERERRBORSEESM
(MReEELEN])ELEYE - BREREHE ERAES
ERBMEERE

We identified the impairment of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
attributable to the CGU of funeral services in the
PRC as a key audit matter because of the significant
estimate involved in assessing the amount of
impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets (collectively the “Non-
Financial Assets”).
ERTEVE - BELARE CAREENREVEE
(B IEMBEE]) ZRESRYSREANMT &
MEATEBRERENRcELELREYE K
FhitE ETRAREERBEVEERERBRE
EIHe

As disclosed in Notes 14, 15 and 17 to the
consolidated financial statements, the carrying
amounts of property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and intangible assets were approximately
RMB32,601,000, RMB19,088,000 and RMB292,000
respectively, of which approximately RMB5,603,000,
RMB18,872,000 and RMB289,000 were attributable to
the CGU of funeral services in the PRC.

B E B REM T4 15RITAIBEE W%
BEERE EAREEREVEEZREED A
R/ AR32,601,0007T - AK%19,088,0007T &
AR ®292,0007T £ AK%5,603,0007T - AR
18,872,0007T &z A R#289,0007T (5 F B 7 1 AR 75 1)
ReELEBEMLER-
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
(Continued)
B ET A HEAREFHETER (8)

Our procedures in relation to the impairment of
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets attributable to the CGU of
funeral services in the PRC included:
BMBEETAPEBRERENRCELEELEED
¥ BELREB CAREERBEREEREZRE
FFetE:

Understanding, evaluating and validating
management’s internal control and assessment
process of impairment assessment of Non-
Financial Assets and assessing the inherent risk
of misstatement by considering the degree
of estimation uncertainty and level of other
inherent risk factors;

TR AEERREEREERFVEEERE
A AR EE R EEE  WERERML
SATAMERECREMAEMERRAREERZ
K SRR R IR 2 B A R

Assessing the appropriateness of the
methodologies used for the impairment
assessment;

AR ERGEERTEZRE T

Comparing the cash flow forecasts to financial
budgets approved by management and
assessing the reasonableness of the forecasts
and budgets by comparing them against
business plans and historical information,
where relevant;

bR enERAREREHEHHKEE
WEBLBEMEREBTERELER (B
HE)  FIREAREE SR
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Key audit matter (Continued) How our audit addressed the key audit matter
(Continued)
FAEENEIE (F) FMEH T HEARENEEETEE (4)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets
attributable to the cash-generating unit (the
"CGU") of funeral services in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC") (Continued)

pEARLEMNE ([PEHI)BERRBORSEESM
(MREELBEMN])EEYE BREREH ERES

EREREERE(H)

Management performed assessment at the end of e Challenging management’s assumptions used
each reporting period to consider whether there in the forecasts by comparing the length
is any indication that the Non-Financial Assets of projection period against the relevant
may be impaired. The recoverable amounts of the supporting evidence including business
Non-Financial Assets are assessed by value-in-use plans and financial budgets; evaluating the
calculations which are based on future discounted cash revenue growth rates by considering the
flows on a CGU basis. business plans, historical trends and current
EEERSWMERRETTH UZEIFMBEE market conditions, our industry knowledge,
ELAFEAMBEDRR - FFEEEZ AT RO € E and economic growth forecasts, where
BB EFHERETGE ZAEEARBREELE relevant; and assessing the discount rates by
BALZRRKRBBEERE - benchmarking against the discount rates for

comparable companies; and
Significant estimates are required to determine the o FRERBAPREEBAFHER (BFE%

recoverable amounts of the Non-Financial Assets, BBl KM HMEE) EREREERAME
based on value-in-use calculations of the estimated AzBR FREREBE BELBE R
future cash flows of the relevant CGUs, using RO AT 3 AR R A8 18 = TR
appropriate key assumptions including length of the (BB THRRERE WARTEERA
projection period, revenue growth rates and discount Al MR R R E A WA RETTE K
rates.

EAREERCELESUZHARRRERETELE o Evaluating the sensitivity analyses performed
AEBERECHWBEE2IKESEREELE by management around the key assumptions
AEFH Y HRABENBERBRE (2FEEDER - I applied to the value-in-use calculations in
HEEERRBIRE) o order to assess the potential impact of a range

of possible outcomes.
Based on the results of management’s impairment e AEEEEYEARCABEAEZEER
assessment, no impairment loss has been recognised RETZHBREDN  LATE— R A4
on the Non-Financial Assets attributable to the CGU R2BETE-
of funeral services in the PRC for the year ended 31
December 2023.
BEEBEEZRETGRER THBERBENES
ErBURGIFVBEEERSEEZE_T_=F+-A
=St+—BILEFETEBRRERS-
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T8 N A% BLAD R
OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Sino-Life Group Limited Annual Report 2023
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

T8 N A% BLAD 3 &

HEMNGEUBRER
BEE(H)

i =
& i

=
e

S

REEGAEYBRRE - EFAFF
fh BESEBENFEEELENREN YA
ERBEATRERSEEEGRNER
URERBECENGTER HESH
B BEEEBRIELLE AN
SMRIEE M B BR B9 B T R AIRSN

REFAREE EEEMBELRE
BEHMHGESMBRRMOELT
BfE

AZBMNERAEEREERGAMB
BREL TN FEBNRFFRERMEHD
BEAHERBRA - WAR IR 9 5 B T B R SK
Zrm MTERLAHEARBMERN
BN RS - B & E A B A o N4 BED
TERABENATREMEMALTE £
HEBEAEE-AEZIEREBKFNZ
EEYTRIBRR(EBEER) £
TV ET BRI FEMNE AR -
HEAR PR AT A B EKFE SRR AR B - IR A
ERAABEERRL (AR E®
EERERBEZSE AV BRRAMIELD
ROEORTE - R RS R BRI 1R AR R E K58
AR R -

ERE (BEEFEL) ETEFHNER
FoAZHBMEHEHERHE ARFE
FIRELREE o AN BAD T :
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE REHHESHBRRMWB
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL &S (&)

94

STATEMENTS (Continued)

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

Sino-Life Group Limited Annual Report 2023
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits
of such communication.

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 27 March 2024

Chan Wing Fai
Practising Certificate Number P07327

T8 N A% BLAD 3 &
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Consolidated Stat emen tof Profit or Loss and O her Comprehensive Income

= N/
AeBmkEMEE WS
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE
2023 2022
—Eg-= —E-F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Mzx  AR®TXT AREFT
Revenue [ gd 4 72,570 77,969
Cost of sales and services rendered $HE MARTF A A (39,089) (38,169)
Gross profit EH 33,481 39,800
Fair value loss on investment wEME 2 ATE
properties E518 16 (1,081) (1,231)
Fair value (loss)/gain on financial BATEFAER
assets measured at fair value ([BAFEFAERE])
through profit or loss (“FVTPL") Ef%Zﬂﬂ%iéEZ
RNTE(EB) W 19 (4,226) 690
Fair value gain on convertible EEREATETA
bonds designated at FVTPL BmsoBRESF
SRR € 29 3,519 -
Other income and other net gains Ha g AR EAM Yz 558 5 2,571 3,007
Selling expenses HEMX (2,122) (1,941)
Administrative expenses THAX (41,044) (31,991)
Reversal of impairment losses B 5 N E A R W IR 2
recognised under expected BHEEER
credit loss (“ECL") model on ([TBEAEERE])
trade and other receivables, net BERIET 2 B #R
5}%)2@%%%@%5%%& 6(d) 2,841 1,404
Other operating expenses H &> (201) (489)
Gain on disposal of associates B E AR 2 W 18 - 500
(Loss)/profit from operations W (EE),mF (6,262) 9,749
Finance costs b & A 6(a) (1,681) (1,861)
(Loss)/profit before taxation Br¥iml (E518) it Fl 6 (7,943) 7,888
Income tax expense FriSfim X 7 (2,143) (7,262)
(Loss)/profit for the year £E (B5E) iiF (10,086) 626
Other comprehensive income/ Hiv 2wk (FIX)
(expense)
Items that will not be reclassified to  # T8 EH 7 EE18a H
profit or loss: HH :
Surplus/(deficit) on revaluation of KAEELTHREFZ
freehold land and buildings sEE% (B 140 1,430 (911)
Exchange differences arising on BREFME4AZER
translation =% 1,385 5,607
Fair value loss on convertible EERBEEHETIET
bonds designated at FVTPL BN ERG AER
attributable to change in Z—Hﬁﬂxf B2
credit risk N EEE 29 (27) -
2,788 4,696
Item that may be reclassified Bt EF DHE
subsequently to profit or loss: BaaEA -
Exchange differences arising on REBINEBEE
translation of foreign operations BN ERE 3,013 (8,393)
Other comprehensive income/ FERGEZEWE
(expense) for the year, (FAZ) (JORRFABH)
net of income tax 10 5,801 (3,697)
Total comprehensive expense FEE2EMAXER
for the year, net of income tax (0BRFRSHL) (4,285) (3,071)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Otner Comprenensive Income

| /_\ a N/ ‘@/ 7\ J‘IQ \ /
MeEEmMEMEE WS
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE
2023 2022
—EC-=H —ET_=
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AREBTR AR®ETTT
(Loss)/profit for the year LUTALTEGEEE
attributable to: (B548) i@ #
Owners of the Company PINNETEF =N (7,173) (847)
Non-controlling interests FEER = (2,913) 1,473
(10,086) 626
Total comprehensive (expense)/ K TATEEEZE
income attributable to: (F%) Waiz48%E
Owners of the Company ViN/NCIE =N (2,354) (3,290)
Non-controlling interests PR = (1,931) 219
(4,285) (3,071)
Loss per share BiREE 11
Basic HAK RMB(0.90) cents RMB(0.11) cents
AR %(0.90)5 AR%B0.11)0
Diluted i RMB(1.24) cents RMB(0.11) cents
ARE(1.24)% AREOQ1N)D

The notes on pages 104 to 271 form part of these consolidated
financial statements.

FI04EE2TMAEZMERZTHE A B ER
KZ—Hb7D o
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e M IR R

As at 31 December 2023 AT -_=F+_-HA=+—H

2023 2022
—Eg-= —E-F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
MFE ARETX AREF T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERENEE
Property, plant and equipment Y- WERZE 14 32,601 31,588
Right-of-use assets FTREESE 15 19,088 22,918
Investment properties KEWHE 16 5,245 6,132
Intangible assets ELEE 17 292 1,158
Interest in an associate R—EEE L TNER 18 = =
Goodwill EES 20 - =
Other receivables and deposits paid £ i i€ Y 718 K2
[RENE & 23 466 915
Deposits for hire of funeral parlours 78 F 78 5 85 M 7 %
and funeral services centres RiGHF L ZIES 23 927 1,000
58,619 63,711
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Financial assets measured ERAFEFABRE
at FVTPL 2B EE 19 48,495 58,777
Development and formation costs % & ik 37 pk /K 21 5,107 4,657
Inventories FE 22 1,199 1,617
Trade and other receivables B 5 & E A U A K
and deposits paid [RENE & 23 33,268 34,201
Income tax recoverable AT E TSR 30(a) — 14
Time deposits with original R E| BAR I R 3B = (8 A
maturity over three months B E B 1FE K 24(b) = 9,334
Cash and cash equivalents BeNREEEY 24(a) 125,019 112,477
213,088 221,077
CURRENT LIABILITIES REIBE
Trade and other payables B 5 R EMERNKIE R
and deposits received Bt 25 11,817 12,971
Contract liabilities aHaE 26 91,096 89,660
Lease liabilities HEAE 27 5,399 4,757
Bank borrowings RITEE 28 1,275 1,198
Income tax liabilities Fefia’E 30(a) 3,758 5,056
Amounts due to directors ERZEE 28 36(e) 4,681 2,756
Amount due to a shareholder N — B R 2 FKIE 36(f) 13,023 10,325
Provisions BiE 31 520 1,380
131,569 128,103
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 81,519 92,974
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HEERRBERE
LIABILITIES 140,138 156,685
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES EREBEE
Contract liabilities ABRAE 26 592 456
Other payables and H A FE A 5RIE K
deposits received Bz E 25 257 1,135
Amount due to a shareholder BN — R R ZFKIB 36(f) = 2,330
Lease liabilities HEBE 27 13,959 18,357
Bank borrowings RITEE 28 2,484 3,590
Convertible bonds Al E A 29 14,313 =
31,605 25,868
NET ASSETS AEFE 108,533 130,817
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

AR e MBI R

As at 31 December 2023 A= -_=F+-_H=+—H

2023 2022

—®-= T
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 ARBTR ARBTT

EQUITY i
Equity attributable to owners AATHA NEIL#ER
of the Company

Share capital LN 32 81,941 69,218
Reserves @& 33 41,777 44,000
123,718 113,218

Non-controlling interests FEfERR R (15,185) 17,599
TOTAL EQUITY S 108,533 130,817

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directorson HEFERN _ZT-_WF=F -+t HH#LE

27 March 2024 and are signed on its behalf by: REEEMIBHATATRERESE
Xu Jianchun Liu Tien-Tsai
Chairman and Executive Director Executive Director
FrEE 2 7REL
BRNTESE HITER

The notes on pages 104 to 271 form part of these consolidated 51048 £2718 2 it B2 S5 6 B &R
financial statements. RZ—FBD e
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in

N\ /
Z N

GABREDR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE =%

=E+-AS+—HLEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

Equity

FATREAEG
Properties ~ Foreign currency Share-based
Share Share Merger Statutory Statutory revaluation translation compensation Other Convertible Non-
capital premium reserve reserve  surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve reserves bonds reserve  Accumulated controlling
(Note32)  (Note33(b)i) ~ (Note33(b)(i)) ~ (Note33(b)il) ~ (Note33(b)iv)) ~ (Note33(b)  (Note33(b)vi)) (Note33(bwii) (Note33(b)viil)  (Note 33(b)(x)) losses Sub-total interests Total
HERE HRER HRER  URGBEE
23 Rt L fd ] L i L ZRRER RbEE  TRRRAGE
(i) (WEsN)  (WERBG)  (WEs0)  (WEs0m)  (RE3GW)  (WEsbv)  (KESGw))  (Rissbiin) (K330 Rithi gt ERBREE a5
AVB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETRL ARBTR ARRTR ARBTR ARBTR ARRTR AR®TR ARRTR ARBT  ARRTL  ABMTR  ARMTR  ARETR
At 1 January 2022 69218 2063 (16,261) 790 12,058 5495 (16,675) = 361 S (161,011) 114,608 (9,020) 105,588
(LossYprofit for the year - - - - - - - - - - (847) (847) 1473 626
Defict on revaluation of
freehold land and buildings - - - - - (383 = = = = = (343) (568) o)
Exchange differences arising on i
translation of foreign operations ~ EX £ - - - - - - (2,100 - - - - (2,100 (686) (2,786)
Other comprehensive expense ~ Eft2EER - - - - - (383 (2,100 - - - - 2443 (1,254) (3,697)
Totdl comprehensive (expense)  FERE

income for the y

Capital contribution from
non-controlling interest

of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - - - 26,400 26400
Equity-settled share-based
transaction (Note 42) S S S - S S S 1900 = = o 1,900 o 1,90
At 31 December 2022
69218 0063 (16,261) 790 12,058 515 (18775) 1900 361 = (161,858) 13218 1759 130817
At 1 January 2023 69,218 00633 (16,261) 90 12,058 5152 (18,775) 1900 361 - (161,858) 113,218 17,599 130817
Loss for the year S - - - - - - - 5 = (1113) (1113) 2913) (10,086)
Surplus on revaluation of
freehold land and buidings - = = = = 1,003 = = = = = 1,003 a1 1430
Fair vlue gain on convertible
bonds designated at FVTPL
S S o © A o o & o (2] © @) o )
Eichange diferences arsng on - £EEHNERHAELZ
translation of foreign operations ~ EX £8 - - - - - - 3883 - - - - 388 555 439
Other comprehensive income h2EKE - - - - - 1,003 3883 - - ) - 4819 982 5,801
Total comprehensive income/ FR2ENE/
(expense) for the year (B%)e8 - - - - - 1,003 3883 - - ) (1113) (2354) (1931) (4,285)
Capital contribution from
non-controlling interest
of a subsidiary (Note 36(c)i) - - - - - - - - - - - - 100 100
Acquisitions of non-controling
interests of subsidiaries
(Notes 32 &41) nm un S o = o = - (2,146) ° 5 12,854 (30,953) (18,099)
Lapse of share options (Note 42) - - - - - - - (483) - - 8 - - -
At 31 December 2023
81,941 mu (16,261) 90 12,058 6,155 (14,932) 1417 (1785) 21 (168,548) 318 (15,185) 108,533
o s LY M i A e A
The notes on pages 104 to 271 form part of these consolidated Z104B Z271EBE M AZEHE M

financial statements.

Sino-Life Group Limited Annual Report 2023

HR2 5



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
SselRenREX

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—E-= -
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 ARETRT AR¥ETTT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES MEETR
(Loss)/profit before taxation BrFLAT (E1R) & T (7,943) 7,888
Adjustments for: FEEESE
Amortisation of intangible asset B A EEH 6(c) 866 866
Finance costs & KA 6(a) 1,681 1,861
Depreciation of property, M HE KRR
plant and equipment e 6(c) 2,091 2,214
Depreciation of right-of-use FREEENE
assets 6(c) 5,000 4,947
Reversal of impairment losses B 5 K E h FE W 5K IE
recognised under ECL model ZTEHEEEE
on trade and other BRIIFT 2 B #R
receivables, net FEBEEREFEE  6(d) (2,841) (1,404)
Written back of provision Bl 75 X A 1 1 7 B
for cost of service 5 (904) (1,680)
Fair value loss on investment "EMEZ ATFE
properties E5 18 16 1,081 1,231
Fair value gain on convertible EERERAFERA
bonds designated at FVTPL B2 TR ES
pA/NSR T & 29 (3.519) -
Loss on disposal of property, HEME BER
plant and equipment R EE 5 2 23
Written off of property, plant WEEY % BB k&
and equipment 6(d) - 342
Gain on lease modification HE Bz W= 5 - 9)
Gain on disposal of associates HEBE AR 2 Ws 18 = (500)
Interest income FEUA 5 (932) (267)
Fair value loss/(gain) on financial ZAFEAER
assets measured at FVTPL ATECHBEEZ
ATEER/ (KE) 19 4,226 (690)
Recognition of equity-settled TR A B RE 4 MHXT’“
share-based transactions REM IR 42 - 1,900
Net exchange loss/(gain) ﬁ)‘?ﬁféﬂ,ﬁ/(qﬂlé)
R 5 146 (39)
(1,046) 16,683

TEEGEBARARN —FES=FFRH

101



102

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

l\ﬂ_\/\fﬁi;ﬁiﬁ

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—E-=f —E-=
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AREFT ARET T
CHANGES IN WORKING CAPITAL ZEZ&8H)
Decrease in inventories FER D 514 41
Decrease/(increase) in trade and H 5 & H MW IE &
other receivables and deposits BEffReRmL
paid (350) 5,860 (1,476)
Decrease in financial EAFEFABRSE
assets measured at FVTPL Zﬁﬁxﬁﬁ}ﬁi b —
- mutual funds/unit trusts BB ZEER
established in Taiwan %ﬁﬁ/% VA= 137 1,277
Decrease in development and 7 2% R B S K AR R
formation costs 31 33
Decrease in trade and other B 5 &k H A fE R IR
payables and deposits received WA RBEWIES (3,950) (354)
Decrease in contract liabilities EHaERd (2,532) (556)
Decrease in amount due to fﬁ HREZ
a shareholder FIE 24(c) - (258)
Increase in amounts due to directors T & ERIBE N 1,818 1,125
1,878 (168)
CASH GENERATED FROM HEMRRE
OPERATIONS 832 16,515
Income tax paid EXZEH 30(a) (3.429) (6,273)
Income tax refunded ROFTER 30(a) 2 =
NET CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED {EZ %% (FiR) i
FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES H&EE (2,595) 10,242
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BEEH
Purchases of property, plant and BEWE HER
equipment & 14 (443) (2,474)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE - BEKLEXEZ
plant and equipment Fri850R 1 36
Purchase of financial assets BEIZAFETA
measured at FVTPL — equity BRitEWHEEE—
securities, debt instruments and REBEIIN L2
exchange traded funds listed rEHF BEBEIAR
outside Hong Kong REMEEES (197,866) (83,871)
Proceeds from disposal of HEEA T EGT AR
financial assets measured FTECHMBEEZ
at FVTPL — equity FRGEIE—RNEE
securities, debt instruments and BN ETH 2 AR AN EE
exchange traded funds listed BEHLTAERR G
outside Hong Kong EEES 205,212 62,884
Placement of time deposits FHEBER (26,463) (13,732)
Withdrawn of time deposits REVEBHER 35,990 4,689
Interest received B U F B 5 932 267
NET CASH GENERATED FROM/ wREESHRE(FA)
(USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES & iR3E 17,363 (32,201)

Sino-Life Group Limited Annual Report 2023



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HAaREInE R

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—=g-= —E-=
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 ARETT AR¥EFTT
FINANCING ACTIVITIES A& iEE
Capital contribution from M8 A R IEIE R =
non-controlling interest of AE
subsidiaries 100 26,400
Repayment of bank borrowings BERETEE 24(c) (1,221) (1,177)
Interest paid on bank borrowings ERRITEERNE 24(c) (96) (92)
Repayment of lease liabilities, BEHERE(BE
including related interests R L) 24(c) (6,446) (6,362)
NET CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED ghi&E;EE) (FTH), Fis
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES H&F8E (7,663) 18,769
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN RE&RRELEEY
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS i (RD)iEE 7,105 (3,190)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R—A—HBZHER
AT 1 JANUARY He&EEY 112,477 117,557
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE IpEEERBH2HE
RATE CHANGES 5,437 (1,890)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R+ZA=+—-HZ2
AT 31 DECEMBER HERRELEEY 24(a) 125,019 112,477
The notes on pages 104 to 271 form part of these consolidated ~ Z5104H = 271EZW?%§Z—%?$E\WT7}%$&

financial statements.

k28D
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NOtes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4R B

& 1% R M 5

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Sino-Life Group Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated on 24 February 2005 in the Cayman Islands
as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Cayman lIslands Companies Law. Its shares are listed on
GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
"“Stock Exchange”) on 9 September 2009.

The Company is principally engaged in investment
holding. The subsidiaries are mainly engaged in the
provision of funeral and related services in the PRC,
Taiwan and Hong Kong Special Administrative Region,
the PRC ("Hong Kong"), sale of burial plots and
tombstones and provision of cemetery maintenance
services in Socialist Republic of Vietnam ("Vietnam”),
provision of advisory services on stem cells and
immunocytes in the PRC and sales of advanced
biotechnical machinery and other electronic products in
Hong Kong. The Company and its subsidiaries are herein
collectively referred to as the “Group”. The address of
the Company’s registered office is The Grand Pavilion
Commercial Centre, Oleander Way, 802 West Bay Road,
P.O. Box 32052, Grand Cayman KY1-1208, Cayman
Islands. The address of the Company's principal place of
business is 18/F, Ovest, No. 77 Wing Lok Street, Sheung
Wan, Hong Kong.

Sino-Life Group Limited Annual Report 2023
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(a)

(b)

4T a

B M BRI T

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE
2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which
collective term includes all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"”) and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These consolidated financial
statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”). Material
accounting policies adopted by the Group are
disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and
amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective
or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 3 provides
information on any changes in accounting
policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant
to the Group for the current accounting period
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2023 comprise the Company
and its subsidiaries and the Group's interest in an
associate.

2. EXg

(a)

(b)
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NQtes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE M BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

(Continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements (Continued)

Iltems included in the financial statements of
each entity in the Group are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The functional currency of the
Company is United States dollars ("US$"”). The
functional currencies are Renminbi (“RMB"),
Taiwan dollars (“NTD"), Hong Kong dollars (“HK$")
and Vietnamese dong (“VND") for subsidiaries
established/incorporated in the PRC, Taiwan, Hong
Kong and Vietnam respectively. The consolidated
financial statements are presented in RMB, rounded
to the nearest thousand, except when otherwise
indicated, which is different from the functional
currency of the Company as majority of the
Group’s transactions are denominated in RMB.

The measurement basis used in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements is the
historical cost basis except that the following
assets and liabilities are stated at their fair value as
explained in the accounting policies set out below:
- investment properties;

- freehold land and buildings;

financial assets measured at FVTPL; and

convertible bonds designated at FVTPL.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(b)

(o)

4T a

B M BRI T

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements (Continued)

The preparation of the consolidated financial
statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires
management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies
and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of
which form the basis of making the judgements
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the
application of HKFRSs that have significant effect
on the consolidated financial statements and major
sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in
Note 44.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.
The Group controls an entity when it is exposed
to or has rights to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are
included in the consolidated financial statements
from the date on which control commences until
the date on which control ceases.
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(b)

(c)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

(Continued)

(c)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any
unrealised income and expenses (except for foreign
currency transaction gains or losses) arising from
intra-group transactions, are eliminated. Unrealised
losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains,
but only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.

For each business combination, the Group can elect
to measure any non-controlling interests (“NCI")
either at fair value or at the NCI's proportionate
share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.
NCI are presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position within equity, separately from
equity attributable to the equity shareholders of
the Company. NCI in the results of the Group
are presented on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit or loss
and total comprehensive income for the year
between NCI and the equity shareholders of the
Company. Loans from holders of NCI and other
contractual obligations towards these holders are
presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position in accordance with
the relevant accounting policies depending on the
nature of the liability.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NNl

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

(Continued)

(o)

(d)

(e)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
(Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in
existing subsidiaries that do not result
in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
it derecognises the assets and liabilities of
the subsidiary, and any related NCI and other
components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained
in that former subsidiary is measured at fair value
when control is lost.

In the Company’'s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses, unless it is classified as held for
sale (or included in a disposal group classified as
held for sale).

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisition of businesses is
measured at cost less accumulated impairment
losses and is tested annually for impairment.

Associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has
significant influence, but not control or joint
control, over the financial and operating policies.

An investment in an associate is accounted for
using the equity method, unless it is classified
as held for sale (or included in a disposal group
that is classified as held for sale). They are initially
recognised at cost, which includes transaction
costs. Subsequently, the consolidated financial
statements include the Group’s share of the profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of those
investees, until the date on which significant
influence ceases.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

(Continued)

(e)

()

Associates (Continued)

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its
interest in the associate, the Group’s interest is
reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is
discontinued except to the extent that the Group
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the investee. For
this purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying
amount of the investment under the equity
method, together with any other long-term
interests that in substance form part of the Group's
net investment in the associate, after applying the
ECL model to such other long-term interests where
applicable.

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with
equity-accounted investees are eliminated against
the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest
in the investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the
extent there is no evidence of impairment.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or building
which are owned or held under a leasehold interest
(see Note 2(h)) to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation. These include land held for
a currently undetermined future use and property
that is being constructed or developed for future
use as investment property.

Investment property is initially measured at cost,
and subsequently at fair value with changes therein
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NNl

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE
2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EXEitHE(H)

(Continued)

(f) Investment properties (Continued) (f) BREWME (&)
Any gain or loss on disposal of investment property HEREME 2 A MKRLE
is recognised in profit or loss. Rental income from BERERANBR - KREMEDN
investment properties is recognised in accordance M W AR BT T 2(s) W FR
with Note 2(s).

(g) Property, plant and equipment (9) M¥E BEKRE®B
Freehold land and buildings held for own use FHEEBRZKAEETHK
are stated at their revalued amount, being their BFhikEHeE (ARER
fair value at the date of the revaluation less any EAZATEREENEREZ

subsequent accumulated depreciation.

RFHE) IR

Revaluations are performed with sufficient EHEeTHET UBRZSE
regularity to ensure that the carrying amount of BERmERRZEEE[D
these assets does not differ materially from that eHFERAAFEEEZEES
which would be determined using fair values at the BERER-

end of the reporting period.

The following items of property, plant and
equipment are stated at cost, which includes
capitalised borrowing costs, less accumulated

THAME BERRERK
A (BRERENLEERE)RZ
AT E RAEM RERERE B

depreciation and any accumulated impairment R (RME2(n)) :
losses (see Note 2(n)):
—  right-of-use assets arising from leases over - KAEEFIEEME (K

freehold or leasehold properties where the
Group is not the registered owner of the
property interest; and

- items of plant and equipment, including
right-of-use assets arising from leases of
underlying plant and equipment (see Note
2(h)).

SEYFZEMERR
MEREAA)BOME
EHEREEE &

- BELKREEE 827EH
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NOtes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE M BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

(Continued)

(9)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Changes arising on the revaluation of properties
held for own use are generally dealt with in other
comprehensive income and are accumulated
separately in equity in the properties revaluation
reserve. The only exceptions are as follows:

- when a deficit arises on revaluation, it will be
charged to profit or loss to the extent that
it exceeds the amount held in the properties
revaluation reserve in respect of that same
asset immediately prior to the revaluation;
and

- when a surplus arises on revaluation, it will
be credited to profit or loss to the extent
that a deficit on revaluation in respect of that
same asset had previously been charged to
profit or loss.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or
valuation of items of property, plant and equipment
less their estimated residual values, if any, using
the straight-line method over their estimated useful
lives, and is generally recognised in profit or loss.

The estimated useful lives for the current and
comparative periods are as follows:

- freehold land is not depreciated;

- buildings situated on freehold land are
depreciated over their estimated useful life,
being no more than 50 years after the date
of completion;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NNl

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

(Continued)

(9)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
- The Group’s interests in buildings situated
on leasehold land are depreciated over the
shorter of the unexpired term of lease and
the buildings’ estimated useful lives, being
no more than 50 years after the date of

completion;
- Leasehold 3 to 10 years or over
improvements the remaining term

of the lease, if shorter

- Furniture, fixtures 2 to 5 years
and office
equipment

- Motor vehicles 3 to 5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the
cost or valuation of the item is allocated on a
reasonable basis between the parts and each part
is depreciated separately. Both the useful life of
an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed
annually.

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items. Cost
may also include transfers from equity of any
gains/losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of
foreign currency purchases of property, plant and
equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset'’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any
component accounted for as a separate asset is
derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and
maintenance costs are charged to the profit or
loss during the financial period in which they are
incurred.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(9)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's
carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposal are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These
are included in profit or loss. When revalued assets
are sold, it is group policy to transfer any amounts
included in property revaluation reserve in respect
of those assets to accumulated losses.

Property, plant and equipment in the course
of construction for production, supply or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less
any recognised impairment loss. Costs include any
costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to
the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by
management, including costs of testing whether
the related assets is functioning properly and, for
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in
accordance with the Group's accounting policy.
Sale proceeds of items that are produced while
bringing an item of property, plant and equipment
to the location and condition necessary for it to
be capable of operating in the manner intended
by management (such as samples produced when
testing whether the asset is functioning properly),
and the related costs of producing those items
are recognised in the profit or loss. The cost of
those items are measured in accordance with the
measurement requirements of HKAS 2 /nventories.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as
other property assets, commences when the assets
are ready for their intended use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NNl

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

(Continued)

(9)

(h)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
If a property becomes an investment property
because its use has changed as evidenced by end
of owner-occupation, any difference between the
carrying amount and the fair value of that item
(including the relevant leasehold land classified
as right-of-use assets) at the date of transfer is
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in properties revaluation reserve. On
the subsequent sale or retirement of the property,
the relevant revaluation reserve will be transferred
directly to accumulated losses.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. This
is the case if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period
of time in exchange for consideration. Control is
conveyed where the customer has both the right to
direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from that
use.

(i) As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease
component(s) and non-lease component(s),
the Group has elected not to separate
non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any associated
non-lease components as a single lease
component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease
liability, except for leases that have a short
lease term of 12 months or less, and leases
of low-value asset. When the Group enters
into a lease in respect of a low-value asset,
the Group decides whether to capitalise
the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. If not
capitalised, the associated lease payments are
recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the lease term.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

(Continued)

(h) Leased assets (Continued)

(i)

As a lessee (Continued)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease
liability is initially recognised at the present
value of the lease payments payable over the
lease term, discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot
be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial
recognition, the lease liability is measured
at amortised cost and interest expense
is recognised using the effective interest
method. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or rate are not included
in the measurement of the lease liability, and
are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a
lease is capitalised is initially measured at
cost, which comprises the initial amount
of the lease liability adjusted for any
lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, plus any initial direct
costs incurred and an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset
or to restore the underlying asset or the
site on which it is located, less any lease
incentives received. The right-of-use asset is
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see
Notes 2(g) and 2(n)), except for the following
types of right-of-use asset:

- right-of-use assets that meet the
definition of investment properties are
carried at fair value (see Note 2(f)); and

- right-of-use assets related to leasehold
land and buildings where the Group is
the registered owner of the leasehold
interest are carried at fair value (see
Note 2(g)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NNl

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

(Continued)

(h) Leased assets (Continued)

()

As a lessee (Continued)

Refundable rental deposits are accounted
for separately from the right-of-use assets
in accordance with the accounting policy
applicable to investments in non-equity
securities carried at amortised cost. Any
excess of the nominal value over the initial
fair value of the deposits is accounted for
as additional lease payments made and is
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there
is a change in future lease payments arising
from a change in an index or rate, if there
is a change in the Group’s estimate of the
amount expected to be payable under a
residual value guarantee, or if the Group
changes its assessment of whether it will
exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured
in this way, a corresponding adjustment is
made to the carrying amount of the right-
of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset
has been reduced to zero.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

(Continued)

(h) Leased assets (Continued)

()

As a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured
when there is a lease modification, which
means a change in the scope of a lease
or the consideration for a lease that is not
originally provided for in the lease contract,
if such modification is not accounted for
as a separate lease. In this case, the lease
liability is remeasured based on the revised
lease payments and lease term using a
revised discount rate at the effective date
of the modification. The only exceptions are
rent concessions that occurred as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic
and met the conditions set out in paragraph
46B of HKFRS 16 Leases. In such cases, the
Group has taken advantage of the practical
expedient not to assess whether the rent
concessions are lease modifications, and
recognised the change in consideration as
negative variable lease payments in profit
or loss in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the rent concession
occurred.

In the consolidated statement of financial
position, the current portion of long-term
lease liabilities is determined as the present
value of contractual payments that are due
to be settled within twelve months after the
reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

4T a

(Continued)

(h)

(i)

Leased assets (Continued)

(ii) As a lessor
The Group determines at lease inception
whether each lease is a finance lease or
an operating lease. A lease is classified as
a finance lease if it transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to the
ownership of an underlying assets to the
lessee. Otherwise, the lease is classified as an
operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-
lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone selling
price basis. The rental income from operating
leases is recognised in accordance with Note
2(s).

When the Group is an intermediate lessor,
the sub-leases are classified as a finance lease
or as an operating lease with reference to
the right-of-use asset arising from the head
lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease
to which the Group applies the exemption
described in Note 2(h)(i), then the Group
classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position when a group entity becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the
market place.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

(Continued)

0

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets
and financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets
or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable
to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement
of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to hold assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

4T a

B M BRI T

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

(Continued)

(i)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement
of financial assets (Continued)

Debt instruments that meet the following
conditions are subsequently measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

o the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both
selling and collecting contractual cash flows;
and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently
measured at FVTPL, except that at initial
recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment
is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a
business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the
purpose of selling in the near term;

3 on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio
of identified financial instruments that the
Group manages together and has a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

EXETHE(EF)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

(Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement
of financial assets (Continued)

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at
the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL
if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income
Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method for financial assets
measured subsequently at amortised cost and
debt instruments/receivables subsequently
measured at FVTOCI. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset, except for financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves
so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is
no longer credit-impaired.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.
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B M BRI T

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

(Continued)

(i)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement
of financial assets (Continued)

(i)~ Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria
for being measured at amortised cost or
FVTOCI or designated as at FVTOCI are
measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured
at fair value at the end of each reporting
period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial
asset and is included in the “other income
and other net gains” line item.

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment
under ECL model on financial assets
(including trade and other receivables and
deposits paid, time deposits with original
maturity over three months and cash and cash
equivalents) which are subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes
in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result
from all possible default events over the expected
life of the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12
months ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default
events that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date. Assessment are done based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both
the current conditions at the reporting date as well
as the forecast of future conditions.
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NOtes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

(Continued)

0

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue
cost or effort.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B M BRI T

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

4T a

(Continued)

(i)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk
(Continued)
In particular, the following information is
taken into account when assessing whether
credit risk has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external
market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a
significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the
debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes
in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause
a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor; or

o an actual or expected significant
adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results
in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments
are more than 30 days past due, unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.
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NOtes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE M BRI

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

(Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

(Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk
(Continued)
The Group regularly monitors the
effectiveness of the criteria used to identify
whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate
to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk
before the amount becomes past due.

(i) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the
Group considers an event of default occurs
when information developed internally or
obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking
into account any collaterals held by the
Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group
considers that default has occurred when
a financial asset is more than 90 days past
due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

(iif) ~ Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when
one or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence
that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following
events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the
issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default
or past due event;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NNl

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

BEXEGHEE(EH)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

(Continued)

(i)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(1)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets

(Continued)

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the
borrower will enter bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market
for that financial asset because of
financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case
of trade receivables, when the amounts are
over two years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still
be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group's recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss.
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NOtes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NN Ead

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

EXETHE(EF)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

(Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)
(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of
the probability of default, loss given default
(i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a
default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and
loss given default is based on historical data
and forward-looking information. Estimation
of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as
the weights. The Group uses a practical
expedient in estimating ECL on trade
receivables using a provision matrix taking
into consideration historical credit loss
experience and forward looking information
that is available without undue cost or effect.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest
rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables
are considered on a collective basis taking
into consideration past due information and
relevant credit information such as forward
looking macroeconomic information.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NNl

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

(Continued)

(i)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

For collective assessment, the Group
takes into consideration the following
characteristics when formulating the

grouping:

. Past-due status;

. Nature, size and industry of debtors;
and

o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit
risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit-impaired,
in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial
asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain
or loss in profit or loss for all financial
instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade
receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

(Continued)

0

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are
denominated in a foreign currency is determined
in that foreign currency and translated at the
spot rate at the end of each reporting period.
Specifically:

o For financial assets measured at amortised
cost that are not part of a designated
hedging relationship, exchange differences
are recognised in profit or loss; and

o For financial assets measured at FVTPL
that are not part of a designated hedging
relationship, exchange differences are
recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership and continues
to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay.
If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised
borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

4T a

B M BRI T

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

(Continued)

(i)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Perpetual instruments, which include no
contractual obligation for the Group to deliver cash
or other financial assets or the Group has the sole
discretion to defer payment of distribution and
redemption of principal amount indefinitely are
classified as equity instruments.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity
instruments is recognised and deducted directly in
equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method
or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified at FVTPL when the
financial liability is (i) contingent consideration of
an acquirer in a business combination to which
HKFRS 3 applies, (i) held for trading or (iii) it is
designated at FVTPL.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR e B IS R MY T
For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z =T -_=F+-_A=+—HLFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(M)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

A financial liability is held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the
purpose of repurchasing it in the near term;
or

on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio
of identified financial instruments that the
Group manages together and has a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative, except for a derivative
that is a financial guarantee contract or a
designated effective hedging instrument.

A financial liability other than a financial liability
held for trading or contingent consideration of
an acquirer in a business combination may be
designated at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

such designation eliminates or significantly
reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or

the financial liability forms part of a group
of financial assets or financial liabilities or
both, which is managed and its performance
is evaluated on a fair value basis, in
accordance with the Group's documented
risk management or investment strategy, and
information about the grouping is provided
internally on that basis; or

it forms part of a contract containing one or
more embedded derivatives, and HKFRS 9
permits the entire combined contract to be
designated at FVTPL.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(i)

4T a

B M BRI T

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

For financial liabilities that are designated at FVTPL,
the amount of changes in the fair value of the
financial liability that is attributable to changes in
the credit risk of that liability is recognised in other
comprehensive income, unless the recognition of
the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk
in other comprehensive income would create or
enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss.
For financial liabilities that contain embedded
derivatives, such as convertible bonds, the
changes in fair value of the embedded derivatives
are excluded in determining the amount to
be presented in other comprehensive income.
Changes in fair value attributable to a financial
liability’s credit risk that are recognised in other
comprehensive income are not subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss; instead, they
are transferred to accumulated losses upon
derecognition of the financial liability.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including bank borrowings, trade
and other payables, lease liabilities, amounts due
to directors and amount due to a shareholder are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

0

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Convertible bonds

At the date of issue, both the debt component and
derivative components of the convertible bonds are
recognised at fair value and the convertible bonds
are designated at FVTPL. In subsequent period,
changes in fair value are recognised in profit or
loss as fair value gain or loss except for changes
in the fair value that is attributable to changes in
the credit risk (excluding changes in fair value of
the derivative components) is recognised in other
comprehensive income, unless the recognition of
the effects of changes in the credit risk in other
comprehensive income would create or enlarge an
accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in
fair value attributable to changes in the credit risk
that are recognised in other comprehensive income
are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss,
they are transferred to accumulated losses upon
derecognition.

Transaction costs relating to the issue of the
convertible bonds are charged to profit or loss
immediately.
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(i)

4T a
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Foreign exchange gains and losses

For financial liabilities that are denominated in a
foreign currency and are measured at amortised
cost at the end of each reporting period, the
foreign exchange gains and losses are determined
based on the amortised cost of the instruments.
These foreign exchange gains and losses are
recognised in “Other income and other net gains”
in profit or loss as part of net exchange gain or
loss for financial liabilities that are not part of a
designated hedging relationship.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations
are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

Changes in the basis for determining the
contractual cash flows as a result of interest
rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the
contractual cash flows of a financial asset or
financial liability to which the amortised cost
measurement applies as a result of interest rate
benchmark reform, the Group applies the practical
expedient to account for these changes by
updating the effective interest rate, such change in
effective interest rate normally has no significant
effect on the carrying amount of the relevant
financial asset or financial liability.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(M)

1)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Changes in the basis for determining the
contractual cash flows as a result of interest
rate benchmark reform (Continued)

A change in the basis for determining the
contractual cash flows is required by interest
rate benchmark reform if and only if, both these
conditions are met:

o the change is necessary as a direct
consequence of interest rate benchmark
reform; and

o the new basis for determining the contractual

cash flows is economically equivalent to the
previous basis (i.e. the basis immediately
preceding the change).

Intangible assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that
are acquired separately are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is recognised on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.
The estimated useful life and amortisation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis.

The estimated useful lives for the current and
comparative period are as follows:

- trademark 5 to 10 years

- computer system 2 to 3 years

Derecognition of intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or
when no future economic benefits are expected
from use or disposal. Gain and loss arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset, is recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

(Continued)

(k)

0

Development and formation costs
The development and formation costs represent
development costs incurred for a cemetery site
which will be completed for sale and are stated at
the lower of cost and net realisable value.

The development costs comprise specifically
identified cost, including the acquisition cost of
land, aggregate cost of development, materials
and supplies, wages and other direct expenses, an
appropriate proportion of overheads and borrowing
costs capitalised. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price less estimated costs of
completion and costs to be incurred in selling the
burial plots.

Inventories
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost of merchandises for resale and marble stones
is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs
of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing
the inventories to their present location and
condition.

Cost of burial plots developed for sale is
determined by an apportionment of the total
development costs (see Note 2(k)) attributable to
completed but unsold units.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

(Continued)

(m) Cash and cash equivalents

(n)

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at
bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks
and other financial institutions, and other short-
term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of
maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of
the Group’s cash management are also included
as a component of cash and cash equivalents for
the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for
ECL (see Note 2(i)).

Impairment of non-financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other
than freehold land and buildings, investment
properties, inventories and development and
formation cost) to determine whether there is any
indication of impairment. If any such indication
exists, then the asset's recoverable amount
is estimated. Goodwill is tested annually for
impairment.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together
into the smallest group of assets that generates
cash inflows from continuing use that are largely
independent of the cash inflows of other assets or
cash-generating units (“CGUs"”). Goodwill arising
from a business combination is allocated to CGUs
or groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is
the greater of its value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal. Value in use is based on the
estimated future cash flows, discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset
or CGU.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

4T a
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

(Continued)

(n)

Impairment of non-financial assets
(Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying
amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable
amount.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.
They are allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU, and
then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other
assets in the CGU on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not
reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss
is reversed only to the extent that the resulting
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss
had been recognised.

Interim financial reporting and
impairment

Under the GEM Listing Rules, the Group is required
to prepare an interim financial report in compliance
with HKAS 34, Interim Financial Reporting, every
three months. At the end of the interim period,
the Group applies the same impairment testing,
recognition, and reversal criteria as it would at the
end of the financial year.

Impairment losses recognised in an interim
period in respect of goodwill are not reversed in
a subsequent period. This is the case even if no
loss, or a smaller loss, would have been recognised
had the impairment been assessed only at the end
of the financial year to which the interim period
relates.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

(Continued)

(o) Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

Short term employee benefits
and contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans
Short-term employee benefits are expensed
as the related service is provided. A liability
is recognised for the amount expected to
be paid if the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation to pay this amount
as a result of past service provided by
the employee and the obligation can be
estimated reliably.

Obligations for contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans are expensed as
the related service is provided.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are expensed at the
earlier of when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits and
when the Group recognises costs for a
restructuring.

(p) Share-based payments

()

Share options granted to employees
The grant-date fair value of equity-settled
share-based payments granted to employees
is measured using the Polynomial Model.
The amount is generally recognised as an
expense, with a corresponding increase in
equity, over the vesting period of the awards.
The amount recognised as an expense is
adjusted to reflect the number of awards
for which the related service conditions are
expected to be met, such that the amount
ultimately recognised is based on the number
of awards that meet the related service
conditions at the vesting date.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

(Continued)

(p)

(a)

Share-based payments (Continued)

(ii) Share options granted to non-
employees
Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions with parties other than
employees are measured at the fair value of
the goods or services received, except where
that fair value cannot be estimated reliably,
in which case they are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments granted,
measured at the date the entity obtains
the goods or the counterparty renders the
service. The fair values of the goods or
services received are recognised as expenses
(unless the goods or services qualify for
recognition as assets).

Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and
deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that it relates to a business
combination, or items recognised directly in equity
or in other comprehensive income.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable
or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the
year and any adjustments to the tax payable or
receivable in respect of previous years. The amount
of current tax payable or receivable is the best
estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid
or received that reflects any uncertainty related
to income taxes. It is measured using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting
date. Current tax also includes any tax arising from
dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if
certain criteria are met.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE
2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

(Continued)

(a)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and
the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred
tax is not recognised for:

temporary differences on the initial
recognition of assets or liabilities in
a transaction that is not a business
combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences;

temporary differences related to investment
in subsidiaries and associates to the extent
that the Group is able to control the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that they will not reverse in
the foreseeable future;

taxable temporary differences arising on the
initial recognition of goodwill; and

those related to the income taxes arising
from tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted to implement the Pillar Two model
rules published by the Organisation for
Economic Co-operation and Development.

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities separately in relation to its
lease liabilities and right-of-use assets.
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4T a

B M BRI T

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

(Continued)

(a)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax
losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against
which they can be used. Future taxable profits
are determined based on the reversal of relevant
taxable temporary differences. If the amount of
taxable temporary differences is insufficient to
recognise a deferred tax asset in full, then future
taxable profits, adjusted for reversals of existing
temporary differences, are considered, based on
the business plans for individual subsidiaries in the
Group. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each
reporting date and are reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit
will be realised; such reductions are reversed when
the probability of future taxable profits improves.

Where investment properties are carried at their
fair value in accordance with Note 2(f), the amount
of deferred tax recognised is measured using the
tax rates that would apply on sale of those assets
at their carrying value at the reporting date, unless
the property is depreciable and is held within a
business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied
in the property over time, rather than through sale.
In all other cases, the measurement of deferred tax
reflects the tax consequences that would follow
from the manner in which the Group expects, at
the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if
certain criteria are met.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

(Continued)

(r)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Generally provisions are determined by discounting
the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate
that reflects current market assessment of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the liability.

A provision for warranties is recognised when the
underlying products or services are sold, based on
historical warranty data and a weighting of possible
outcomes against their associated probabilities.

A provision for onerous contracts is measured at
the present value of the lower of the expected
cost of terminating the contract and the expected
net cost of continuing with the contract, which
is determined based on the incremental costs of
fulfilling the obligation under that contract and an
allocation of other costs directly related to fulfilling
that contract. Before a provision is established, the
Group recognises any impairment loss on the assets
associated with that contract.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to
settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed
by another party, a separate asset is recognised
for any expected reimbursement that would be
virtually certain. The amount recognised for the
reimbursement is limited to the carrying amount of
the provision.
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(Continued)

(s)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers
The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or
service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that
are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the
Group's performance as the Group performs;

o the Group's performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the
Group performs; or

o the Group's performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group
and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct
good or service.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

(Continued)

(s)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services
that the Group has transferred to a customer
that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for
impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group's
unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for
which the Group has received consideration (or an
amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to
the same contract are accounted for and presented
on a net basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of
a performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of
a performance obligation is measured based on
output method, which is to recognise revenue on
the basis of direct measurements of the value of
the goods or services transferred to the customer
to date relative to the remaining goods or services
promised under the contract, that best depict the
Group's performance in transferring control of
goods or services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right
to consideration in an amount that corresponds
directly with the value of the Group's performance
completed to date, the Group recognises revenue
in the amount to which the Group has the right to
invoice.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

(Continued)

(s)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods
or services to a customer, the Group determines
whether the nature of its promise is a performance
obligation to provide the specified goods or
services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to
arrange for those goods or services to be provided
by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified
good or service before that good or service is
transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation
is to arrange for the provision of the specified
good or service by another party. In this case,
the Group does not control the specified good or
service provided by another party before that good
or service is transferred to the customer. When the
Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in
the amount of any fee or commission to which it
expects to be entitled in exchange for arranging
for the specified goods or services to be provided
by the other party.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.

(Continued)

(s)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method. The “effective interest rate” is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset. In calculating interest income,
the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the asset (when the asset is
not credit-impaired). However, for financial assets
that have become credit-impaired subsequent to
initial recognition, interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset. If the asset is no longer
credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest
income reverts to the gross basis.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the term of lease. Lease incentive granted are
recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of
the total rental income, over the term of lease.
Variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as income in the
accounting period in which they are earned.

Government grants are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position initially
when there is reasonable assurance that they will
be received and that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them.

Grants that compensate the Group for expenses
incurred are recognised as income in profit or loss
on a systematic basis in the same periods in which
the expenses are incurred.

Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of
an asset are deducted from the carrying amount
of the asset and consequently are effectively
recognised in profit or loss over the useful life of
the asset by way of reduced depreciation expense.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE
2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EXE:THE (8)

(Continued)

(t)

Translation of foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated
into the respective functional currencies of group
companies at the exchange rates at the dates of
the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated into the functional
currency at the exchange rate at the reporting
date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that
are measured at fair value in a foreign currency
are translated into the functional currency at the
exchange rate when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured based on historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated at the exchange rate at
the date of the transaction. Foreign currency
differences are generally recognised in profit or
loss.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations,
including goodwill and fair value adjustments
arising on acquisition, are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates at the reporting date. The

(t)

SR E

SNER PR P E HHE X
EREERRZENDY
ﬁgo

2 4y
% 55

UONESHENEREERARE
EHREAHNERBRERE
B -RATFEAENNUINEG
AAEMFEREENABERE
EZAFEEANERRER
BB « AN IE 2 A AR5
ENFEBKEERABRERS
EHMEXBE - INEEZHE—

SNREBHEERAE (B
WEELNBERAFERE)
EHREAHNEZTBRESAR
%o 9\\.%%%4&1)\&%?&?

income and expenses of foreign operations are REBEEANEZHESAR
translated into RMB at the exchange rates at the *95"

dates of the transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in other HNEE = R H A 2 T UK 2 AR

comprehensive income and accumulated in the

E@i&ﬁé&l\ﬁ%ERﬁﬁWE‘%ﬁr

foreign currency translation reserve, except to the EREEEOREIEERES
extent that the translation difference is allocated to BRAh o

NCI.

When a foreign operation is disposed of in its i 2 Bk 2B o ﬁ’*%l%ﬁ“ﬁﬁ

entirety or partially such that control, significant
influence or joint control is lost, the cumulative
amount in the foreign currency translation reserve
related to that foreign operation is reclassified
to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on
disposal. On disposal of a subsidiary that includes
a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of
the exchange differences relating to that foreign
operation that have been attributed to the NCI
shall be derecognised, but shall not be reclassified
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the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount
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of only part of an associate or joint venture while
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.
(Continued)

(u)

(v)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of an
asset which necessarily takes a substantial period
of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are
capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in
which they are incurred.

Related parties
A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(a)

(ii)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the
Group;

has significant influence over the
Group; or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group's
parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)

(iii)

the entity and the Group are members
of the same group (which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others);

one entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a member
of a group of which the other entity is
a member);

both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party;
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. BEXS:tHE (&)
(Continued)

(v) Related parties (Continued)
An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies: (Continued)

(b)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

one entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related to
the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); or

the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are
those family members who may be expected
to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EXE
(Continued)

st BUSR (48)

(w) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the financial statements,
are identified from the financial information
provided regularly to the Company’s executive
directors, which are the chief operating decision
maker of the Company for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group's various lines of
business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless
the segments have similar economic characteristics
and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services,
and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority
of these criteria.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND 3.

AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 for
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 17 and related
amendments

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Insurance Contracts

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates
Deferred Tax related to Assets

and Liabilities arising from

a Single Transaction
International Tax Reform —

Pillar Two Model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 12

The Group has not applied any amendment that is not
yet effective for the current accounting period. The
application of the new standard or amendments to
HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact
on the Group’s financial positions and performance for
the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set
out in these consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.

(a) Disaggregation of revenue
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers by major products or services lines is as
follows:

Disaggregation of revenue for the year
ended 31 December 2023

W &5 & 53 &R & #

(a) W=D
RFrEEmdREEBEIHH
RKEEPENZHED FN
Ng

BE-E-=%+-4
=t — AL FEHRE DT

Stem cells and

immunocytes
Funeral and other
services businesses Total
BABR
okl
EERE REMBES )
RMB000 RMB’000 RMB000
ARETT ARETT ARETT
Major products and services IRERRRE
Funeral services and cremation services provided ~ AEEEE 7 BEERBERBEP L
in funeral parlous and funeral service centres 2 2 BERHE RN RE
under the Group’s management 65,838 - 65,838
Funeral arrangement and related consultancy ~ BE R RAB R AR%
services 3,103 - 3,103
Sales of burial plots and tombstones HERMRER 560 - 560
Sales of biotechnical machineries and other ENREEERAMEFERRE
electronic products - 3,069 3,069
69,501 3,069 72,570
Timing of revenue recognition W e AR B
At a point in time RE-FHE 4,603 3,069 7,672
Over time REBED 64,898 - 64,898
69,501 3,069 72,570
Primary geographical market IRRENS
The PRC s 65,838 - 65,838
Taiwan = 2,014 - 2,014
Hong Kong i 1,089 3,069 4,158
Vietnam T 560 - 560
69,501 3,069 72,570
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BB HRN T

n\/T\
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE
4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. Wiz R 3 EBEH (&)
(Continued)
Disaggregation of revenue (Continued) (a) WzmaiF (&)
Disaggregation of revenue for the year ended g = = %ﬁ —Z—F+ZH
31 December 2022 = LF F F B 2 77 B

Stem cells and

immunocytes
Funeral and other
services businesses Total
#AKR
gl
B&RHS REMEE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT
Major products and services TEEQRRH
Funeral services and cremation services provided ~AEEEE 7 BEERBERBER L
in funeral parlous and funeral service centres R 2 BERE R ALRE
under the Group's management 74,468 - 74,468
Funeral arrangement and related consultaney — BEZ B RIABRARE
services 2,809 - 2,809
Sales of burial plots and tombstones HESMRER 692 - 692
77,969 - 77,969
Timing of revenue recognition W R
At a point in time RE-KRE 5,087 - 5,087
Over time BEREEY 72,882 - 72,882
77,969 - 77,969
Primary geographical market TENETG
The PRC e 74,468 - 74,468
Taiwan =) 1,531 - 1,531
Hong Kong b 1278 - 1278
Vietnam A 692 - 692
77,969 - 77,969
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

WamRkaEBEE (&)

4.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.

(Continued)

(a)

Disaggregation of revenue (Continued)
Performance obligations for contracts
with customers

Funeral services and cremation services

The Group offers services of planning funeral
arrangement and interment, organising and hosting
of the funeral. Revenue from funeral services is
recognised when services are provided. Except for
sales of prepaid funeral services packages offered
to individuals, payment of the transaction price is
due immediately at the point the funeral services
are provided. Sales of prepaid funeral services
packages is sales of funeral services based on a
contract prior to death occurring. The payment is
due when the contract of prepaid funeral services
packages is signed, which gives rise to contract
liabilities at the inception of a contract, until the
revenue recognised when the funeral service is
offered. Details of the prepaid funeral services
packages contract are disclosed in Note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Funeral arrangement and related consultancy
services

Revenue from funeral arrangement and related
consultancy services is recognised when services are
provided. Payment of the transaction price is due
immediately at the point the funeral arrangement
and related consultancy services are provided.

Sales of burial plots and tombstones

Revenue from the sales of burial plots and
tombstones is recognised when the control of
burial plots and tombstones is transferred to the
customer, being when the right to use of burial
plots and tombstones has been passed. Payment
of the transaction price is due immediately at the
point the customer purchases the burial plots and
tombstones.
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4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.

4T a

B M BRI T

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

W RkaEBER (&)

(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Disaggregation of revenue (Continued)
Performance obligations for contracts
with customers (Continued)

Provision of advisory service on stem cells and
immunocytes

Revenue from advisory service on stem cells
and immunocytes is recognised when services
are performed. Advisory service on stem cells
and immunocytes is advisory service based on a
contract prior to the advisory service. Payment
of the transaction price is due when the contract
of advisory service is signed, which gives rise to
contract liabilities at the inception of a contract,
until the revenue recognised when the advisory
service is rendered.

Sales of biotechnical machineries and other
electronic products

Revenue from sales of biotechnical machineries
and other electronic products is recognised when
the control of such products is transferred to
the customer, being when the goods have been
delivered to the customer’s specific location.
Transportation and handling activities that occur
before customers obtain control are considered
as fulfilment activities. Following the delivery, the
customer has full discretion over the manner of
distribution and price to sell the goods, has the
primary responsibility when on selling the goods
and bears the risk of obsolescence and loss in
relation to the goods. The normal credit term is 90
days upon delivery.

Contracts with customers with unsatisfied
performance obligations on the above mentioned
revenue, have original expected duration of one
year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied
contracts is not disclosed.

Segment information

The Group manages its businesses by divisions,
which are organised by a mixture of both business
lines and geography. In a manner consistent with
the way in which information is reported internally
to the executive directors of the Company (the
“Executive Directors”), which are the chief
operating decision maker, for the purposes of
resources allocation and performance assessment.

(a)

(b)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.

(Continued)

(b)

Segment information (Continued)
For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
the Group had below two reportable segments:

(A)

Funeral services: Provision of funeral related
service, including arrangement services and
related consultancy services, provision of
funeral and cremation services and sale of
burial plots and tombstones; and

Stem cells and immunocytes and other
business: Provision of advisory service on
stem cells and immunocytes and sales of
biotechnical machineries and other electronic
products.

The segment information provided
to the Executive Directors for the
reportable segments for the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 is
as follows:

Segment results, assets and liabilities
For the purposes of assessing segment
performance and allocating resources
between segments, the Executive Directors
monitor the results, assets and liabilities
attributable to each reportable segment on
the following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible,
intangible asset and current assets with
the exception of certain financial assets
measured at FVTPL and corporate assets.
Segment liabilities include trade and other
payables and deposits received, contract
liabilities, lease liabilities, bank borrowings,
amounts due to directors, amount due to
a shareholder, provisions and income tax
liabilities attributable to the activities of
the individual segments and borrowings
managed directly by the segments.
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NNl

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. YIRS EEE (E)
(Continued)

(b) Segment information (Continued) (b) DEHEHR (&)

(A) The segment information provided (A) BE=—ZFE=-=Z£FF
to the Executive Directors for the —E--F+ZH
reportable segments for the years =+ —HIFEEMR
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 is FH ﬁf%ﬁ? o # &
as follows: (Continued) 17 - — ]

(&)

Segment results, assets and liabilities ’\ﬁB%,M BEKBRE
(Continued) (%)

Revenue and expenses are allocated to WakAZXT2E%SE
the reportable segments with reference to PHEEZHERZSE
sales generated by those segments and the DEEEZHAEZ HIRR
expenses incurred by those segments or ZEDHELEEENE
which otherwise arise from the depreciation S SEPTE £ 2 H M

or amortisation of assets attributable to those
segments.

Segment results represent the earnings and
loss of each segment without allocation
of fair value loss on investment properties,
fair value (loss)/gain on financial assets
measured at FVTPL, fair value gain on
convertible bonds designated at FVTPL, net
reversal of impairment losses/(impairment
losses) recognised under ECL model on trade
and other receivables, unallocated other
income and other net gains, unallocated
head office and corporate expenses, finance
costs and income tax expense. This is the
measure reported to the Executive Directors
for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. W E9DSEE (8)
(Continued)

ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 is
as follows: (Continued)

Segment results, assets and liabilities
(Continued)

For the purpose of assessment by the
Executive Directors, the finance costs on
bank borrowings and lease liabilities were
not included in segment results while the
bank borrowings and lease liabilities have
been included in the segment liabilities.

In addition to receiving segment information
concerning segment results, the Executive
Directors are provided with segment
information concerning interest income,
finance cost, written bank of provision for
cost of services, fair value gain/(loss) on
financial assets measured at FVTPL, net
reversal of impairment losses/(impairment
losses) recognised under ECL model on trade
and other receivables, depreciation and
amortisation (including property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets), income tax (expense)/credit, and
additions to non-current segment assets
(including property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets)
used by the segments in their operations.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE
4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. YIRS EEE (E)

(Continued)
(b) Segment information (Continued) (b) DEER (E)
(A) The segment information provided (A) B Z - ZFE=-=ZF R
to the Executive Directors for the —E--F+ - H
reportable segments for the years =+ —HIEFEER
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 is FHTEZEHNITRE
as follows: (Continued) 7 B R 5 B8 & K W
F (,é"")
Segment results, assets and liabilities %) %B% CBENAE
(Continued) (E)
Information regarding the Group's B EE_ST_=F
reportable segments as provided to the S — ¢ +=A
Executive Directors for the purposes of =t+—BLEFEZEIR
resources allocation and assessment of ARSI ERE R
segment performance for the years ended HITESEREZCAEH

31 December 2023 and 2022 is set out
below:

o 45 5 3 2 A K 8
m -

Year ended 31 December

BEt-A=+-HLEE
2023 2022
—§ozk 3%
Stem cells and Stem cells and
immunocytes immunocytes
Funeral and other Funeral and other
services business Total services business Total
EamR ZARR
SR4R LRAH
ERRE  RAGER s RERE  RALER @t
RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
AREFRE  ARETR ARETR ARMTT  ARETR ARBTE
Segment revenue Sk
~ Funeral services and cremation services provided in -REBERIRERR
funeral parlous and funeral service centres under BRRBROREZ
the Group's management RERBRAMLRE 65,838 - 65,838 74,468 = 74,468
- Funeral arrangement and related consultancy services -BERAREBSARE 3,103 - 3,103 2,809 - 2,809
- Sales of burial plots and tombstones - REEHRER 560 - 560 692 - 692
- Sales of biotechnical machineries and other electronic products -EDRBEERAMETERHE - 3,069 3,069 - - -
69,501 3,069 72,510 77,969 - 77,969
Segment operating profit/(oss) APEEET/ (B8) 3873 819 4,692 16,697 (301 163%
Other items: HiyEE:
Amounts included in the measure of segment operating profitiloss): B BELEN / (BR)GFAZEE:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment nE BEREENE (2,003) (88)  (091) (2,089 8 172
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE (4,804) - (ag804) (4792 § (4792)
Amortisation of intangible assets BVAEEH (866) - (866) (866) - (866)
Written back of provision for cost of senvice RERARER 904 - 904 1,680 = 1,680
Amounts not included in the measure of segment operating profit/loss)  &F 82 HEL MK/ (BE) F:tA 228
but reqularly reported to Executive Directors MEATHRNTESZR:
Iterest income FlekA 508 1 509 07 - 217
Finance costs BERK (1,546) - (1546)  (1849) - (1809
Fair value gainf{loss) on financial assets measured as FVTPL BATEH BRI B HBAE
ATENE/ (B8) 8 - 8 (230) - (234)
Reversal of impairment losses/(impairment losses) recognised EHRAMENTELR gqr i
under ECL model on trade and other receivables, net BHETZE
B%/ (REEE 2,641 45 2,686 1,400 (109) 1,291
Income tax (expense)/credit FisH (F%)/’ l‘% (1,982) (139)  @121) (7,600 14 (7,248)
Others: Ef
Additions of property, plant and equipment RENE BERZAE “w - “w 1462 . 1462
Additions of right-of-use assets RERRAELE - - - a2 - 412
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.

(Continued)

(b) Segment information (Continued)

(A)

The segment information provided
to the Executive Directors for the
reportable segments for the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 is
as follows: (Continued)

Segment results, assets and liabilities
(Continued)

There are no inter-segment sales during the
year (2022: Nil).

The following table presents segment
assets and segment liabilities of the Group's
reportable segments as at 31 December 2023
and 2022:

(b)

WamRkaEBEE (&)

DEBER (&)
(A) BE === =

i

K
£ - —_F + = H
_7‘- H IE F EF 12172
%#ﬂ E%Hﬁﬂfﬁi
7 B R 5 B8 & A
T (#&)
DELFELE -
(%)
AEEMESIBEIEE
TEZZFE) o

BENAAE

g

TEREINR T _=F
FZEZ—_F4+ = A
T+ —BAEBEAHRE
DEHDEEER D

BE:
2023 2022
—g-=% k- S : 3

Stem cells and Stem cells and

immunocytes immunocytes

Funeral and other Funeral and other
services businesses Total services businesses Total

EARR B R

gl REAE
T HMRTS REMES @t B &R PESES S @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARBFT AREFT AREFT
Segment assets PBEE 223,199 6,169 229,368 220,613 7,469 228,082
Segment liabilities AHEE 118,378 10,050 128,428 127,695 8,899 136,594
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R A
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE
4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. W R SHMEHE (8H)
(Continued)
(b) Segment information (Continued) (b) DEHEHR (&)

(B) Reconciliations of reportable segment (B) A/ EDHB WKz 12
revenue, profit or loss, assets, liabilities B /3 EEREM
and other items H Az ¥k

2023 2022
—EC=H T
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
(i ARETFT ARBF T
Revenue W %%
Total reportable segment revenue —Hﬁi D EB I A 4R 5B
and consolidated revenue e e 72,570 77,969
Profit or loss b
Total reportable segment AEEIRBEFELZ
profit derived from Group'’s AR E 9 700 A B R
external customers 4,692 16,396
Fair value loss on REWME 2 N E
investment properties BB 16 (1,081) (1,231)
Fair value (loss)/gain on financial & AFEF ABmatE
assets measured at FVTPL ZHBEENTE
(B18),/ e 19 (4,226) 690
Fair value gain on convertible BERBRATEFAER
bonds designated at FVTPL 2B ESEZ
NFERER 29 3,519 =
Unallocated other income and KA EA A RE M
other net gains W FR 1,667 1,327
Net reversal of impairment losses/ A T &BEZBHEE
(impairment losses) recognised ERERETZ
under ECL model on ERERREEE
B/ (REBE)FE
— Trade receivables - B EWFIA 6(d),
35(a) 507 (302)
— Other receivables - H A FEWRIR 6(d),
35(a) 2,334 1,706
Finance costs AR A 6(a) (1,681) (1,861)
Unallocated head office and AAOBBBRRAAFX
corporate expenses (13,674) (8,837)
Consolidated (loss)/profit before 4R ABRF AT (B1E), %7
taxation (7,943) 7,888
.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. WZ RS IPEE (&)
(Continued)
(b) Segment information (Continued) (b) DEER (&)

164

(B) Reconciliations of reportable segment (B) H#HETE WamB
revenue, profit or loss, assets, liabilities w EE-BE /E P
and other items (Continued) HHZH R (&)

2023 2022
—E-=fF —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT
Assets BE
Total reportable segment assets ARENEERLE 229,368 228,082
Unallocated head office and KOBRBHERAREE
corporate assets
— Cash and cash equivalents -HekBEEEY 20,857 15,233
~ Time deposits with original - R R R A=A
maturity over three months AR EEER - 9,334
— Financial assets measured -BAFEGFAER
at FVTPL SEVMBEE 14,532 26,006
— Other deposits paid and -HiEEe R
prepayments B RIE 4,147 4,028
- Others -Hft 2,803 2,105
Consolidated total assets HARBERE 271,707 284,788
Liabilities afE
Total reportable segment liabilities ~ AR D 2B &L 5 128,428 136,594
Unallocated head office and KANRBHRARAE
corporate liabilities
— Amount due to a shareholder - —RBRE A 12,450 12,098
— Convertible bonds - AR ESH 14,313 =
— Other payables and accruals - Hip e IE K&
&t TR 4,620 4,142
- Others HAth 3,363 1,137
Consolidated total liabilities Reakes 163,174 153,971
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE
4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. YIRS EEE (E)

(Continued)
(b) Segment information (Continued) (b) DEHEHR (&)

(B) Reconciliations of reportable segment (B) A/ ET Wz B
revenue, profit or loss, assets, liabilities o /%’ BEERAM
and other items (Continued) HH %M (&)
Other items HtIEH

Year ended 31 December
BET-A=t-HLEEE
2023 2022
k- et 3 St 2
Total Total
reportable reportable
segment Consolidated segment Consolidated
amount Unallocated total amount  Unallocated total
2R D
HBER FHE &t HPaE AR Foes
RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETR AREFR ARETT ARETT ARETR
Other items: HHER:
Amounts included in the measure of SEAPEERF]/ (BB A
segment operating profit/(loss): LEH:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 915 BB R BN E (2,091) - (2,091) 2172 (42) 2,214)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRREENE (4,804) (196) (5,000) (4,79) (155) (4,947)
Amortisation of intangible assets BHEERH (866) - (866) (866) = (866)
Written back of provision for cost of service REK AR ERE 904 - 904 1,680 - 1,680
Amounts not included in the measure of segment  3f £ HELEF/ (BR)
operating profit/(oss) but regularly reported TiAz2E TS
to Executive Directors: RHTEE2H:
Interest income FakA 509 423 932 17 50 267
Finance costs BEAKK (1,546) (135) (1,681) (1,849) (12) (1,861)
Fair value gain/loss) on financial assets RATE AL amu+2251f%
measured as FVTPL BENTEKE/ (B 8 (4,234) (4,226) (234) 924 690
Reversal of impairment losses recognised BHREMELR EZﬁW
under ECL model on trade and BRENET BHR
other receivables, net BESEREFE 2,686 155 2841 1,291 113 1404
Income tax expense FRAX 121 (22) (2183) (7,249) (14) (7.262)
Others: it
Additions of property, plant and equipment RENE BERRE 43 - 43 1462 1,012 2,474
Additions of right-of-use assets REFRELE - 1,155 1,155 Y] - 4

TEEGEBARARN —FES=FFRH
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4.
(Continued)

(c)

Geographic information

The following set out information about the
geographical location of (i) the Group’s revenue
from external customers; and (ii) the Group's
property, plant and equipment, investment
properties, right-of-use assets, intangible assets,
interest in an associate, goodwill, other receivables
and deposits paid and deposits for hire of funeral
parlours and funeral services centres (“Specified
Non-Current Assets”).

The geographical location of customers is based on
the location at which the services were provided
or the goods delivered. The geographical locations
of Specified Non-Current Assets are based on the
physical location of the assets, in case of property,
plant and equipment, the physical location to
which they are located. In the case of right-of-use
assets, intangible assets, interest in an associate,
goodwill, other receivables and deposits paid and
deposits for hire of funeral parlours and funeral
services centres, it is based on the location of the

WamRkaEBEE (&)

(c)

ih & & K

LA T #0515 B ()2 & B R 5 4h
REFZWH: RGNVAED 2
ME BERRE BEWE-
EREEE BHEE- #—
MBLEAFMmER B8 H
@%%ﬁﬁ&aﬁ&@u&m
ARBERBEERE DL 2R
S ([BEFRDEE]) 2
BEH -

BP 2 i & Jh E R 58R H IR
B ARE an 2 [ - 5 5E JF
MEBEEZAEMRIABEE
EFRERUERSELEMRY
X BERRE BNEDKR
REERECERUERESR-
MREREEE BREE-
R—EBEQRNER BE-
Hib BB HERENIZE AR
HRBEERERBERETLZ
B BANESIREZFEEL

operation to these assets are allocated. R R R
Revenue from Specified
external customers Non-Current Assets
REMRERZWE BEFRDEE
For the year ended As at
31 December 31 December
BE+t-A=t+-HLEEE R+=R=+-H
2023 2022 2023 2022
—§-=f -—Z-- —®-= —ZT-—fF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFET ARBTr ARETR ARET:R
The PRC HE 65,838 74,468 26,109 31,917
Taiwan =) 2,014 1,531 31,618 30,565
Hong Kong 6 4,158 1,278 712 1,055
Vietnam W 560 692 180 174
72,570 77,969 58,619 63,711
Information about major customers FTEEFEH

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
revenue from any single external customer does not
amount to 10% or more of the Group's revenue.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T —=F+_-_A=+—HIFE
5. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER NET GAINS 5. HU A\ RE s FEiE

2023 2022
—E-=F T
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AREBTT ARETIT
Other income: Hir A :
Interest income on financial assets RHEIEKN AT EZ
measured at amortised cost WS EE 2 F B WA
— Interest income on deposits at —RITREBEETHR
banks and financial institutions ZF B YA 932 267
Rental income from investment properties &% 2 & WA 325 299
Government grants B #8 BY — 93
Gain on lease modification (Note 15) HEES s W
(KtzE15) - 9
Sundry income HMIBWA 558 643
1,815 1,311
Other net gains/(losses): Hualzs ~(E5E)iFHE:
Written back of provision Pl 745 7K 7S & 45 43¢ Bl
for cost of service (Note 31) (BF7E31) 904 1,680
Net exchange (loss)/gain BN (F18) W= FHE (146) 39
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME  BEREE
equipment Z BB (2) (23)
756 1,696
2,571 3,007
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZ T -_=F+-_A=+—HIFE

6. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 6. BaBin (B5#E) id&F
(Loss)/profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/ BREBLAT (BB Mg mk
(crediting) the followings: (FFAN) THEBIRETE

2023 2022
—ZE-= —E-fF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREBTR AREFT
(a) Finance costs (a) BEERAE
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 15) HEABZHME
(MIzE15) 1,518 1,769
Interest on bank borrowings RITHEZFE 96 92
Interest on convertible bonds EEREAFERTA
designated at FVTPL (Note 29) Bmz I BmRES
Z B (PffzF29) 67 =
1,681 1,861
(b) Staff costs (including directors’ (b) EIRA (BIFESE
emoluments) £ D]
Salaries, wages and other benefits Fe TEKRHM
&) 33,565 30,992
Contributions to defined TE R FOR KRG 2
contribution retirement plans R 1,462 1,446
Share-based payments VARR 0 A E R 2 1T 3R - 686
35,027 33,124
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #;
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 6.

(Continued)

/T\

(Loss)/profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/
(crediting) the followings: (Continued)

B M BRI T

ETE_=Ft+-_A=+t—HLHEE

BB (BE) i F
(%)

B AT (BIR) a A T EmeR
(FFA)THEB®RERE: (&)

2023 2022
—g-=F g
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREBFR ARETT
(c) Depreciation and amortisation (c) & R #E#H
Property, plant and equipment Y- B MR
(Note 14) (Mt3E14) 2,091 2,214
Right-of-use assets (Note 15) EREEE (ME15) 5,000 4,947
Intangible assets (included in B EE (GF AT
administrative expenses) (Note 17) ) (MiE17) 866 866
7,957 8,027
(d) Other items H#IER
Auditors’ remuneration Z B BN &
— audit services —BFH R 1,040 902
- non-audit services —FEE T AR TS 253 -
Cost of inventories recognised BREHAZ Z
as an expense FERAR 11,099 9,684
Rental income from investment WEMEHRS KA
properties less direct outgoing BEERXT
of Nil (2022: Nil) B F ) (325) (299)
Lease payments for property, Y- EREE
plant and equipment not MER
included in the measurement (PETAHES
of lease liabilities (Note 15) BEZEE)
(HMt3E15) 781 660
(Reversal of impairment losses)/ EHRWEIAZ
impairment losses recognised EHEEEE
under ECL model on trade RAIE TR 2
receivables, net BERER CRERE
(Note 35(a)) O #),BE
B8 F 5
(K$3E35(a) ) (507) 302
Reversal of impairment losses H th & WK IE 2
recognised under ECL model EHEEEE
on other receivables, net RAIE TR 2
(Note 35(a)) EERBEEE
o] 3 )% 28
(K$3E35(a) ) (2,334) (1,706)
(2,841) (1,404)
Written off of property, WH Y - WE k&
plant and equipment (Note 14) (MfEE14) - 342
HELHENERAT —BoSEEH
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& 1% R M 5

R A
For the year ended 31 December 2023 B Z =T -_=F+-_A=+—HLFE
7. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 7. SZAIEERZHHEH
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
2023 2022
—E=-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTR AR¥ETFTT
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (Note 30(a)) FREI{MZEFTEH
(FF#E30(a) )
— current year —ARFE 1,211 4,007
— under-provision in prior years —BEFERETE 793 3,269
2,004 7,276
Hong Kong Profits Tax (Note 30(a)) HEENET (MEE300))
— current year —REE 139
— over-provision in prior years — R FERERE - (14)
139 (14)
Total BEt 2,143 7,262
Notes: B aE
(@)  Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong (@) WBEEBNGHO MRS G

Kong Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of
the qualifying 